
REGULAR MEETING OF MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 
AGENDA

 
Tuesday, December 17, 2019, 5:30 p.m.

Franz Wilhelmsen Theatre at Maury Young Arts Centre
4335 Blackcomb Way, Whistler, BC  V8E 0X5

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

That Council adopt the Regular Council Meeting Agenda of December 17, 2019.

3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

That Council adopt the Regular Council Meeting and Public Hearing Minutes of December 3, 2019.

4. PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS

4.1 Community Enrichment Program Report Back - Howe Sound Women's Centre

A presentation by Shana Murray, Community Programs Director, and Laurie Hannah,
Community Program Manager, Howe Sound Women’s Centre regarding the 2019
Community Enrichment Program.

4.2 Community Enrichment Program Report Back - Sea to Sky Community Services Society

A presentation by Christina Rupp, Better at Home Coordinator, Sea to Sky Community
Services Society regarding the 2019 Community Enrichment
Program.

5. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER PERIOD

6. MAYOR'S REPORT

7. INFORMATION REPORTS

7.1 Wildfire Protection Program Review 2019 Report No. 19-158 File No. 8337

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council receive Information Report No. 19-158 regarding the 2019 wildfire protection
program.

7.2 2019 Community Enrichment Program Reporting Forms Report No. 19-159 File No. 3004

No presentation.

That Council receive Information Report No. 19-159 regarding the 2019 Community
Enrichment Program Reporting Forms.



8. ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS

8.1 DVP01186 – 9145 Summer Lane – Setback Variances Report No. 19-160 File No.
DVP01186

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council approve the issuance of Development Variance Permit DVP01186 for the
proposed development located at 9145 Summer Lane to vary the following setbacks:

Vary the east side setback from 3.0 metres to 1.8 metres for thee deck support
posts.

1.

Permit the proposed deck to project to within 0.9 metres of the east side parcel line.2.

All as shown on the architectural plans 0.0, 1.0 and 2.0 received by the Resort Municipality
of Whistler November 12, 2019 prepared by Justin Stack attached as Appendix “C” to
Administrative Report to Council No. 19-160.

8.2 Community Emergency Preparedness Fund – Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for
Emergency Management Personnel Report No. 19-161 File No. 854

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council endorse the Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management
Personnel Grant Application and, if successful, direct staff to provide overall grant
management as per the Union of British Columbia Municipalities’ grant requirements.

8.3 Fire and Life Safety Bylaw Report No. 19-162 File No. 2260

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Fire and Life Safety
Bylaw No. 2201, 2019”; and

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Bylaw Notice
Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2260, 2019”; and

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Municipal Ticket
Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No.
2261, 2019”.

8.4 Solid Waste Tipping Fee Increases Report No. 19-163 File No. 605

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to "Solid Waste Amendment
Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019".

8.5 Credit Card Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019 Report No. 19-164 File No. 2259

No presentation.

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to “Credit Card Payment
Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019”.
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8.6 Amendments to Council Policy A-03: Investments Report No. 19-165 File No. A-03

No presentation.

That Council adopt the amended version of Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy attached
as Appendix “A” to Administrative Report to Council No. 19-165.

8.7 Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019 Report No. 19-166
File No. 4350

A presentation by municipal staff.

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Five-Year Financial Plan
2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019”

8.8 Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019 Report No. 19-167 File No. 4530

No presentation.

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Five-Year Financial Plan
2020-2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019”.

9. MINUTES OF COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS

9.1 Measuring Up Select Committee of Council

Regular Meeting Minutes of the Measuring Up Select Committee of Council of February 10,
2016, May 3, 2017 and May 1, 2019.

9.2 Advisory Design Panel

Regular Meeting Minutes of the Advisory Design Panel of September 18 and October 16,
2019.

9.3 Board of Variance

Regular Meeting Minutes of the Board of Variance of September 30 and October 28, 2019.

10. BYLAWS FOR READINGS

10.1 Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 2201, 2019

That “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 2201, 2019” be given first, second and third readings.

10.2 Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019

That "Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019"
be given first, second and third readings.

10.3 Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life
Safety) No. 2261, 2019

That "Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life
Safety) No. 2261, 2019" be given first, second and third readings.

10.4 Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019

That "Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019" be given first, second
and third readings.
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10.5 Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019

That "Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019" be given first, second and
third readings.

10.6 Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019

That "Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019" be given
first, second and third readings.

10.7 Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019

That "Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019" be given first, second
and third readings.

11. BYLAWS FOR ADOPTION

11.1 Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2253, 2019

That “Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2253, 2019” be adopted.

11.2 Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) No.
2254, 2019

That "Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) No.
2254, 2019" be adopted.

11.3 Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence
and Regulation) No. 2255, 2019

That "Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Business
Licence and Regulation) No. 2255, 2019" be adopted.

12. OTHER BUSINESS

12.1 Whistler Community Services Society Board Appointments

That Council appoint Councillor C. Jewett in place of Councillor R. Forsyth to serve on the
Whistler Community Services Society Board of Directors.

13. CORRESPONDENCE

13.1 UBCM Meeting with Minister of Mental Health and Addictions File No. 2014

Correspondence from Judy Darcy, Minister of Mental Health and Addictions, regarding the
meeting at UBCM.

13.2 Modernizing the Motor Vehicle Act File No. 2014

Correspondence from Mayor Fred Haynes, District of Saanich, regarding Modernizing the
Motor Vehicle Act.

13.3 Invitations from Vancouver and Victoria to collaborate on Accountability for Climate Change
File No. 3009

Correspondence from Anna Barford, Community Organizer, Georgia Strait Alliance and
Andrew Gage, Staff Lawyer, West Coast Environmental Law, regarding invitations from
Vancouver and Victoria to collaborate on Accountability for Climate Change.
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13.4 Cheakamus Crossing Pedestrian Safety File No. 3009

Correspondence from Lindsey Ataya, regarding Cheakamus Crossing Pedestrian Safety.

13.5 RZ1157 5298 Alta Lake Road File No. RZ1157

Correspondence from Stephanie Sloan, regarding RZ1157 5298 Alta Lake Road.

13.6 Chemicals in Ski Wax File No. 3009

Correspondence from William MacIsaac, regarding chemicals in ski wax.

14. TERMINATION

That the Regular Council Meeting of December 17, 2019 be terminated.
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REGULAR MEETING OF MUNICPAL COUNCIL 

MINUTES 

 
Tuesday, December 3, 2019, 5:30 p.m. 

Franz Wilhelmsen Theatre at Maury Young Arts Centre 
4335 Blackcomb Way, Whistler, BC  V8E 0X5 

 
PRESENT: Mayor J. Crompton 

Councillor A. De Jong 
Councillor R. Forsyth 
Councillor J. Ford 
Councillor J. Grills 
Councillor C. Jewett 

  
ABSENT: Councillor D. Jackson 
  
STAFF PRESENT: Chief Administrative Officer, M. Furey 

General Manager of Corporate and Community Services, T. Battiston 
General Manager of Resort Experience, J. Jansen 
General Manager of Infrastructure Services, J. Hallisey 
Director of Human Resources, D. Wood 
Director of Planning, M. Kirkegaard 
Director of Finance, C. Price 
Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
Manager of Communications, M. Comeau 
Manager of Protective Services, L. DeBou 
Acting Senior Planner, R. Licko 
Transportation Demand Management Coordinator, E. DalSanto 
Emergency Program Coordinator, E. Marriner 
Planning Analyst, S. Johnson 
Council Coordinator, N. Cooper 

  
OTHERS: Mature Action Community Chair Kathy White 

 Mature Action Community Board Member Michael D'Artois 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor J. Crompton recognized that the Meeting is being held on the traditional territories 
of the Lil’wat Nation and the Squamish Nation. 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That Council adopt the Regular Council Meeting Agenda of December 3, 2019. 

CARRIED 
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3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That Council adopt the Regular Council Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2019. 

CARRIED 
 

4. PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

4.1 Employee Recognition Week Awards 

A presentation was given by Mayor Jack Crompton and Chief Administrative 
Officer Mike Furey regarding Employee Recognition. 

5. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING AMENDMENT BYLAW (GLACIER 8 – RM13 ZONE) 
NO. 2250, 2019 - 6:00 p.m. 

Councillor A. De Jong declared a conflict on this item. (Perceived bias as Whistler 
Blackcomb is his employer.) 

Councillor A. De Jong left the Meeting at 6:00 p.m. 

5.1 Call to Order 

This Public Hearing is convened pursuant to section 464 of the Local 
Government Act to allow the public to make representations to Council 
respecting matters contained in “Zoning Amendment Bylaw (Glacier 8 – RM13 
Zone) No. 2250, 2019” (the “proposed Bylaw”). 

Everyone present shall be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard or to 
present written submissions respecting matters contained in the proposed Bylaw. 
No one will be discouraged or prevented from making their views known. 
However, it is important that remarks be restricted to matters contained in the 
proposed Bylaw. 

When speaking, please commence your remarks by clearly stating your name 
and address. 

Members of Council may ask questions following presentations; however, the 
function of Council at a Public Hearing is to listen rather than to debate the merits 
of the proposed Bylaw. 

5.2 Purpose of "Zoning Amendment Bylaw (Glacier 8 – RM13 Zone) No. 2250, 
2019" 

As stated in the Notice of Public Hearing, the purpose of the "Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw (Glacier 8 – RM13 Zone) No. 2250, 2019" is to modify the existing RM13 
Zone to permit 66 additional dwelling units in a 6-storey building for employee 
housing and include additional floor area for employee service uses on the lands. 

5.3 Presentation 

A presentation was given by Acting Senior Planner R. Licko. 
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5.4 Submissions from the Public 

Sarah McCullough, Director Community and Government Relations, Whistler 
Blackcomb, 6343 Easy Street 

Ms. McCullough spoke in support of the bylaw, and acknowledged that Whistler 
Blackcomb recognises that there is still work ongoing with some of the 
outstanding items, and is committed to working with the RMOW to resolve these. 
She noted that Whistler Blackcomb is looking forward to bringing the project 
forward for approval to help fulfill the needs of the community and Whistler 
Blackcomb. 

Nicole Baudisch, Senior Manager of Employee Services and Housing, Whistler 
Blackcomb, 109-2005 Nordic Place 

Ms. Baudisch spoke in support of the bylaw. She noted that this project will give 
more than beds. She noted that since being announced, she has heard many 
comments from employees who are excited about this project. She noted that 
housing is an important part of achieving staffing levels, and for staff retention. 
Ms. Baudisch noted that the beds will not only benefit Whistler Blackcomb, but 
the 240 beds will be a win for the community businesses as the project will allow 
employees of other businesses to secure those places in the valley previously 
occupied by Whistler Blackcomb staff. 

5.5 Correspondence 

Municipal Clerk A. Banman indicated that one piece of correspondence was 
received in opposition to the proposed Bylaw. 

5.6 Motion to Close the Public Hearing 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That the Public Hearing for "Zoning Amendment Bylaw (Glacier 8 – RM13 Zone) 
No. 2250, 2019" be closed at 6:12 p.m. 

CARRIED 

6. PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

6.1 Mature Action Community - UBCM 2020 Age Friendly Community Funding 

Councillor A. De Jong returned to the Meeting at 6:12 p.m. 

A presentation was given by Mature Action Community Chair Kathy White and 
Board Member Michael D'Artois regarding UBCM 2020 Age Friendly Community 
Funding. 

7. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 
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8. MAYOR'S REPORT 

Whistler Housing Authority 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that the Whistler Housing Authority rental building at 8350 
Bear Paw Trail opens to tenants this month. He added that all 20 of the units have been 
allocated to tenants on the Whistler Housing Authority’s rental waitlist with 36 new 
tenants moving in this month. He noted that the building prioritized seniors; the new 
residents have a median age of 59. Mayor J. Crompton noted that a new rental building 
opened last month on 1020 Legacy Way, providing homes for 54 local employees and 
their families.  

Skating at the Whistler Olympic Plaza 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that skating at the Whistler Olympic Plaza outdoor rink opened 
on Friday. The rink is now open daily from 11 a.m. until 8:30 p.m., with two closures for 
ice maintenance. The rink is free to use, and skate rentals are $7.00. He added that 
when the weather permits, snow is being made for the nearby Snow Zone. He reminded 
the community that skating in the Village is a great alternative to skating on lakes, since 
lake ice safety isn’t monitored in Whistler. More information can be found online at 
whistler.ca/skating.  

Meadow Park Sports Centre expansion update 

Mayor J. Crompton provided an update on the Meadow Park Sports Centre Expansion. 
He noted that the work causes some noise during the construction period from 
approximately 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday to Friday, but is not expected to cause any 
facility closures. More information can be found online at whistler.ca/fitnesscentreproject. 

RMOW’s Open Data Portal  

Mayor J. Crompton noted that new geographic data is now available to the public 
through the RMOW’s Open Data Portal. He noted that the data makes it possible for 
users to view, analyze and download publicly available municipal spatial information. He 
added that this data could be used to create maps and digital applications, and that 
spatial data about lakes, rivers and reservoirs has been added recently, as well as data 
about municipal parks, multi-use trails and the Valley Trail. More information can be 
found online at whistler.ca/maps. 

Electric Vehicle Economy panel  

Mayor J. Crompton attended the Electric Vehicle Economy panel discussion on 
November 20, 2019. He noted that the event was a collaboration between Whistler 
Learning Centre and Inspiratia, the organizers of the Electric Vehicle and Sustainability 
Summit Whistler. 

Whistler Film Festival 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that the 19th annual Whistler Film Festival begins Wednesday 
December 4, 2019. He noted that this year’s event includes 96 film screenings, special 
guests and on-stage interviews with artists, events, and industry and talent programs. 
He added that he will be attending the Opening Night Film as well as the Awards 
Ceremony. 
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Happy Birthday 

Mayor J. Crompton wished former Councillor Roger McCarthy a happy 70th birthday. 

CivX 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that he attended the Lower Mainland LGA CivX conference 
last week. He noted that CIVx brings municipal staff and members of council together to 
discuss issues of importance to both. He added that this year’s event was focused on 
access and equality in local government. 

Council Recognition Event and Indigenous Tourism Start-up Program Launch 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that the RMOW hosted the Council Recognition event on 
November 21, 2019 at the SLCC. He added that it was fun to celebrate with all the 
committee volunteers who give so much to Whistler. Mayor J. Crompton added that on 
the same evening at the SLCC, the Indigenous Tourism Start-up Program Launch event 
held their pitch night and noted that this was also a great event. He congratulated all the 
presenters especially Cass Aurora whose wine barrel sauna business was chosen by 
the panel. 

The Vital Café on Consumption  

Mayor J. Crompton noted that the Vital Café on Consumption took place on November 
20, 2019. He added that Sue Maxwell provided some great insights on how to reduce 
what is used, and noted that there was a number of great roundtable discussions on the 
topic. The Vital Signs podcast can be found online at 
https://www.whistlerfoundation.com/vital-signs. 

Condolences 

Mayor J. Crompton shared his condolence with the family and friends of Byron Audley 
Gracie. He noted that Byron was a keen skier and raced for Mount Seymour Ski Club 
and the UBC ski team in the late fifties and early sixties, and that he was one of the first 
Whistler mountain Ski Club ski coaches. Byron was also an expert ski boot fitter and was 
passionate about improving ski boot performance. Byron’s idea and direction eventually 
became the renowned Intuition Sports liners. 

 Councillor C. Jewett  

Councillor C. Jewett noted that the recently Arts Whistler Holiday Market at the Westin 
hotel was successful and a great community event, and thanked the organisers. 
Councillor C. Jewett noted that the Mountain FM and Westin Christmas Breakfast will 
take place on December 5, 2019. She also noted that the Annual Whistler Waldorf 
Christmas Fair is scheduled for December 7, 2019; and that there will be a celebration 
for artist Emily Carr’s birthday at the Audain Museum on 13 December, 2019. 

Councillor J. Ford  

Councillor J. Ford noted that December 1 to 7 is Influenza Vaccination Week and 
encouraged the community to consider getting the vaccination. 
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Councillor A. De Jong  

Councillor A. De Jong noted that in conjunction with AWARE, he will be launching a new 
campaign to encourage businesses to keep their doors closed, and reduce the use of 
outdoor burners. He congratulated AWARE for their Eco Citizen video, which will also be 
used by the Whistler Chamber of Commerce in their training. Councillor A. De Jong 
noted that Whistler Blackcomb was open for the ski season on schedule and thanked 
the snowmaking and grooming teams for their hard work. 

9. INFORMATION REPORTS 

9.1 Bylaw Dispute Adjudication System (Ticketing) Report No. 19-152 File No. 
4700.5 

Moved By Councillor A. De Jong 

Seconded By Councillor J. Ford 

That Council receive Information Report No. 19-152 regarding an update on the 
Bylaw Dispute Adjudication System. 

CARRIED 

10. ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 

10.1 LLR1341 – Conference Centre Extension of Hours for Whistler Pride and 
Ski Festival Event Report No. 19-153 File No. LLR1341 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That Council authorize hours of liquor sale to 4:00 a.m. on the night of Saturday, 
February 1, 2020 at the Whistler Conference Centre for a special Whistler Pride 
and Ski Festival event. 

CARRIED 

10.2 DVP1185 – 1350 Cloudburst Drive – Setback Variance Report No. 19-154 
File No. DVP1185 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That Council approve the issuance of Development Variance Permit DVP1185 
for the proposed development located at 1350 Cloudburst Drive to vary the 
minimum front setback from 10.0 metres to 7.8 metres for Buildings 8, 9 and 10 
to recognize six existing fin wall foundations and seven posts, as shown on the 
Survey Plan prepared by Douglas Bush Survey Services Ltd., dated September 
5, 2019, attached as Appendix “C” to Administrative Report to Council No. 19-
154. 

CARRIED 
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10.3 Community Emergency Preparedness Fund – Volunteer and Composite 
Fire Departments Equipment and Training Report No. 19-155 File No. 854 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor R. Forsyth 

That Council endorse the Self Contained Breathing Apparatus Air Management 
Project application and, if successful, direct staff to provide overall grant 
management as per the Union of British Columbia Municipalities’ grant 
requirements. 

CARRIED 

10.4 Whistler Transit System Annual Operating Agreement Amendment No. 1 
Effective December 7, 2019 Report No. 19-157 File No. 546 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That Council authorize the Mayor and Municipal Clerk to execute the “2019-2020 
Whistler Transit System Annual Operating Agreement Amendment – December 
7, 2019” for the period April 1, 2019 through March 31, 2020 attached as 
Appendix “A” to Administrative Report to Council No. 19-157. 

CARRIED 
 

10.5 2020 Budget Guidelines Report No. 19-156 File No. 4350 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That Council direct the Director of Finance to prepare the “Five-Year Financial 
Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw” based on these specific guidelines: 

 To implement a 2.8 per cent increase to property value taxes in 2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to sewer parcel taxes and user fees in 
2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to solid waste parcel taxes and fees in 
2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to water parcel taxes and user fees in 
2020; and 

 To include the project amounts as described in Appendix “A” and attached to 
Administrative Report to Council No. 19-156. 

Amendment: 

Moved By Mayor J. Crompton 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That project P-075 be amended to be fully funded out of the RMI reserve. 

CARRIED 
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Motion as Amended: 

The main motion as amended with the final wording being as follows: 

That Council direct the Director of Finance to prepare the “Five-Year Financial 
Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw” based on these specific guidelines: 

 To implement a 2.8 per cent increase to property value taxes in 2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to sewer parcel taxes and user fees in 
2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to solid waste parcel taxes and fees in 
2020; 

 To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to water parcel taxes and user fees in 
2020; 

 To include the project amounts as described in Appendix “A” and attached to 
Administrative Report to Council No. 19-156, with the exception that project 
P-075 be amended to be fully funded from the RMI reserve. 

CARRIED 
 

11. MINUTES OF COMMITTEES AND COMMISSIONS 

11.1 Liquor Licence Advisory Committee  

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor R. Forsyth 

That the Regular Meeting Minutes of the Liquor Licence Advisory Committee of 
March 14, 2019 be received. 

CARRIED 

11.2 Forest and Wildland Advisory Committee 

Moved By Councillor A. De Jong 

Seconded By Councillor J. Ford 

That Regular Meeting Minutes of the Forest and Wildland Advisory Committee of 
October 9, 2019 be received. 

CARRIED 

11.3 Whistler Bear Advisory Committee 

Moved By Councillor A. De Jong 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That the Regular Meeting Minutes of the Whistler Bear Advisory Committee of 
October 9, 2019 be received. 

CARRIED 
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11.4 Recreation and Leisure Advisory Committee 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That the Regular Meeting Minutes of the Recreation and Leisure Advisory 
Committee of October 10, 2019 be received. 

CARRIED 

12. BYLAWS FOR THIRD READING 

12.1 Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2253, 2019 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That "Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2253, 2019" be given third 
reading. 

CARRIED 

12.2 Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and 
Regulation) No. 2254, 2019 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That "Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and 
Regulation) No. 2254, 2019" be given third reading. 

CARRIED 

12.3 Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw 
(Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2255, 2019 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor A. De Jong 

That "Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw 
(Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2255, 2019" be given third reading. 

CARRIED 

13. BYLAWS FOR ADOPTION 

13.1 Parks and Recreation Fees and Charges Regulation Amendment Bylaw No. 
2243, 2019 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That “Parks and Recreation Fees and Charges Regulation Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2243, 2019” be adopted. 

CARRIED 
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14. OTHER BUSINESS 

14.1 Bylaw Officer Appointment 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Whereas the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler (“Whistler”) wishes to 
appoint Kyle Forder as a Bylaw Enforcement Officer pursuant to section 36 of the 
Police Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c 367, and upon Kyle Forder swearing the oath 
pursuant to section 1(b) of Police Oath/Solemn Affirmation Regulation, B.C. Reg. 
136/2002 before a Commissioner for taking Affidavit in the Province of British 
Columbia, Whistler hereby appoints Kyle Forder as a Bylaw Enforcement Officer 
to perform the functions and duties specified in the Bylaw Officers job 
descriptions. 

CARRIED 

14.2 Notification of Committee Appointments 

Mayor J. Crompton noted that the following committee appointments have been 
made: 

The following individuals were appointed to the Forest and Wildland Advisory 
Committee for a three-year term: 

 Christine Bilodeau 

 Dr. Rhonda Milikin 

 Dan Raymond 
The following individuals were appointed to the Whistler Bear Advisory 
Committee: 

 Margot Webster 

 Adrien Baudoin 
The following individuals were appointed to the Zero Waste Select Committee: 

 Sue Maxwell 

 Councillors Arthur De Jong and Cathy Jewett (Chair) 

15. CORRESPONDENCE 

15.1 2020 Budget Feedback 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor J. Grills 

That four pieces of correspondence Budget from the following individuals, 
regarding the 2020 be received and referred to staff: 

 Brandon Smith; 

 Linda Zurkirchen; 

 Adam Naundorf; and 

 Benoit Reneault. 
CARRIED 
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15.2 Support For Staff Housing Initiatives File No. 3009 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor A. De Jong 

That correspondence from Jackie Bissillion, Owner and President, Whistler 
Personnel Solutions, regarding support for staff housing initiatives, be received 
and referred to staff. 

CARRIED 

15.3 RZ1157 - 5298 Alta Lake Road File No. RZ1157 

Moved By Councillor J. Ford 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That correspondence from Blair Russel and Jennifer Munro, regarding RZ1157 - 
5298 Alta Lake Road be received and referred to staff. 

CARRIED 

15.4 DVP1185 - 1350 Cloudburst Drive File No. DVP1185 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor R. Forsyth 

That correspondence from Scott Laird, regarding DVP1185 - 1350 Cloudburst 
Drive be received and referred to staff. 

CARRIED 

15.5 UBCM – 2020 Age Friendly Community Funding 

Moved By Councillor C. Jewett 

Seconded By Councillor J. Ford 

That correspondence from Kathy White, Chair, Mature Action Community, 
regarding UBCM – 2020 Age Friendly Community Funding be received and 
referred to staff. 

CARRIED 

16. TERMINATION 

Moved By Councillor R. Forsyth 

Seconded By Councillor C. Jewett 

That the Regular Council Meeting of December 3, 2019 be terminated at 8:00 p.m. 

CARRIED 

 
________________________________ ________________________________ 

Mayor, J. Crompton Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-158 

FROM: Resort Experience FILE: 8337 

SUBJECT: WILDFIRE PROTECTION PROGRAM REVIEW 2019 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Resort Experience be endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council receive Information Report No. 19-158 regarding the 2019 wildfire protection program. 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

The purpose of this report is to describe the wildfire protection program activities undertaken in 
2019 and to give an overview of planned 2020 activities. 

DISCUSSION 

Council identified expanding wildfire protection activities as a top priority at its 2016 to 2018 
retreats. Council continues to focus on mitigating and adapting to climate change and reducing the 
risk of wildfire is a key adaptation strategy. To that end, staff planned and delivered a robust wildfire 
mitigation program that encompasses: 

 Fuel thinning projects in high priority forested areas (both wildland urban interface and 
intermix areas, and landscape level fuel breaks) 

 Fuel thinning for critical infrastructure sites within the Whistler Urban Development 
Containment Area (WUDCA),  

 The FireSmart program to support local residents on private lands, and treat forest 
understory in municipal forest land, and  

 The inclusion of a Wildfire Development Permit Area (DPA) in the new Official Community 
Plan.  

 
Given that 2018 was the worst BC wildfire season on record with 1,298,454 hectares lost to wildfire, 
it is important that Whistler continues to tackle this significant risk on a multitude of fronts. Although 
2019 experienced fewer wildfires in BC, climate modelling clearly shows longer, hotter, drier 
summers is the trend. In the last few years, the public has responded very positively and 
engagement continues to gain momentum. Wildfire is top of mind during the summer for many 
residents and the interest in reducing risk to properties has increased significantly. 
 
The RMOW’s wildfire protection program focuses on three key areas: 

 Wildfire fuel reduction projects 

 FireSmart public education and support 

 Policy development and process improvements 
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The Environmental Stewardship Manager oversees the wildfire protection program and specifically 
delivers the wildfire fuel reduction projects (forest thinning), Protective Services manages the 
FireSmart program, and Whistler Fire Rescue Services (WFRS) supports fuel reduction activities 
around various critical infrastructure sites. Planning department staff took the lead on preparing the 
Wildfire Development Permit area guidelines and schedule. 
 
The conclusion of the UBCM’s Strategic Wildfire Prevention Initiative (SWPI) and introduction of the 
Community Resilience Investment (CRI) program has resulted in significantly less funding for 
Whistler’s wildfire fuel reduction projects. Previously, the SWPI program would provide up to 
$400,000 per year but CRI now only provides up to $150,000 which is shared between the 
FireSmart program and the fuel reduction program. For 2020, the RMOW applied for $100,000 
toward the FireSmart program and $50,000 toward the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) fuel 
management program. 
 
Although initially planned for 2019, the Rainbow interface area in partnership with Cheakamus 
Community Forest is on hold until external funding can be confirmed. The CCF applied for funding 
from the Forest Enhancement Society BC to complete Phase II Cheakamus Lake Road and 
Rainbow but was only awarded a portion of the funds. It was decided to focus on completing the 
Cheakamus Lake Road project with the given funds. Rainbow remains on the priority list and 
funding will continue to be pursued. 

 
Wildfire Fuel Reduction Projects 
 
The RMOW’s Wildfire Protection Strategy annually targets 30 hectares of WUI areas to be thinned, 
and 40 hectares of landscape fuel breaks. 
 
In 2019, the following fuel thinning projects were undertaken: 

 Kadenwood – the RMOW was awarded a maximum of $400,000 through the UBCM 
Strategic Wildfire Protection Initiative (SWPI) to thin 24 hectares with the remaining costs 
covered by the RMOW General Fund project budget. Alpine Axeceleration completed the 
work in October. 

 Spruce Grove Wildland Urban Interface Site – The RMOW released an RFP for a 3-year 
fuel thinning contract in the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) and awarded it to Alpine 
Axeceleration. Work began in autumn on the 16 hectare site located on the western edge of 
Lost Lake from Scandinave Spa to the Passive House. Alpine Axeceleration completed 8 
hectares at the north end of the site and will complete the work in spring 2020. It will 
continue delivering projects identified by Blackwell & Associates which prepared a list of 
high priority WUI sites to be completed including near the high school, Nesters Hill, 
Kadenwood, etc. 

 Cheakamus Lake Forest Service Road – This area is within the Cheakamus Community 
Forest’s tenure and Lil’wat Forestry Ventures was assigned the work. The 32 hectare Phase 
I site was largely completed over winter 2018-2019 with clean up in autumn 2019. Work on 
Phase II, an additional 40 hectares, will commence out to the Cheakamus Lake trail parking 
lot in December/January. The CCF will receive up to $688,000 from the Forest 
Enhancement Society for Phase I and $528,000 for Phase II with the RMOW covering one 
third of total project costs. The work program and project budget estimates are being 
reviewed to ensure the work can be completed within the available funds.  
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 Critical Infrastructure Sites – Whistler Fire Rescue Services (WFRS) conducted fuel 
thinning at eight high priority rated sites, mainly related to water and sewer infrastructure, in 
addition to 15 medium and 31 low priority rated infrastructure sites.   

FireSmart Program Highlights 
 
The FireSmart Coordinator and the FireSmart crew exceeded expectations in 2019. Some 
highlights include: 
 

 Proclamation of Wildfire Community Preparedness Day by Mayor and Council 

 Two crews of three staff were established allowing service seven days a week from May to 
October 

 The FireSmart Community Chipper Service removed vegetation from over 250 properties. 

 The Adopt-a-Trail campaign continued with four community groups donating time (Rotary 
Club of Whistler Millennium, Whistler Blackcomb Habitat Improvement Team, Fairmont 
Chateau Whistler, and BDO) 

 Crew work resulted in over nine hectares of municipal forest understory treatment 

 27 Strata FireSmart work day events were supported 

 Two strata properties received FireSmart Canada Community Recognition Status 

 42 forty-yard bins were used in the community to remove vegetation 

 27 Strata/Community assessments were completed and reports delivered 

 Over 100 single family dwelling assessments were completed with homeowners  

 Over 311,000 kilograms of chips were taken to the Callaghan transfer station for use in the 
soil amendment production process  

 
Whistler Fire & Rescue Services (WFRS) 
 
In addition to the critical infrastructure fuel thinning, WFRS participated in an interagency exercise in 
May 2019 with BC Wildfire and Whistler Blackcomb. It also took part in a helicopter evacuation 
exercise facilitated by the RMOW Emergency Program in November. 

 
WFRS completed dangerous tree removal at P264 Taluswood Pump Station located at 2642 
Whistler Road. WFRS also budgeted dangerous tree removal and slope stabilization work that will 
be completed this year at the following locations: 
 

 P265 Sunridge Pump Station - 3840 Sunridge Drive 

 P282 Alta Lake road PRV - 5590 Alta Lake Road     

 P247 Community Booster Pump - 4290 Blackcomb Way 

 P288 Gondola Transit Exchange - 4195 Blackcomb Way 

 P252 Highland Control Valve  - 2101 Whistler Road      

 P268 Lorimer Road PRV - 4100 Blackcomb Way 

 P118 Arena Pool SLS - 8107 Camino Drive 

Each of these sites are now ready for additional WFRS-led ‘critical-infrastructure’ fuel thinning in 
2020.  
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Policy Development and Process Improvements 
 

 A Wildfire Development Permit Area (DPA) was developed and integrated into the updated 
OCP. This DPA will regulate building materials (particularly roofing), and landscaping across 
three risk levels throughout the valley. A brochure was developed to assist the public in 
understanding the new process. 

 Planning, Building and Environmental Services revised development referral processes to 
integrate wildfire risk reduction measures and information requirements. 

 Website updated with associated information. 
 
2020 Program Initiatives 
 
The RMOW will continue to focus on the three priority areas of wildfire fuel reduction, the FireSmart 
program, and policy development and process improvements. A funding application was submitted 
to the UBCM Community Resiliency Investment program for $150,000 to contribute to the 
FireSmart program and WUI fuel thinning. Program highlights for 2020 are as follows: 
 

 Wildfire Fuel Reduction projects 
o Cheakamus Lake Road in partnership with Cheakamus Community Forest. Funded 

by Forest Enhancement Society of BC and RMOW. The CCF expects to complete 
approximately 40 hectares by late spring 2020.  

o Spruce Grove/White Gold project completed by Alpine Axeceleration by summer 
2020, and will continue to the next priority location, likely Nesters Hill, as identified by 
Blackwell & Associates. 

 FireSmart Program 
o Ongoing FireSmart Community Chipper Service 

o Continuation of FireSmart assessments, both strata properties and single family 
dwellings, and community work days 

o Continued public outreach and education 

 WFRS Critical Infrastructure Fuel Thinning 

o Additional medium and lower- priority critical infrastructure sites to be thinned by 
WFRS 

o Identification and preparation (danger tree assessments and any required slope 
stabilization) to ready additional sites for ongoing critical infrastructure thinning work 

 Policy Development and process improvements 
o Public education and resources will be provided regarding the new Wildfire DPA 

  

Page 20 of 542



Wildfire Protection Program Review 2019 
December 17, 2019 
Page 5  

 

WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS  

W2020 
Strategy 

TOWARD 
Descriptions of success that resolution 

moves us toward 
Comments  

Finance 
Senior levels of government recognize the 
value of the resort community and support 
its success 

Both the UBCM Community Resiliency 
Investment Program and the Forest 
Enhancement Society BC recognize the risk of 
wildfire in the Whistler area, the serious 
consequences should one occur, and support 
our efforts with significant funding. 

Partnership 
Partners work together to achieve mutual 
benefit 

The RMOW and Cheakamus Community 
Forest partner on fuel thinning projects that 
achieve the wildfire program objectives as well 
as employment objectives for the CCF. 

Health and Social 
The resort community is safe for both 
visitors and residents, and is prepared for 
potentially unavoidable emergency events 

The wildfire program minimizes risk and 
increases safety in the community. 

 
The RMOW’s wildfire program does not move our community away from any of the adopted 
Whistler2020 Descriptions of Success or other policy direction. 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

The RMOW Wildfire program aligns with the Community Wildfire Protection Plan, Whistler Wildfire 
Protection Strategy and the OCP. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

In 2019, the RMOW budgeted approximately $1.445 million for the wildfire program with an actual 
estimated spend of $945,000 and an accrual of $981,100 in grants from the previous years. In 
addition, Protective Services budgeted $400,000 for the FireSmart program. 

 
The wildfire project S018 was underfunded in 2019 due to a delay in receiving grant money from 
the UBCM Strategic Wildfire Protection Initiative. At this time, the grant funding is expected to be 
received in 2020. 
 
The new UBCM Community Resiliency Investment (CRI) program which replaced the Strategic 
Wildfire Prevention Initiative, can now provide up to $150,000 for FireSmart Community programs 
including wildfire fuel thinning projects. Staff applied for $150,000 in 2020 distributing it between the 
FireSmart program and wildfire fuel thinning. Funding decisions will be made by UBCM in the new 
year. 
 
In November, the CRI program announced a new funding program in addition to its FireSmart 
Community program. Funding for the new Crown Land Wildfire Risk Reduction (WRR) category is 
administered and implemented by the B.C. government to mitigate threats in high-risk areas around 
communities and critical infrastructure. The Sea to Sky District FLRNO staff assigned to administer 
the program are currently developing a priority list for the district. RMOW staff shared the Blackwell 
plans with provincial staff to ensure Whistler priorities are considered. In anticipation of a positive 
outcome, staff included $200,000 in funding from the WRR program in the 2020 budget.    
 
In addition, the Forest Enhancement Society of BC has now fully allocated its current funding and 
will have no more funds to distribute unless the provincial government adds more funds. The 
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landscape fuel treatment program relies heavily on the FESBC funding and a new funding source 
will have to be found to continue after 2020. 
 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  

The residents of Whistler are now very aware of wildfire as a risk to our community and are actively 
seeking the services provided by the RMOW. Through the RMOW website, social media, and 
FireSmart Coordinator activities, the community is learning how to reduce its risk.  

 

SUMMARY 

The RMOW continues to focus on securing external funding and delivering programs in the three 
focus areas: 

 Wildfire fuel reduction projects including critical infrastructure fuel thinning 

 FireSmart public education and support 

 Policy development and process improvements 
 
The RMOW achieved strong community recognition and support for wildfire risk reduction and 
FireSmart program activities and continues to move ahead with projects in 2020. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Heather Beresford 
ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP MANAGER 
for 
Jan Jansen 
GENERAL MANAGER OF RESORT EXPERIENCE 
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PRESENTED:  December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-159 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services  FILE: 3004 

SUBJECT: 2019 COMMUNITY ENRICHMENT PROGRAM REPORTING FORMS 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be 
endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council receive Information Report No. 19-159 regarding the 2019 Community Enrichment 
Program Reporting Forms. 

REFERENCES 

Appendix “A” – Council Policy A-7: Community Enrichment Program  
Appendix “B” – 2019 Community Enrichment Program Reporting Forms: 
 

 Association of Whistler Area Residents 
for the Environment (AWARE) (Sea to 
Sky Climate Change Symposium) 

 BC Luge Association 
 Community Foundation of Whistler 
 Ecole La Passerelle 
 Howe Sound Women’s Centre Society 

(Prevention, Education, Advocacy, 
Counselling and Empowerment) 

 Howe Sound Women’s Centre (Whistler 
Women’s Centre) 

 Sea to Sky Community Services Society 
(Better at Home) 

 Sea to Sky Community Serviced 
Society (Whistler Multicultural Network) 

 Sea to Sky Community Services Society 
(Whistler Parent and Tot Program) 

 The Point Artist Run Centre 
 The Whistler Writing Society  
 Whistler Adaptive Sports Program 

 Whistler Blackcomb Freestyle Ski Club 
 Whistler Community Services Society 
 Whistler Gymnastics Club 
 Whistler Learning Centre 
 Whistler Mature Action Community 
 Whistler Mountain Ski Club 
 Whistler Naturalists Society  
 Whistler Nordics Ski Club 
 Whistler Quilters’ Guild Society  
 Whistler Sailing Association  
 Whistler Sea Wolves Swim Club 
 Whistler Singers 
 Whistler Skating Club 
 Whistler Sport Legacies 
 Whistler Tennis Association 
 Whistler Waldorf School Society 
 Whistler Youth Soccer Club 
 Zero Ceiling Society of Canada  

 
Please note, some information that is part of the receipts, personal information and business 
information has been redacted in adherence to the Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy Act BC (FOIPPA). 
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PURPOSE OF REPORT 

The purpose of this Report is to demonstrate how the 2019 Community Enrichment Program grant 
recipients utilized the grant monies awarded to each organization, and for Council to receive the 
information contained within the 2019 Community Enrichment Program Reporting Forms provided 
by the recipient organizations. 

DISCUSSION 

Each year through the Community Enrichment Program (“CEP”), the Resort Municipality of Whistler 
(RMOW) financially supports local non-profit organizations and societies that benefit the resort 
community and move it closer to the Whistler2020 vision. 
 
The amount provided to each selected organization varies, but can only be up to 50 per cent of a 
program’s total cost. To qualify for a CEP grant, applicants must operate in one of the following 
categories: 

1) Environment 
2) Social Service 
3) Community Service 
4) Recreation and Sport 
5) Arts and Culture 

 
The successful applicants were announced at the Regular Council meeting on April 16, 2019. 
Evaluations of the applications followed Council Policy A-7: Community Enrichment Program 
attached as Appendix “A” to this Report. 
 
Three organizations, AWARE, the Howe Sound Women’s Centre Society and the Sea to Sky 
Community Services, each received a total of $10,000 or more for their programing. These 
organizations are required to present to Council at the Regular Council Meeting on December 17, 
2019 to share how the CEP funds were used and to answer any questions Council may have in 
regard to funding use, their including impact on the organization and the community. 
AWARE have advised that their program ‘Sea to Sky Climate Change Symposium’ has had a 
number of developments relating to the project that has pushed them beyond the CEP reporting 
timeline. The Climate Action Conference that was originally scheduled for Fall 2019 has been re-
scheduled to Spring 2020. Therefore the funding awarded to AWARE for the 2019 CEP program 
will not be spent until Spring 2020. Due to this, AWARE will not be presenting to Council at the 
December 17, 2019 Regular Council Meeting. 

WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS  

W2020 Strategy 
TOWARD 

Descriptions of success that resolution 
moves us toward 

Comments  

Arts, Culture and 
Heritage Strategy  

The community is passionate about the 
arts, culture and heritage, which have 
become a part of Whistler’s spirit and 
community life, and is alive with 
creative energy and aesthetic 
appreciation.   

A range of authentic and creative arts, 
cultural and heritage opportunities are 

This is achieved through the 
Grants awarded for the Whistler   

Quilters’ Guild, the Point-Artist   

Run Centre Society, the Whistler 
Singers and the Whistler Writing 
Society. 
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meaningful, accessible and financially 
affordable to residents and visitors.   

Arts, cultural and heritage opportunities 
attract visitors and contribute to the 
experience and local economy. 

Health and Social 
Strategy  

Community members and visitors 
maintain and improve their physical, 
mental and spiritual and social health 
through prevention and treatment 
services.   

Community members eat healthy food, 
exercise and engage in leisure and 
other stress relieving activities that 
assist in preventing illness.   

Whistler is accessible and inclusive for 
community members and visitors with 
disabilities.  

This was achieved through the 
grants awarded for the 
Community Foundation of   

Whistler, Howe Sound Women’s   

Centre, Sea to Sky Community   

Services Society, Whistler   

Community Services Society, 
Whistler Mature Action 
Community, Whistler Adaptive 
Sports Program and Zero Ceiling 
Society. 

 
Learning Strategy 
 

A high quality kindergarten through 
postsecondary education system offers 
a diversity of programs that meet the 
needs and expectations of the 
community.   

Diverse, affordable and accessible 
lifelong learning opportunities exist to 
meet the community’s needs. 

This was achieved through the 
grants awarded for the Whistler 
Secondary School Scholarship, 
Whistler Learning Centre. Ecole 
La Passerelle and the Whistler 
Waldorf School.  

Natural Areas 
Strategy  

An ecologically functioning and viable 
network of critical natural areas is 
protected and, where possible 
restored.   

Backcountry areas are protected from 
overuse and degradation.   

Community members and visitors act 
as stewards of the natural 
environment.  

This was achieved through the 
grants awarded for AWARE’s 
Sea to Sky Climate Change 
Symposium, and the Whistler 
Naturalists Society. 

Recreation & 
Leisure  

Residents and visitors of all ages and 
abilities enjoy activities year-round that 
encourage healthy living, learning and 
a sense of community.   

Recreation and leisure are part of the 
Whistler lifestyle and all community 
members are able and encouraged to 
participate.   

The resort community is globally 
recognized as a leader in innovative 
recreation products and services.   

Recreational experiences reflect an 
appropriate balance between 
adventure, challenge and safety, and 
exist within the comfortable carrying 
capacity of the amenity.  

This was achieved through the 
grants awarded for the BC Luge 
Association, Whistler Blackcomb   

Freestyle Ski Club, Whistler 
Gymnastics Club, Whistler   

Mountain Ski Club, Whistler   

Nordics Ski Club, Whistler Sailing 
Association, Whistler Sea Wolves 
Swim Club, Whistler Skating 
Club, Whistler Sport Legacies, 
Whistler Tennis Association and 
Whistler Youth Soccer Club. 
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Partnership Residents, taxpayers, business and 
local government hold a shared vision 
for the resort community and work in 
partnership to achieve that vision.   

Partners work together to achieve 
mutual benefit.  

All awarded grants help the 
Resort Community work towards 
Partnership to achieve mutual 
benefit. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

The RMOW, through the CEP, awarded successful applicants a grand total of $136,800 in 2019 
grant funds.  

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  

The CEP was advertised to local non-profit organizations on the RMOW website as well as through 
an ad in the Pique Newsmagazine that ran for three consecutive weeks. As the CEP is an annual 
funding opportunity, many organizations are routinely aware of the application period. 

SUMMARY  

The purpose of this Report is to provide Council with the details of how the 2019 CEP grant 
recipients utilized the grant monies and for Council to receive the 2019 CEP Reporting Forms 
provided by the recipient organizations. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lisa Bast 
LEGISLATIVE SERVICES ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 

for 

Alba Banman 
MUNICIPAL CLERK 

for 

Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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COUNCIL POLICY 

POLICY NUMBER: A-7 DATE OF RESOLUTION: DECEMBER 6, 2004 

AMENDED: JANUARY 22, 2007, JANUARY 

26, 2016, JANUARY 23, 2018

COMMUNITY ENRICHMENT PROGRAM 

1.0 The Community Enrichment Program (CEP) funding, will provide funding to non-profit 
organizations and societies based within the Resort Municipality of Whistler (RMOW) 
that are considered by Council to be contributing to the general interest and advantage of 
the Whistler Community. 

2.0 Funding under this Program will not be approved for special events. 

3.0 Applying for CEP Funding: 

3.1 All applications are to be submitted to: 

Legislative Services Department  
(Community Enrichment Program) 
Resort Municipality of Whistler 
4325 Blackcomb Way 
Whistler, BC    V0N 1B4 
corporate@whistler.ca 
Tel: 604-935-8117 
Fax: 604-935-8109 

3.1 The CEP application period opens January 25 of each year. 

3.2 CEP Grant Application Forms must be received by 4 p.m. on February 15 of each year. 

3.3 Applicants must submit their application on the Grant Application Form. All 
questions on the application must be answered, or have included a written reason for 
incomplete answers. Applicants are not to submit any documentation that has not 
been expressly requested in the application form.  

Appendix A
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3.4 Applicants must provide a brief (five minute maximum) in-person presentation of 
their application at a future scheduled Committee of the Whole Council Meeting; 
Legislative Services Department staff will provide applicants with a date. 

 
3.5 Applicants must be a registered society or charity and must provide evidence of the 

same by attaching proof of registered not-for-profit society status or registered charity 
status. 

 
3.6 Applicants must raise a minimum of 50 per cent of their annual budget from other 

sources beyond CEP funding. 
 
3.7 Applicants must ensure the accuracy of their organization’s contact information and 

update the Legislative Services Department of any changes. 
 
3.8 Applicants must provide their most recent audited financial statements and/or valid 

financial information supporting the request for funding. 
 
3.9 Applicants must provide an itemized budget for their project, or an operating budget, 

to disclose how the grant will be spent. Salaries, rent, physical assets etc. must be 
specifically identified. 

 
3.10 The cost of renting municipal facilities is not to be part of a grant request as the 

rental rates set for non-profit organizations are already subsidized.  
 
3.11 All approved funding will be issued to successful grant recipients no later than 

April 30 each year. 
 
4.0 Non-compliance with any part of this Policy may disqualify the applicant. 

 
5.0 Under special conditions, Council shall have the discretion to exempt any of the above 

terms. 
 

6.0 Reporting to the RMOW: 
 

6.1 All grant recipients must complete a Grant Reporting Form and submit it to the 
Legislative Services Department by 4 p.m., December 1 of the year that the grant 
was awarded. 

 
6.2 Grant Reporting Forms must be completed and all accompanying documentation 

must be submitted by the stated due date and time; failure to do so may result in 
ineligibility for grant funds for one granting cycle (one year). 
 

6.3 Organizations that received $10,000 or less must: 
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6.3.1 Complete the prescribed Grant Reporting Form and send it to the attention 
of the Legislative Services Department at the contact information set out. 
 

6.3.2 Include a financial breakdown of how CEP grant monies were spent. 
 

6.3.3 Include copies of receipts pertaining to how CEP grant monies were spent. 
 

6.4 Organizations that received $10,000 or more must: 
 
6.4.1 Complete the prescribed Grant Reporting Form and send it to the attention 

of the Legislative Services Department. 
 

6.4.2 Write a press release and distribute to local media, post to the 
organization’s website and on their social media platforms (where 
applicable) that outlines the project and acknowledges the RMOW’s 
contribution, and provide copies of the release to the Legislative Services 
Department. 

 
6.4.3 Include a financial breakdown of how CEP grant monies were spent. 

 
6.4.4 Include copies of receipts pertaining to how CEP grant monies were spent. 

 
6.4.5 Make a five minute in-person presentation to Council at a Regular Council 

Meeting outlining to Council and senior staff how the CEP grant money 
was utilized. 

 
6.4.5.1 Inform the Legislative Services Department of the name(s) of 

those presenting by 4 p.m., December 1. 
 

6.4.5.2 Provide copies of all presentation materials (speeches, speaking 
notes, PowerPoint presentations) to the Legislative Services 
Department by 4 p.m., December 1. 

 
7.0 Whistler Secondary School Grant 

 
7.1 As part of the yearly CEP Grant Budget, Council will award two $1,000 

scholarships to two members of the Whistler Secondary School graduating class. 
The Scholarship Committee of Whistler Secondary School will put forward to 
Council a list of recommendations and Council will make two selections based on 
the following criteria: 
 
7.1.1 Strong academic performance: the student must achieve a “B” average or 

higher. 
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7.1.2 Demonstrated school and community involvement: students should 
indicate on their application form any extra-curricular activities and 
community involvement. 
 

7.1.3 Preference will be given to those identifying financial need: if applicable, 
students should identify financial need on their application form and 
include any initiatives taken to help offset post-secondary costs (e.g., 
summer and/or part-time employment, etc.) 

 
7.2 Process and timeline: 

 
7.2.1 Whistler Secondary School will provide the application forms to the 

students.  
 

7.2.2 Whistler Secondary School will submit their recommendations, including 
applications, to the Legislative Services Department by the end of April. 

 
7.2.3 Council will select the two recipients at a Council Meeting in May. 

 
7.2.4 The two selected recipients will receive their scholarships in June. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Certified Correct: 
 

  
Brooke Browning  

Municipal Clerk 
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Association of Whistler Area Residents for the Environment (AWARE)

892079443RR0001 (Charitable Registration)

PO Box 1370, Whistler, V0N 1B0

Claire Ruddy
Phone on file

cruddy@awarewhistler.org

$10,000

Please see attached letter.

New one-time project
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

190,000

20,000

40,000 10,000 Venues, Honorariums, Audio Visual,
Advertising, Project Staff Time

250,000 10000
0.04
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	 	 				 	The Association of Whistler Area Residents for the Environment 
PO Box 1370  I  Whistler  I  BC  I  V0N 1B0 

info@awarewhistler.org 
www.awarewhistler.org  

 

 

	
Nov 30 2019 

	
Dear Mayor, Council & RMOW CEP Grant Program Coordinating Staff 

RE: 2019 Community Enrichment Program (CEP) Grant 

 

In the Spring 2019 CEP grant cycle AWARE was awarded $10,000 to support the convening of a Climate 

Action Conference. Due to a number of developments relating to this project we have scheduled the 

conference for Spring of 2020 (originally propose for Fall 2019). This pushes us beyond the CEP reporting 

timeline but has given us time to secure additional funds and we believe strengthen the project. As a result 

we are unable to submit a full report of outcomes at this time but we are happy to share some updates on 

the project: 

• In relation to goals, outcomes & target audiences - Conference goals and format have been 

developed based on the desired outcomes – which are tied to securing commitments to tangible 

climate actions. Target audiences for the conference have been identified based on the greatest 

opportunity to create change and impact (in the context of climate impacts). We are currently 

developing the conference agenda with partners and reaching out to potential speakers, etc.  

• In relation to geographic scope – Mayor and Council asked during CEP presentation whether the 

conference could be organised with partners throughout the Sea-to-Sky. As a collaborative 

organisation with existing partnerships and understanding of S2S communities shared climate 

challenges and opportunities we are developing the agenda with a regional approach so that 

conference sessions will be applicable to all communities. The event will be open to all though 

specific efforts will be made around engagement of attendees from identified target audiences.  

• In relation to funding - As a reminder the original CEP application was for $20,000, which we 

intended to match to a project budget of $40,000 through further grants, sponsorships and 

participation fees. We gratefully received a CEP grant award of $10,000. Since then we have 

worked to secure remaining project budget and secured funding currently sits at $20,000.  

o $5,000 has been secured through the WB Foundation EnviroFund and we have another 

$5,000 pledged.  

o $10,000 was donated by a local business specifically to provide an additional youth 

component of the project.  

• In relation to conference duration – The conference was presented as a multi-day program. 

Given funds secured (50% of projected core conference funds) savings have been identified in 

offering the program as one full day of core conference program with satellite events designed to 

provide additional engagement and collaborative activation of the public, youth and non-government 

organisations. We believe this approach will allow us to maintain the engagement of the broad mix 

of audiences originally identified within secured funds.   

 

We are and will continue to engage with staff, Council and partners as this project is delivered through 

Spring. We hope to see Mayor, Councillors and RMOW staff attend the conference and look forward to 

reporting back in full upon completion.  

 

Sincerely, 

Claire Ruddy, Executive Director 

Association of Whistler Area Residents for the Environment 
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Program: PEACE-W/P

 Monthly Yearly

REVENUE

4000 Revenues

4010 Administration Fee 58.33 700.00

4020 Donations in Kind 0.00 0.00

4030 Donations 291.67 3,500.00

4040 Donations-Gift certifcates 0.00 0.00

4050 Transportation

4060 Memberships 0.00 0.00

4065 Rental Income-PPTH 0.00 0.00

4067 Rental Income-3rd Ave suites 0.00 0.00

4069 Rental Income-Admin space 0.00 0.00

  le/4081 Taxable Pearls 2nds Store Income 0.00 0.00

Pearl's Sales - Reusable Bags 0.00 0.00

4090 Concession Sales 0.00 0.00

4099 Net Sales 350.00 4,200.00

4100 Grant Revenue

4115 Gaming Grant 0.00 0.00

4120 HRDC-Summer Student 0.00 0.00

McReary Youth Foundation 0.00 0.00

4130 PSSG - PEACE & MOS 3,890.00 46,680.00

4135 BC Housing 0.00 0.00

SCU grant 0.00 0.00

4150 VCH - Southern Ststlium 0.00 0.00

4160 Grants: Other 666.67 8,000.00

4165 PSSG - SOWC 0.00 0.00

4190 Total Grant Revenue 4,556.67 54,680.00

4200 Fundraising Revenue (in-House)

4205 Fundraising Events 0.00 0.00

4210 Raffle Tickets 0.00 0.00

4220 Silent Auction 0.00 0.00

4390 Total Fundraising Revenue 0.00 0.00

4400 Other Revenue

4440 Interest Revenue 0.00 0.00

4460 Miscellaneous Revenue 0.00 0.00

4470 Sales Tax Commission 0.00 0.00

4480 Amortization of deferred capital re 0.00 0.00

4500 Total Other Revenue 0.00 0.00

Budget 2019/2020
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TOTAL REVENUE 4,906.67 58,880.00

EXPENSE

5110 COGS 0.00 0.00

5210 Fundraising costs 0.00 0.00

5400 Wages and Benefits

5402 Executive Director Salary 0.00 0.00

5404 Program/Business Manager Wages 603.20 7,238.40

5405 Program Coordinator 0.00 0.00

5406 Support Workers Wages (fulltime) 0.00 0.00

5408 Support Workers (Casual/relief) 0.00 0.00

5409 W/C Support 0.00 0.00

540 Administration Wages 0.00 0.00

5412 PEACE Consellors 2,820.99 33,851.90

5420 EI Expense 77.73 932.75

5430 CPP Expense 174.63 2,095.61

5435 Vacation Pay Expenses 222.57 2,670.87

5440 WCB Expense 23.97 287.63

PPTH On-Call 0.00 0.00

5442 Stat @ 1.5 0.00 0.00

Average Days Pay 24.13 289.54

Wellness Pay 68.48 821.81

5445 Compassionate/Retro/Other Wages 3.42 41.09

PSH On-Call 0.00 0.00

5455 MSP Expense 34.24 410.90

5470 Employee Benefits 121.19 1,454.26

5480 Contracted Counselling Supervision 50.00 600.00

5485 Volunteer Honarium 0.00 0.00

5487 Consultant Fee 0.00 0.00

5489 Indirect Labour Allocation 185.33 2,223.95

5490 Total Payroll Expense 4,409.89 52,918.71

5500 Program Costs

5505 Client/Program supplies & Food 54.06 648.75

5510 Staff Development and Training 50.00 600.00

5515 Program staff travel/Auto Reimb. 121.84 1,462.10

5520 Client Travel 0.00 0.00

5521 Client Rent Subsidy 0.00 0.00

5525 Office Supplies (program) 23.75 285.00

5530 Resource Materials 0.00 0.00

5535 Telecommunications 70.00 840.00

5540 Printing/photocopying/postage 11.50 138.00

5545 Advertising/Promotion (program) 20.63 247.50

5550 Memberships and Dues 1.00 12.00

5560 Volunteer Expenses 0.00 0.00
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5565 Childcare Expenses 0.00 0.00

5570 Computer/IT Expenses 45.31 543.75

5575 Miscellaneous Expenses 0.42 5.00

5580 Garbage Removal 0.00 0.00

5585 Meeting Expenses 0.00 0.00

5590 Workshop expense 0.00 0.00

5595 Cash Over/Under 0.00 0.00

5599 Total Program Expenses (non-Wage) 398.51 4,782.10

5600 Facilities Costs

5605 Shelter Cost (rent) 0.00 0.00

5610 Office Cost (rent) 301.33 3,615.92

5615 Contracted Facilities Support 0.00 0.00

5620 Utilities (Gas, cable, hydro,water) 0.00 0.00

5625 Repairs and Maintenance 0.00 0.00

5630 Equip & Furniture (non-capital exp) 0.00 0.00

5635 Insurance 0.00 0.00

5640 Security 0.00 0.00

5645 Property Taxes 0.00 0.00

5690 Morgage Interest 0.00 0.00

5698 Facilities Rent Reovery Allocation 0.00 0.00

5699 Total Facility Expense 301.33 3,615.92

5700 Administrative Costs

5705 Accounting and Audit Expenses 15.94 191.25

Admin facilities (rent,ultilites) 0.00 0.00

5715 Telecommunications (admin) 0.00 0.00

5720 Advertising and Promotion (admin) 0.00 0.00

5723 Office Supplies (Admin) 0.00 0.00

5725 Printing/Photocopying/Postage 0.00 0.00

5730 Equip. lease costs 6.19 74.25

5735 Internet/website/IT support 2.75 33.00

5740 AGM/Admin/Board meeting expenses 1.08 13.00

5745 Legal & professional Fees 0.00 0.00

5750 Bank charges & Interest Expenses 6.94 83.25

5755 Contract Bookkeeping 0.00 0.00

5760 Garbage removal 0.00 0.00

5765 Misc. contractors 0.00 0.00

5770 Insurance 0.00 0.00

5775 Meals & entertainment - staff 6.42 77.00

5780 Donation 0.00 0.00

5799 Total General & Admin. Expenses 39.31 471.75

5800 Other Expenses

5801 Subcontract Services 0.00

5802 CRA Penalities & Interest 0.00 0.00

5805 Serverace package expenses 0.00 0.00
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Building Relocation expenses 0.00 0.00

5807 Rental Unit Expenses 0.00 0.00

5808 Amortization 0.00 0.00

5809 Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00

5840 Loss on Capital Asset Disposal 0.00 0.00

5850 Total Other Expenses 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENSE 5,149.04 61,788.48

NET INCOME -242.37 -2,908.48

Capital Additions

Computer equipment 0.00 0.00

Furniture & equipment 0.00 0.00

Mortgage Principal 0.00 0.00

Micro Loan lending 0.00 0.00

Micro Loan repayments 0.00 0.00

Total Capital Additions 0.00 0.00

Net Income less Capital Additions -242.37 -2,908.48
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CHILDREN, YOUTH & 
FAMILY PROGRAMS

Funded by 

24 HOUR CRISIS LINE: 
604-892-5711 

Toll Free 1-877-890-5711 

 

WOMEN’S CENTRE - SQUAMISH 

38021 Third Avenue 

PO Box 2052 Squamish, BC 

V8B 0B4 

T: 604-892-5748 

F: 604-892-5749 

 

WOMEN’S CENTRE - WHISTLER 

1519 Spring Creek Drive 

Whistler, BC V8E 0A2 

T: 604-962-8711 

F: 604-892-5749 

 

www.hswc.ca 

 

Helping families in the 
Sea to Sky Corridor since 1981

OUR MISSION 

 

The Howe Sound Women’s Centre Society 

promotes women’s equality and the 

empowerment of women and their children. We 

work from a feminist* perspective. By responding 

to and working for change, we honour the diversity 

of women’s lives and meet the evolving needs of 

women and children throughout the sea to sky 

corridor. 

 

*Women and men who believe in women’s rights 

and equality throughout society. 

 

OUR VISION 

 

We envision a day when all women and their 

children are valued and lead healthy lives – 

supported, connected to the community, and 

violence free. 

CONTACT US

Squamish, Whistler, Pemberton

HSWC operates on the traditional, unceded

territories of the Skwxwú7mesh, Lilwat7úl, and

Lower Stl’atl’imx Nations.  As an organization we

respect the history of this land and its Nations,

working towards true reconciliation and inclusivity in

our shared communities.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Program: Drop-In Centre Whistler 

 Monthly Yearly

REVENUE

4000 Revenues

4010 Administration Fee 0.00 0.00

4020 Donations in Kind 0.00 0.00

4030 Donations 1,166.67 14,000.00

4040 Donations-Gift certifcates 0.00 0.00

4050 Transportation

4060 Memberships 0.00 0.00

4065 Rental Income-PPTH 0.00 0.00

4067 Rental Income-3rd Ave suites 0.00 0.00

4069 Rental Income-Admin space 0.00 0.00

  4081 Taxable Pearls 2nds Store Income 0.00 0.00

Pearl's Sales - Reusable Bags 0.00 0.00

4090 Comcession Sales 0.00 0.00

4099 Net Sales 1,166.67 14,000.00

4100 Grant Revenue

4115 Gaming Grant 666.67 8,000.00

4120 HRDC-Summer Student 0.00 0.00

McReary Youth Foundation 0.00 0.00

4130 PSSG - PEACE & MOS 0.00 0.00

4135 BC Housing 0.00 0.00

SCU grant 0.00 0.00

4150 VCH - Southern Ststlium 0.00 0.00

4160 Grants: Other 1,833.33 22,000.00

4165 PSSG - SOWC 0.00 0.00

4190 Total Grant Revenue 2,500.00 30,000.00

4200 Fundraising Revenue (in-House)

4205 Fundraising Events 666.67 8,000.00

4210 Raffle Tickets 0.00 0.00

4220 Silent Auction 0.00 0.00

4390 Total Fundraising Revenue 666.67 8,000.00

4400 Other Revenue

4440 Interest Revenue 0.00 0.00

4460 Miscellaneous Revenue 0.00 0.00

4470 Sales Tax Commission 0.00 0.00

4480 Amortization of deferred capital re 0.00 0.00

4500 Total Other Revenue 0.00 0.00

Budget 2019/2020
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TOTAL REVENUE 4,333.33 52,000.00

EXPENSE

5110 COGS 0.00 0.00

5210 Fundraising costs 41.67 500.00

5400 Wages and Benefits

5402 Executive director salary 0.00 0.00

5404 Program/Business Manager Wages 0.00 0.00

5405 Program Coordinator 0.00 0.00

5406 Support Workers Wages (fulltime) 2,651.91 31,822.88

5408 Support Workers (Casual/relief) 0.00 0.00

5409 W/C Support 0.00 0.00

5410 Administration Wages 0.00 0.00

5412 PEACE Consellors 0.00 0.00

5420 EI Expense 61.63 739.56

5430 CPP Expense 131.27 1,575.23

5435 Vacation Pay Expenses 106.08 1,272.92

5440 WCB Expense 18.56 222.76

PPTH On-Call 0.00 0.00

5442 Stat @ 1.5 0.00 0.00

Average Days Pay 106.08 1,272.92

Wellness Pay 53.04 636.46

5445 Compassionate/Retro/Other Wages 2.65 31.82

PSH On-Call 0.00 0.00

5455 MSP Expense 26.52 318.23

5470 Employee Benefits 87.51 1,050.16

5480 Contracted Counselling Supervision 50.00 600.00

5485 Volunteer Honarium 8.33 100.00

5487 Consultant Fee 0.00 0.00

5489 Indirect Labour Allocation 630.11 7,561.36

5490 Total Payroll Expense 3,933.69 47,204.30

5500 Program Costs

5505 Client/Program supplies & Food 108.33 1,300.00

5510 Staff Development and Training 50.00 600.00

5515 Program staff travel/Auto Reimb. 158.33 1,900.00

5520 Client Travel 66.67 800.00

5521 Client Rent Subsidy 0.00 0.00

5525 Office Supplies (program) 50.00 600.00

5530 Resource Materials 0.00 0.00

5535 Telecommunications 100.00 1,200.00

5540 Printing/photocopying/postage 20.83 250.00

5545 Advertising/Promotion (program) 41.67 500.00

5550 Memberships and Dues 0.00 0.00

5560 Volunteer Expenses 16.67 200.00
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5565 Childcare Expenses 0.00 0.00

5570 Computer/IT Expenses 25.00 300.00

5575 Miscellaneous Expenses 0.00 0.00

5580 Garbage Removal 0.00 0.00

5585 Meeting Expenses 0.00 0.00

5590 Workshop expense 0.00 0.00

5595 Cash Over/Under 0.00 0.00

5599 Total Program Expenses (non-Wag 637.50 7,650.00

5600 Facilities Costs

5605 Shelter Cost (rent) 0.00 0.00

5610 Office Cost (rent) 887.09 10,645.08

5615 Contracted Facilities Support 180.00 2,160.00

5620 Utilities (Gas, cable, hydro,water) 0.00 0.00

5625 Repairs and Maintenance 0.00 0.00

5630 Equip & Furniture (non-capital exp) 0.00 0.00

5635 Insurance 22.92 275.00

5640 Security 0.00 0.00

5645 Property Taxes 0.00 0.00

5690 Morgage Interest 0.00 0.00

5698 Facilities Rent recovery Allocaiton 0.00 0.00

5699 Total Facility Expense 1,090.01 13,080.08

5700 Administrative Costs

5705 Accounting and Audit Expenses 40.42 485.00

Admin facilities (rent,ultilites) 0.00 0.00

5715 Telecommunications (admin) 0.00 0.00

5720 Advertising and Promotion (admin) 0.00 0.00

5723 Office Supplies (Admin) 0.00 0.00

5725 Printing/Photocopying/Postage 0.00 0.00

5730 Equip. lease costs 11.25 135.00

5735 Internet/website/IT support 9.17 110.00

5740 AGM/Admin/Board meeting expenses 1.00 12.00

5745 Legal & professional Fees 6.67 80.00

5750 Bank charges & Interest Expenses 10.83 130.00

5755 Contract Bookkeeping 0.00 0.00

5760 Garbage removal 0.00 0.00

5765 Misc. contractors 0.00 0.00

5770 Insurance 0.00 0.00

5775 Meals & entertainment - staff 10.42 125.00

5780 Donation 0.00 0.00

5799 Total General & Admin. Expenses 89.75 1,077.00

5800 Other Expenses

5801 Subcontracting Services 0.00 0.00

5802 CRA Penalities & Interest 0.00 0.00

5805 Serverace package expenses 0.00 0.00
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Building Relocation expenses 0.00 0.00

5807 Rental Unit Expenses 0.00 0.00

5808 Amortization 0.00 0.00

5809 Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00

5840 Loss on Capital Asset Disposal 0.00 0.00

5850 Total Other Expenses 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENSE 5,792.62 69,511.38

NET INCOME -1,459.28 -17,511.38

Capital Additions

Computer equipment 0.00 0.00

Furniture & equipment 0.00 0.00

Mortgage Principal 0.00 0.00

Micro Loan lending 0.00 0.00

Micro Loan repayments 0.00 0.00

Total Capital Additions 0.00 0.00

Net Income less Capital Additions -1,459.28 -17,511.38
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2018
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Members of the Howe Sound Women's Centre Society

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Howe Sound Women's Centre Society,
which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2018, and the Statements of
Operations, Changes in Net Assets and Cash Flows for year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified audit opinion.

2

 

 

 

Tel: 604 932 3799 
Fax:  604 932 3764 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
202 – 1200 Alpha Lake Road 
Whistler BC  V0N 1B1  Canada 

 
 

 

 
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many charitable organizations, Howe Sound Women's Centre Society derives
revenue from cash donations and fundraising, the completeness of which is not susceptible to
satisfactory audit verification.  Accordingly, verification of these revenues was limited to the
amounts recorded in the records of Howe Sound Women's Centre Society. Therefore, we were
not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to donation revenue,
fundraising revenue, Pearl's Value & Vintage revenue, excess of revenues over expenses, and
cash flows from operations for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, current assets as at
March 31, 2018 and 2017, and net assets as at April 1 and March 31 for both the 2018 and 2017
years. Our audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017 was
modified accordingly because of the possible effects of this limitation in scope.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
paragraph, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Howe Sound Women's Centre Society as at March 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Societies Act (British Columbia), we report that, in our opinion, the
accounting principles in the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations have
been applied on a consistent basis.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Whistler, British Columbia
June 15, 2018

3
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Statement of Operations

For the year ended March 31 2018 2017

Revenues
Grants (Notes 11 and 12) $ 767,326 $ 812,867
Pearl's Value & Vintage 539,345 447,843
Fundraising 14,055 16,883
Donations (Note 11) 68,146 46,723
Contract services 231,197 230,140
Rental 41,000 41,829
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (Note 9) 8,622 6,970
Other revenue 21,450 7,128

1,691,141 1,610,383
Expenditures

Advertising and promotion 5,190 4,744
Amortization 15,822 18,104
Bad debts 275 1,031
Bank charges and interest 6,654 6,507
Client rental subsidy (Note 7) 36,972 -
Conferences and workshops 1,125 4,563
Consultant fee 25,811 8,792
Fundraising and events 5,261 5,689
Insurance 9,213 9,766
Interest on long-term debt 9,030 11,780
Meals and entertainment 5,465 3,979
Memberships and licences 1,813 1,786
Office 25,492 21,001
Professional fees 16,099 20,474
Rent 98,122 93,241
Repairs and maintenance 19,342 14,063
Salaries and benefits (Note 13) 1,075,567 1,046,201
Staff and client travel 27,920 24,342
Staff training and professional development 14,092 11,530
Subcontract rental subsidy program (Note 7) - 84,000
Supplies 28,006 26,312
Telecommunications 19,987 18,690
Utilities 30,742 25,608
Loss on disposal of capital assets - 5,397

1,478,000 1,467,600

Excess of revenues over expenses for the year $ 213,141 $ 142,783

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended March 31

Invested in  
Capital assets    Unrestricted 2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ 351,965 $ 261,509 $ 613,474 $ 470,691
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenses for the year (7,200) 220,341 213,141 142,783
Interfund transfers

Capital acquisitions 4,301 (4,301) - -
Mortgage principal payments 17,479 (17,479) - -

Balance, end of year $ 366,545 $ 460,070 $ 826,615 $ 613,474

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31 2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Excess of revenues over expenses for the year $ 213,141 $ 142,783
Items not requiring cash

Amortization 15,822 18,104
Deferred capital contributions recognized as revenue (8,622) (6,970)
Deferred operating contributions recognized as revenue (137,151) (206,265)
Loss on disposal of capital assets - 5,397

83,190 (46,951)

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable 1,843 (13,385)
Prepaid expenses (3,812) (4)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 21,462 45,247
Deferred contributions from operations 152,695 217,379
Deferred client rental subsidies 21,528 -
Deferred capital contributions - 38,454

276,906 240,740

Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment (4,301) (4,318)
Investment in term deposit (122,535) (35,504)

(126,836) (39,822)

Financing activity
Repayment of long-term debt (17,479) (17,104)

Increase in cash during the year 132,591 183,814

Cash, beginning of year 332,249 148,435

Cash, end of year $ 464,840 $ 332,249

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Purposes of the
Society The Howe Sound Women's Centre Society (the "Society") is a not-for-

profit organization incorporated under the Society Act (British
Columbia) on October 7, 1981 and became a registered charitable
organization on May 1, 1982. On November 28, 2016, the Society Act
(British Columbia) was replaced with the Societies Act (British
Columbia). The Society transitioned to the new act on March 15, 2018.

The Society operates two drop-in centres, a transition house and a safe
house, providing both support and shelter to women and children in
abusive situations in the Sea to Sky corridor, from the lower mainland
and other areas of Canada.

The Society also operates Pearl's Value & Vintage, a second-hand
furniture and clothing store located in downtown Squamish, British
Columbia. It accepts used, donated items from the community, and
exchanges them for cash donations to further assist with the funding of
the Society's operations.

The Society operates two residential rental apartments located above
its drop-in centre, and two apartments located in Pemberton. Rental
income earned assists the Society with the costs to operate and
maintain these rental units, and in the case of the Squamish units,
offset costs of the drop-in centre.

The Society promotes equality and empowerment, and works from a
feminist perspective, supporting women and children, honouring the
diversity of their lives, and responding to, and working for change. The
Society believes this work contributes to the well-being of the entire
community. 

In the event of winding up or dissolution, the Society's bylaws states
that the net funds and assets of the Society remaining after the
satisfaction of its debts and liabilities shall be available for distribution
to organizations concerned with social problems or organizations
promoting the same purposes of the Society at the time of winding-up
or dissolution.

Basis of Accounting These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
(ASNPO).

Income Taxes The Society is exempt from income tax under Section 149(1)(l) of the
Income Tax Act.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank balances and
guaranteed investment certificates with a duration of fewer than
ninety days from the date of acquisition.

Term deposits Term deposits consist of guaranteed investment certificates with
maturities of greater than 90 days from the date of acquisition.

Invested in Property
and Equipment Net assets invested in property and equipment represents the Society's

investment in property and equipment.

Property and
Equipment Property and equipment are recorded at cost on the statement of

financial position. Amortization is charged over the expected useful
life of the assets, estimated as follows:

Buildings 20/ 25 years straight line basis
Furniture and fixtures 5/10 years straight line basis
Computer equipment 3 years straight line basis
Leasehold improvements 25% declining basis

Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the Society's

long-lived assets no longer have any long-term service potential to the
Society, the excess of the asset's net carrying amount over any residual
value is recognized as an expense in the statement of operations. 

Revenue Recognition The Society follows the deferral method of accounting for
contributions.

Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which
the related expenses are incurred.  Restricted contributions for the
acquisition of property and equipment are deferred and amortized over
the remaining useful life of the asset acquired.

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or
receivable if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is
reasonably assured.

Revenue from contract services is recognized at the time the services
are provided. 

Revenue from the sale of donated goods at Pearl's Value & Vintage is
recognized at the time of cash receipt.

Rental revenue is recognized evenly each month over the term of the
lease.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Mortgage Payable The mortgage payable is classified as a current liability for the portion
of the loan that is repayable or matures within the current year, or
when a covenant violation gives the lender the discretion to demand
full payment of the loan before its maturity date, unless the lender
provides a written guarantee that the loan will remain in effect or be
renewed for periods extending beyond the next year.

Financial Instruments The Society's financial instruments consist of cash, term deposits,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and
mortgage payable. Financial assets are tested for impairment when
changes in circumstances indicate an asset could be impaired. The
Society initially measures its financial instruments at fair value and
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any provision for impairment.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in accordance with ASNPO
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Areas
of significance requiring management to exercise judgment on the
determination of estimates includes collectability of accounts
receivable, useful lives of property and equipment, assessment of
impairment, completeness of accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
and the allocation of expenses to various programs and grants.  Actual
results could differ from management's best estimates made in the
preparation of these financial statements and may have an impact on
future periods. 

Donated Inventory The inventory items in the Pearl's Value and Vintage location are 100%
donated and have no cost value for financial statement purposes. The
economic value of the donated items is not realized or recorded until
patrons exchange cash donations for those items.

Contributed Materials
and Services Management has chosen to not recognize contributed materials or

services for donations provided to the Society or directly associated
with its programs. As such, these contributions to the Society have not
been recognized in the Society's financial statements.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

2. Cash

Cash consists of cash on hand and bank balances held at one financial institution.  The bank
accounts earns interest at the prevailing marketing rates. Funds of $45,851 (2016 - $43,004)
are set aside for the Society's BC Gaming Community grant in a separate bank account. 

The Society has an authorized operating line of credit in the amount of $25,000 with
Squamish Savings (Division of Vancity) for working capital purposes, bearing interest at a
rate of Vancity prime plus 1% per annum. As at year-end, the balance of the operating loan
is $Nil (2017 - $Nil).

3. Term Deposits

During the year, the Society held three term deposits which mature April 7, June 2, and
November 4, 2018, earning interest at 1.05% - 1.25% per annum.

4. Accounts Receivable

2018 2017

GST rebate $ 7,001 $ 1,241
Back in Motion 39,173 43,472
Other 11,411 14,715

$ 57,585 $ 59,428

5. Property and Equipment
2018 2017

Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Cost Amortization Value Value

Land 635,760 - 635,760 635,760
Buildings 390,639 261,857 128,782 139,886
Furniture and fixtures 47,048 32,919 14,129 11,448
Computer equipment 37,705 36,193 1,512 3,654
Leasehold improvements 23,473 20,629 2,844 3,792

$ 1,134,625 $ 351,598 $ 783,027 $ 794,540

The Society's property and equipment is measured at net book value which consists of
historic cost less accumulated amortization. The net book value of property and equipment
is not reflective of its fair market values.
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

6. Government Remittances

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are $34,464 (2017 - $22,038) of
government remittances.

7. Deferred Contributions from Operations

The deferred contributions from operations consist of non-restricted grants that are
received in the current year for future periods and restricted grants that have been
received but will be spent on the designated purpose in future periods.

Restricted grants consist of gaming funds to operate Whistler and Squamish drop-in centres,
and grants restricted in use to specific programs as listed below.

As at year-end, funds that were deferred are as follows:

2018 2017

Restricted contributions to be spent in future periods:
BC Housing - Aboriginal Transportation Fund $ 7,919 $ 7,281
BC Ministry of Justice - SARC Program 3,000 16,984
Community Foundation of Whistler - 
Mama Baby Connection Program - 1,300
District of Squamish - Drop in Centre funding 10,000 10,000
MPSSG - PEACE and MOS Programs 19,008 -
Ministry of Housing and Social Development - Gaming 43,000 43,000
Province of BC - Pemberton Outreach 5,000 5,000
Province of BC - Training for Cultural Diversity 1,917 5,000
Squamish Savings Emergency Loan Program 20,000 -
Thompson River University - Outdoor Program 168 4,969
Vancouver Foundation - Women's Wisdom Program 2,500 -

112,512 93,534

Operating grants received in advance:
BC Housing 43,196 46,622

$ 155,708 $ 140,156

During the year, restricted contributions received and recognized for these grants are as
follows: 

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ 93,534 $ 84,979
Contributions received in the year and deferred 109,507 170,757
Recognized as revenue (90,529) (162,202)

Balance, end of year $ 112,512 $ 93,534
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

7. Deferred Contributions from Operations (continued)

The Society receives funding from BC Housing to operate a Homeless Prevention Program
that provides rental subsidies. During the year, the Society ended its subcontracting
agreement for this program and administered the program internally. Restricted
contributions received in the year were as follows:

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year $ - $ -
Contributions received in the year and deferred 89,000 89,000
Recognized as revenue and client rental subsidies (67,472) (89,000)

Balance, end of year $ 21,528 $ -

Funders provide monies restricted to certain programs and projects which must be spent for
that purpose. However, many expenses incurred by the Society are for shared services, and
as a result, expense allocations amongst programs and projects are management's best
estimate. As this determination is inherently uncertain, deferred contributions may be
materially different from that presented.

8. Mortgage Payable

2018 2017

Squamish Savings (Division of Vancity) Commercial Mortgage,
38021 Third Avenue, Squamish, B.C., interest at 2.84%,
repayable bi-weekly at $1,018 including interest, 
due June 9, 2019 $ 326,158 $ 343,637
Less: current portion of mortgage payable (16,793) (16,321)

$ 309,365 $ 327,316

The mortgage is secured by a first charge on the land and building, a General Security
Agreement and an assignment of rents. 

The principal payments in the next two years are expected as follows:

2019 $ 16,793
2020 309,365

$ 326,158
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

9. Deferred Capital Contributions

Deferred contributions related to capital represent restricted contributions for the purchase
of the drop-in centre and various renovations to the properties.

The changes in the deferred contributed balance for the year are as follows:

2018 2017

Unamortized balance, beginning of year $ 274,847 $ 243,363
Contributions received in the year - 38,454
Amortized to revenue (8,622) (6,970)

Unamortized balance, end of year $ 266,225 $ 274,847

The Society has received contributions totaling $175,865 (2017 - $175,865) towards the
acquisition of stage 2 transition housing. As of March 31, 2018, these funds have not been
utilized. Once utilized, these funds will be amortized into revenue over the estimated useful
life of the asset acquired.

10. Operating Leases 

The Society has committed to a number of leases for the rental of equipment and office
space. The minimum lease payments, including GST and operating costs incorporated into
the agreements, in each of the next five years are as follows: 

2019 $ 59,729
2020 3,094
2021 774
2022 -
2023 -

$ 63,597
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

11. Grant and Donation Revenue

Grant revenue is from the following sources:

2018 2017

BC Housing Management Commission $ 564,797 $ 567,865
Ministry of Justice 106,492 103,575
Province of British Columbia 3,084 10,000
Ministry of Housing and Social Development - Gaming 43,000 43,000
Resort Municipality of Whistler 14,000 14,000
District of Squamish 10,000 10,000
Ministry of Justice Civil Forfeiture 13,984 25,974
Canadian Women's Foundation - 14,863
Whistler Blackcomb Foundation - 7,240
Other grants 11,969 16,350

$ 767,326 $ 812,867

Donation revenue was derived primarily from corporations and individuals.

During the year, the Society entered into two forgivable loan agreements with BC Housing
Management Commission for capital maintenance at the Transition House and Safe Home for
a maximum of $94,300 and $4,600, respectively. These loans are forgivable over 10 years.
During the year, $567 and $4,045, respectively, was received under these agreements and
recognized as grant revenue.

12. Economic Dependence

BC Housing, the Ministry of Justice, and the Ministry of Housing and Social Development
provided 43% (2017 - 46%) of the Society's revenue recognized in 2018. As a result, the
Society is economically dependent on the Provincial Government of British Columbia for the
funding required to deliver its services and programs.

13. Remuneration of Directors, Employees and Contractors      

On November 28, 2016 the Society Act (British Columbia) was repealed and replaced with
the Societies Act (British Columbia) ("New Act"). The New Act requires that all Societies
transition to the New Act before November 28, 2018. The New Act requires that the Society
disclose the total remuneration paid to the Directors, for either being a director or for
acting in another capacity, as well as the total number of employees or contractors with
annual remuneration equal to or greater than $75,000 and the aggregate remuneration of
those employees.

During the year the amounts paid to Directors of the Society for acting in their noted
capacity was $Nil (2017 - $Nil). A total of 0 (2017 - 0) employees received remuneration in
excess of $75,000 which resulted in expenditure of $0 (2017 - $0).
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Notes to the Financial Statements

March 31, 2018

14. Financial Instrument Risk

The Society, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. The
following analysis provides an assessment of those risks as at March 31, 2018. These risks
remain unchanged from prior year.

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Society is potentially
exposed to credit risk on its cash, term deposits, and accounts receivable (described in
Notes 2, 3, 4). To mitigate this risk, the Society has deposited its cash and investments
with reputable financial institutions. The credit risk on accounts receivable arises from
organizations in a similar not-for-profit sector.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society encounters difficulty in meeting its obligations
associated with financial liabilities. Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of
operational liquidity requirements, the Society will not have sufficient funds to settle a
transaction on the due date; will be required to repay restricted use funding where the
Society is unable to meet those restrictions; will be forced to sell financial assets at a
value which is less than what they are worth; or may be unable to settle or recover a
financial asset. Liquidity risk arises from accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
mortgage payable (Note 8). The Society has a credit line available to help manage its
liquidity.

(c) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Society is
exposed to interest rate risk arising from the possibility that changes in interest rates
will affect the value of fixed interest rate investments and the value of its fixed
interest rate mortgage payable (Notes 3 and 8).

It is management's opinion that the Society is not exposed to significant currency risks
arising from financial instruments. There have been no changes to the Society's
financial instruments risk exposure from prior year.

15. Comparative Figures

The  comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement
format adopted in the current year. 
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Howe Sound Women's Centre Society
Schedule 1 - Ministry of Justice - PEACE & MOS Programs

Schedule of Revenue and Expenses

For the year ended March 31 2018 2017

Revenues
Grants $ 106,492 $ 103,575
Donations 7,235 7,598
Grants - Other 6,000 2,801
Other 2,267 3,670

121,994 117,644
Expenses

  Salaries and benefits

Program manager 20,425 26,573
Support worker wages 8,259 8,736
Counsellors 55,428 44,157
Benefits 18,244 18,012

102,356 97,478
  Victim service program delivery expenses

Facilities (rent, utilities and maintenance) 7,581 9,883
Program delivery related travel 2,107 2,223
Office supplies 4,686 2,678
Promotion and outreach 595 307
Telephone 2,422 1,402
Memberships 334 180
Computer and IT expenses 199 7
Staff training 1,078 431
Meeting and other miscellaneous expenses 2,211 437

21,213 17,548
  Administration expenses

Management and administrative support wages 10,567 11,297
Accounting and audit 984 1,457
Other 1,820 1,738

13,371 14,492

Total expenses 136,940 129,518

Deficiency of revenues over expenses for the year $ (14,946) $ (11,874)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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WOMEN'S CENTRE 
 

Funded by 

24 HOUR CRISIS LINE: 
604-892-5711 

Toll Free 1-877-890-5711 

 

WOMEN’S CENTRE - SQUAMISH 

38021 Third Avenue 

PO Box 2052 Squamish, BC 

V8B 0B4 

T: 604-892-5748 

F: 604-892-5749 

 

WOMEN’S CENTRE - WHISTLER 

1519 Spring Creek Drive 

Whistler, BC V8E 0A2 

T: 604-962-8711 

F: 604-892-5749 

www.hswc.ca 

 

Helping women and children 
in the Sea to Sky Corridor 

since 1981

OUR MISSION 

 

The Howe Sound Women’s Centre Society 

promotes women’s equality and the 

empowerment of women and their children. 

We work from a feminist* perspective. By 

responding to and working for change, we 

honor the diversity of women’s lives and meet 

the evolving needs of women and children 

throughout the Sea to Sky Corridor. 

*Women and men who believe in women’s 

rights and equality throughout society. 

 

OUR VISION 

 

We envision a day when all women and their 

children are valued and lead healthy lives – 

supported, connected to the community, and 

violence free. 

CONTACT US Squamish & Whistler 

HSWC operates on the traditional, unceded 

territories of the Skwxwú7mesh, Lilwat7úl, and 

Lower Stl’atl’imx Nations.  As an organization we 

respect the history of this land and its Nations, 

working towards true reconciliation and 

inclusivity in our shared communities.
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FUNDING
CEP Grant 5,000.00$        

Total Funding 5,000.00$        

EXPENSES
Salaries / Contract

Wages
Program Coordinator 572.10$           
Houskeeping Coordinator 1,283.94$        

Total - Wages 1,856.04$        
Mileage

Program Coordinator 231.28$           
Houskeeping Coordinator 466.80$           

Total - Mileage 698.08$           
Total Salaries/Contract 2,554.12$        
Advertising / Promotion

Advertising
The Pique 94.50$              
Whistler Recreation Guide 131.25$           

Total - Advertising 225.75$           
Promotions

Various - see sheet 285.29$           
Total - Promotions 285.29$           

Total Advertising / Promotion 511.04$           
Workshops / Presentations

Various - see sheet 199.96$           
Total Workshops / Presentations 199.96$           
Total Expenses 3,265.12$        

Remaining of Grant 1,734.89$        

Better at Home Funding
Financial Breakdown - CEP Grant
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Staffing Costs
Salaries

Program Coordinator Hrly Wage Date Hours Cost Reason / Notes Mileage Period Ending KMs $/KM Total
              15-Apr 1 $    Admin 30-Nov 1567.35 0.49 231.28$     

7-May 2 $    Meet & greet with new client and cleaning contractor -$            
30-May 2 $    Workshop at WCSS, Meet & Greet with a volunteer and client -$            

1-Oct 6 $    Seniors Day event at the Whistler Library -$            
31-Oct 4 $    WCSS Health Fair, workshop at the Whistler Library -$            

-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            
-$                      -$            

TOTAL - Salaries 15 572.10$                231.28$     

Contract
Housekeeping Contractor Period Ending Cost GST Total (incl. GST) Reason / Notes Mileage Period Ending KMs $/KM Total

30-Nov 1,222 80$  61.14$      1,283.94$            30-Nov 472.00 0.49 466.80$     
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            
-$          -$                      -$            

TOTAL - Contract 1,222.80$  61.14$      1,283.94$            466.80$     

TOTAL Salaries / Contracts 1,856.04$            698.08$     

Salaries / Contracts Better at Home program

Page 105 of 542



Advertising / Promotion Costs
Advertising

The Pique Date Cost GST Total (incl. GST) Date Paid Reason / Notes
15-Aug 44 00$     2.20       46.20$                      12-Aug Aug 15 Edition / online for 1 week
15-Aug 46 00       2.30       48.30                        12-Aug Aug 15 Edition / online for 1 week

-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            

Total 90.00$    4.50       94.50$                      

Whistler Recreation Guide Date Cost GST Total (incl. GST) Date Paid Reason / Notes
17-Jul 125.00$  6.25       131 25$                    Pending

-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            

Total 125.00$  6.25       131.25$                    

 Advertising / Promotions
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Promotions
Purchase / Product Date Cost GST Total (incl. GST) Date Paid Reason / Notes
Better at Home Tote Bags 1-Sep 271.70$  13.59     285.29$                    30-Sep

-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            
-           -         -                            

Total 271.70$  13.59     285.29$                    

TOTAL Advertising / Promotions 511.04$                    
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Workshops & Presentations
Event Date Cost GST Total (incl. GST) Reason / Notes

Whistler Seniors Day 1-Oct 89.98$         -$              89.98$                 Food for event
ICBC Presentation 31-Oct 109.98         -                 109.98                 Food for event

-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        
-               -                 -                        

TOTAL Advertising / Promotions 199.96$      -$              199.96$               

Workshops & Presentations
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Multicultural Network/Sea to Sky Community Services

Registered charity #119161107 RR0001
Registered society #S14102

38024 Fourth Ave. | Box 949
Squamish, BC V8B 0A7

Bekah Jones

bekah.jones@sscs.ca

$4500

YTD the grant has covered:
- Additional 2 hours/week for Multicultural Outreach Worker
- Costs of kitchen equipment & supplies for Multicultural Community Kitchens
- Honoraria for immigrant cooks facilitators.
- Baking with children sessions.
- Set up of Community garden and upkeep.
- Research and development of Community Kitchen digital badge program
- Working on forming partnership with Womens Centre

No
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

$6153 $2917.50 $1772.34 (2hrs/week) (this will
continue through the program year)

$2510 $800 Supplies, equipment $548.35,
honoraria $345

$300 $300 Community Garden set up $321.47

0 0

$256

$1132 0

$1110 $482.5

$11681 $4500
38.5

Sea to Sky Community Services was the receiving agency for this grant and is providing reports back to the RMOW on
how the grant was spent. Note: the program runs year round and salary/costs will be incurred till end March 2020.
This year we have had one multicultural community kitchen every month, with an average of 14 participants.
Participants have been a good mix of Canadian born community members and immigrants, and we now have a waitlist
of cooks wanting to share their food with the community.
Multicultural food at the Whistler Multicultural Festival in June 2019 was again managed and delivered by volunteer
immigrant cooks, including Moroccan newcomers. The Multicultural Kitchen cookbook was presented at the 2019
Whistler Writers' Festival and a catering company produced some of the dishes from the book. The cookbook is now
online at www.welcomewhistler.com and volunteers are actively working to add details and stories from ongoing
community kitchens. This program will partner with the Howe Sound Women's Centre to deliver a series of healthy
eating on a budget workshops starting January 2020.
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Whistler Multicultural Network: Multicultural Community Kitchens program 

Financial Costs breakdown April 1 to November 30 2019 

Salary (average 2 hours/week for 
Multicultural Outreach Worker) 1772.34 

Operating supplies 
(general supplies, kitchen supplies) 548.35 

Volunteer honoraria (cooks for monthly 
Multicultural kitchens) 345.00 

One-time program costs (immigrant garden set up) 321.47 

Total costs 2987.16 

The program will run until March 30th 2020, the remaining budget will be used for salary and operating 
costs of future workshops.  
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5/15/2019 Confirmation | RONA

https://www.rona.ca/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/RonaCheckoutConfirmationView?langId=-1&catalogId=10051&storeId=10151&krypto=shv%2Fl8wb jF… 1/3

Step 3 of 3

Thank you for shopping at RONA. 
A con rmation email will be sent shortly with all the details of your order.

  Order number: 6993453 Authorization number: 08038I Order date: May 15, 2019

This purchase may give you up to 5 AIR MILES® Reward miles*.
* For more information, please read conditions for the Air Miles reward program.

PICK-UP LOCATION

RONA Whistler

1350 , Alpha Lake Road 
Whistler, British Columbia 
V8E 0H9 
Phone:  (604) 932-3620

You will receive an email when your items are ready for pick-up. Please bring along identi cation issued by
government as well as a copy of the pick-up notice email.

BILLING ADDRESS

Bekah Jones

  
WHISTLER, BC 

 

Credit Card Type: visa

Card Number: **** **** **** 6536

Change or cancel your order

1 X 3-TUBE SPRINKLER/SOAKER HOSE - 50'
ANDERSON
Article #85885014

YOUR SHOPPING CART (13 items)
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5/15/2019 Confirmation | RONA

https://www.rona.ca/webapp/wcs/stores/servlet/RonaCheckoutConfirmationView?langId=-1&catalogId=10051&storeId=10151&krypto=shv%2Fl8wb jF… 2/3

9 X GARDEN SOIL - 0.3-0.02-0.01 - 18 KG (50 L)
QUALI GROW
Article #12965031

1 X BIOMAX(R) MANURE COMPOST - 15 KG
C-I-L
Article #89465025

1 X TOMATO, FRUIT AND VEGETABLE FERTILIZER - 453 G
MIRACLE-GRO
Article #12675330

1 X "LIGHT DUTY" GARDEN HOSE - 5/8" X 100'
ANDERSON
Article #85885015

READY IN 2 HOURS◊ $17.84

READY IN 3 TO 7 DAYS◊ $61.11

READY IN 3 TO 7 DAYS◊ $5.99

READY IN 3 TO 7 DAYS◊ $7.19

READY IN 3 TO 7 DAYS◊ $25.49

SUBTOTAL (13 ITEMS) $117.62

GST (103039624) $5.88

PST (10117214) $8.23

TOTAL $131.73

RONA inc. cannot guarantee availability of products. In addition, RONA inc. accepts no responsibility for damages resulting from
stock-outs or delays in availability of products. Should RONA inc. nd itself unable to deliver the product or products you ordered on
its website, you will be advised by email or by phone.

 Information regarding the delivery method for your purchase:

PICK-UP IN STORE: 

Most orders are prepared within 2 hours during normal store operating hours. Some larger orders may take up to 48 hours. You will be
noti ed by email when your order is ready for pick-up.

◊
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ruth@whistlercreative.ca

604 902 4504

 8148 Crazy Canuck Drive

Whistler, British Columbia

V8E 0G8

Canada

Billed To

Attention: Carole Stretch

Whistler Welcome Centre and Settlement

Services

Canada

Invoice Number

2891

Amount Due (CAD)

$278.25

Terms

Thank you for your business, please send payment within 15 days of receiving this invoice.

Date of Issue

10/30/2019

Due Date

10/30/2019

Description Rate Qty Line Total

Website Design
Welcome Whistler Website final amount due +GST

$265.00

Subtotal

GST (5%)
#821030657RT0001

265.00

13.25

Total

Amount Paid

278.25

0.00

Amount Due (CAD) $278.25
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

15,000 7,800 The grant funding was used to support
wage costs of the program.

1,000

7,000

23,000 7,800
34

Thank you for your continued support!
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Sea to Sky Community Services Society 
Whistler Parent Tot
2019

Wages and Benefits

 April - May 12hrs/week 3,477.66           
 June- Novemebr 12hrs/week 3,477.66           
 December - March 12 hrs/week 5,564.26           

 Management 2,633.60           
 Management 2,633.60           

17,786.78         
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For Immediate Release
Nov. 29, 2019

RMOW awards $17,300 in grants to Sea to Sky Community Services

Squamish, British Columbia, Canada – Whistler seniors, immigrants, and parents with 
young children will benefit from $17,300 in grant funding awarded to Sea to Sky 
Community Services (SSCS) by the Resort Municipality of Whistler (RMOW).  

The funding was received as part of the RMOW’s annual Community Enrichment 
Program (CEP), which supports not-for-profit organizations or societies that benefit the 
resort municipality. 

SSCS received $7,800 for its Parent & Tot program, $5,000 for Better at Home, and $4,500 
for the Whistler Multicultural Network. The Parent & Tot program will use the money to 
support staff wages for its drop-in program, which encourages social, emotional and 
cognitive development in children, while offering parents and caregivers a place to 
gain knowledge and support.  Better at Home will use the funding to develop a larger 
client and volunteer base for its seniors outreach programming. The grant will also 
support partnering organizations in Whistler to provide workshops that are designed to 
fit the needs of seniors. The Whistler Multicultural Network will use the grant money to 
support the costs of kitchen equipment, supplies, and honorariums for chefs at its 
Multicultural Community Kitchens. Funds will also be used to help set up a community 
garden, and support additional hours for a Multicultural Outreach Worker. 

“We would like to thank the RMOW for their continued support,” said Jaye Russell, 
Executive Director at SSCS. “Without their Community Enrichment Program, we would 
not be able to provide these much-needed programs and social services to Whistler 
residents.”

This year, Whistler council approved a total of $136,800 in grant funding for 30 
community groups as part of the CEP.

- 30 -
Contact: 
Steven Hill, Communications and Marketing Manager
Sea to Sky Community Services Society
604 892 5796, ext. 279
steven.hill@sscs.ca
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

The Point Artist-Run Centre

S-56503

5-5678 Alta Lake Rd. Whistler, BC V8E 0C3

Stephen Vogler

thepointinfo@gmail.com

$5000

Please see attached summary (The Point-CEP 2019 summary.docx), and financial statement
(The Point 2019 CEP FS ...pdf).

Sundays at The Point has been in existence for nine years.
PARC's Grant Writing Program is in its second year.
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

18,170 Artistic Director
Summer Events Assistant

59,988 Arts workshops, camps, mentorships
performances, etc.

10,121 4,000 Sundays at The Point (kitchen staff,
manager, musicians' fees, graphics)

5000 Rental of The Point Artist-Run Centre
(former hostel)

1,000 1,000 Grant Writing Program (grant writer
and mentor)

94,279 5,000 5.3

Some grant applications are in progress with deadlines early in the new year. Those invoices will be available upon
completion.
SV
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Stephen Vogler, Chair
The Point Artist-Run Centre Society
#5-5678 Alta Lake Road
Whistler, BC V8E 0C3
thepointinfo@gmail.com
www.thepointartists.com

Lisa Bast
Administrative Assistant
Legislative Services
Resort Municipality of Whistler
4325 Blackcomb Way
Whistler, BC V8E 0X5
Email: lbast@whistler.ca

Wednesday, November 27, 2019

Dear Lisa Bast,

The Point Artist-Run Centre (PARC) would like to thank the RMOW for its 2019
Community Enrichment Program grant which supported PARC’s Sundays at The Point 
series as well as a grant writing program.

Eighty percent of this year’s funds ($4000) allowed PARC to continue its Sundays at The 
Point open house series which welcomes the community and visitors to the heritage site 
on Alta Lake every Sunday in the summer. For the ninth consecutive year, guests enjoyed 
live music on the back porch, the Obstacles art show on display in the lodge, arts activities 
for children, and the opportunity to enjoy food and beverages in a family oriented setting.

We believe that the elements included in Sundays at The Point add value to the site, 
enabling visitors to experience the heritage property through the lens of the arts. The mix 
is approximately 50 percent locals and 50 percent visitors, making it a great event for 
locals and tourists to interact. By opening the lodge and having food, refreshments, arts 
activities and entertainment available, we believe that the site will become known as an 
anchor point in a valley-wide cultural tour that is gradually being developed in Whistler.
While café sales were slightly down this year due to a less sunny summer, PARC will 
continue to market the open houses as an all-weather event. The funds from the CEP grant 
were used to pay for kitchen and front-of-house staff, musicians’ fees, and graphic design 
for publicity. Receipts are included in the attached PDF.

Twenty percent of PARC’s CEP grant this year ($1000) was used to fund its grant-writing 
program. As in 2018, PARC has enlisted the services of a grant writer to work with one or 
more in-house administrators to explore new sources of funding for the organization. Last 
year, the program resulted in a first-time Canada Summer Jobs grant (over $3000) and a 
much-increased BC Arts Council grant ($1575 in 2018 to $4000 in 2019). This year’s 
grant writing program has so far resulted in a $900 Member Group Grant from Arts 
Whistler, and is completing other applications over the next two months. The idea behind 
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this program is to build greater capacity in the organization and of course to increase 
funding.

The Point Artist-Run Centre greatly appreciates the commitment of the RMOW in 
supporting PARC’s open house arts programming and in building greater capacity within 
the organization.

Thank you.

Sincerely,

Stephen Vogler, Chair and Artistic Director
The Point Artist-Run Centre Society
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Sundays at The Point 2019 Financial Statement

Expenses
Staff 3480
Musicians 1400

1977
369

Posters, advertising 150
Rent 840
Insurance 250
SOL & tax 346
Program Administration 1250
Total Expenses 10062

Income
Cafe sales 5121
CSJ grant (portion of) 1000
CEP grant 4000
Total Income 10121
Surplus/Deficit 59

PARC Grant Writing Program 2019

Expenses
Grant writer/in house To be invoiced 250
Grant writer/contract To be invoiced 750
Total Expenses 1000

Income
CEP grant 1000
Total Income 1000
Surplus/Deficit 0

Cafe food costs
Cafe alcohol costs
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INVOICE 
 

Date: July 21, 2019 
 

 

  

Whistler, BC  

 
 

To:  The Point Artist-Run Centre 
 5-5678 Alta Lake Rd. 
 Whistler, BC 
 V8E 0C3 

 

Qty. UNIT Description Unit Price Amount 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Live Music 
Performance 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 set of live music at Sunday at The 
Point July 21, 2019 
 
 
 
PAID BY CASH 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Subtotal $150.00 

     

   Total $150.00 
 

 

Thank you, 
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                            Invoice 
 
 
Sold to :  The Point Artist Run Center 
                   5-5678  Alta Lake Rd ,  Whistler BC  
 
From:  Cam Salay    
             BC 
 
Live music   
 
 Sunday Aug 4  / 2019 
 
$ 250.00 
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INVOICE 
 

Date: July 7, 2019 
 

 

  

Whistler, BC  

 

To:  The Point Artist-Run Centre 
 5-5678 Alta Lake Rd. 
 Whistler, BC 
 V8E 0C3 

 

Qty. UNIT Description Unit Price Amount 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Live Music 
Performance 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 sets of live music at Sunday at 
The Point July, 7, 2019 
 
 
 
PAID BY CASH 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$150.00 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Subtotal $150.00 

     

   Total $150.00 
 

 

Thank you, 
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INVOICE 
 

Date: June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

 
 

To:  The Point Artist-Run Centre 
 5-5678 Alta Lake Rd. 
 Whistler, BC 
 V8E 0C3 

 

Qty. UNIT Description Unit Price Amount 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Live Music 
Performance 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 set of live music at Sunday at The 
Point June 30, 2019 
 
 
 
PAID BY CASH 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$150.00 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Subtotal $150.00 

     

   Total $150.00 
 

 

Thank you, 
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INVOICE 
 

Date: September 1, 2019 
 

 

  

C 

  
 
 

To:  The Point Artist-Run Centre 
 5-5678 Alta Lake Rd. 
 Whistler, BC 
 V8E 0C3 

 

Qty. UNIT Description Unit Price Amount 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cooking 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head cook for Sundays at The Point, 
June 30, July 7, 14, 21, August 4,11,18 
and September 1, 2019. 
 
 
PAID BY E-TRANSFER 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$1600.00 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Subtotal $1600.00 

     

   Total $1600.00 
 

 

Thank you, 
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PAPA JOSH MUSIC 

WHISTLER, BC V0N 1B2  
Cell:    
Email: boomerangfarm@gmail.com 

Invoice 
Invoice #047 

Date: July 19, 2019 

 

To: 

The Point Artist-Run 

Centre 

CHEQUES PAYABLE TO: 

 

 

Description  Amount 

PAPA JOSH MUSIC PERFORMANCE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

 

total:  
 
 

  $150.00 
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Receipt

BILL TO RECEIPT #

RECEIPT DATE

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

TOTAL $ 150.00

Terms & Conditions
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Adaptive Sports Program Society

S0049510

Box 708

Chelsey Walker

cwalker@whistleradaptive.com

$8,000

$8,000 was funded to provide needed bursaries to low income Whistler Residents ages 3 and up to access
our sport, therapeutic and recreational programs. Individuals were eligible to apply for up to $1,000 per year
across our four season programming. The bursary covers approximately 30% of the annual Sport Academy
fees for our regular Sport Academy athletes and the athletes pay to remaining 70% of their sport fees out of
their own discretionary income. Bursary recipients must pass a financial means test and are vetted by a three
person Bursary Committee.

Whistler Adaptive has received 10 bursary applications since receiving this CEP grant, totaling $10,000 in
funding requests, from Whistler Residents with physical, sensory and cognitive disabilities. The bursaries will
allow them to participate in the following programs: skiing, snowboarding, alpine race, Nordic, swim, triathlon,
running, strength & conditioning, hiking, biking, canoeing, kayaking, rowing, stand up paddle boarding, yoga
and more.

We anticipate receiving even more applications as we head into our winter season programming.

Existing activity.
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

178919 0 Includes hourly employees

226130

50454 Depreciation expense

2759

13256 8,000 Bursaries

471517 1.7

We don't have receipts to submit with this report as the bursaries are applied as a credit to invoices/programming
delivered to the bursary recipients.

We are seeing individuals who are new to Whistler Adaptive start to apply for bursaries, which increases the reach and
impact provided by this CEP grant, within our community.
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Whistler Adaptive Sports Program Budget for 2019 and Budget 2020

Actual Result Budget
Actual Result 

2019 Budget 
July 31 2018 2019 to July 31 2020

=Items included on the fundraising cashflow tab

General Fundraising 100,621$             110,545$              48,904$              109,588            
RVYC Gala 45,545$               55,545$                43,833 57,588              
Additional Fundraising Efforts 55,076$               15,000$                1,416 15,000              
Cornucopia
Downhill Derelicts 40,000$                3,655 37,000              

Grants 104,288$             151,800$              114,971$           189,089            
Directed Grants 104,288$             6,447$                20,000              
Abercrombie 67,000$                57,983$              70,350              
CFOW 2,000$                   2,500$                2,000                 
WB Foundation 40,000$                16,500              
Other recurring 5,000$                   12,236$              5,000                 

Previously deferred 37,800$                30,805$              70,239              
Kathy + Richard Clarke 5,000$                5,000                 

Donations 33,213$               60,000$                122,341$           120,000            

Corporate sponsorship and charitable contributions 30,964$               45,000$                25,635$              20,000$            
Scotiabank 5,000$                   
Delta Whistler Village Suites 14,150$               5,000$                   16,038$              15,000$            
TELUS 5,000$                   
New Sponsors 16,814$               30,000$                9,597$                5,000$              

Program Revenue 116,383$             117,794$              115,167$           125,745$          
Water Sports (Whistler) 5,831$                 7,307$                   4,641$                8,549$              
Dry-Land Sports (Whistler) & Swimming 8,411$                 8,500$                   11,019$              9,945$              
Nordic Sports 6,882$                 7,570$                   6,319$                8,857$              
Alpine Ski Race, Alpine Competitions, Adaptive SB BX 4,205$                 4,626$                   5,180$                5,412$              
Contract Training & Certification Courses 14,938$               16,432$                11,750$              16,500$            
Other activities and accomodation flow through 13,482$               14,307$                11,008$              15,000$            
Pemberton Programming 200$                     480$                      540$                    565$                  
Whistler Adaptive Ski & Snowboard 52,834$               40,228$                47,208$              42,000$            
Camps 1,940$                 2,570$                   1,890$                3,010$              
Squamish Programming and Fee for Service Agreement 6,250$                 15,000$                15,000$              15,000$            
Equipment Rentals and Hand-cycle Rentals 705$                     776$                      540$                    907$                  

Membership Dues 10,500$               11,840$   12,418$              12,430              

Equipment Sales 800$                      

Interest Income on Reserves 352$                     213$                      4$                        217$                  

Endowment Fund Revenues 1,495$                   2,625                

Misc Revenue 777$                     800$                      239$                    250$                  

Net Funds Received 397,098$             500,288$              442,273$           579,944            

Chelsey Walker 2019-11-27 WASP Approved Budget 2020 final with July 31 results RMOW
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Whistler Adaptive Sports Program Budget for 2019 and Budget 2020

Expenditures and Reserves

Executive Director Comp 53,294$               55,683$                55,665$              72,582$            
Executive Director Compensation 47,554$               49,920$                49,920$              62,400$            
Executive Director Bonus Package
Executive Director Benefits Package, EI and CPP 5,740$                 5,763$                   5,745$                10,182$            

Additional Staffing & Contractors 71,984$               99,813$                123,254$           143,723$          
Sport Program Supervisor 37,573$               49,127$                49,275$              50,640$            
Summer Student Compensation 6,613$                 11,435$                4,477$                11,715$            
Booking Agent 8,920$                 6,177$                   1,303$                10,068$            
Volunteer and Training Coordinator 16,500$            
Additional Program Staff/Contractors as Needed 13,994$               23,737$                61,905$              45,000$            
Bookkeeper 3,546$                 8,000$                   4,574$                8,000$              
Payroll Service Fee 1,338$                 1,338$                   1,721$                1,800$              

Executive Director Expenses 1,961$                 1,750$                   2,594$                3,000$              

Board of Director's Expenses/ Meeting Expenses 287$                     750$                      1,033$                500$                  

AGM Expenses 534$                     700$                      375$                    500$                  

Member appreciation 520$                     2,000$                   3,070$                3,000$              

Bursary 10,424$               $20,000 13,256$              15,000$            

Equipment Maintenance, minor capital spending 5,315$                 8,000$                   7,299$                12,000$            

Uniforms 5,000$                   1,231$                18,000$            

Misc -1 200$                      

Marketing 3,232$                 4,000$                   7,114$                7,500$              

Office Expenses/Supplies 7,233$                 5,000$                   7,424$                5,000$              

Consultation Fees/Audit 3,180$                 3,360$                   3,180$                3,180$              

Training Staff  Volunteer and Board Members -$                      2,000$              

Whistler Athletes Centre Office Rental & Storage 10,770$               3,081$                   2,759$                2,800$              

Jeff Harbers Adaptive Centre Operations/Upkeep/Capital fund 6,198$                 6,200$                   5,820$                6,200$              

Association Memberships 2,500$              

Insurance 34,784$               39,453$                40,665$              40,903$            
Commercial General Liability 23,826$               27,319$                27,419$              28,067$            
Equipment/Facility Insurance 6,772$                 6,822$                   6,922$                7,524$              
D&O Insurance 1,502$                 1,502$                   1,502$                1,502$              
Worksafe BC 2,684$                 3,810$                   4,822$                3,810$              
Participant AD&D and Medical Coverage

Program Expenses 99,543$               118,913$              116,438$           132,150$          
Water Sports (Whistler) 9,343$                 9,343$                   13,125$              10,744$            
Dry-Land Sports (Whistler) & Swimming 9,611$                 10,792$                11,511$              12,410$            
Nordic Sports 6,015$                 6,795$                   7,049$                7,814$              
Contract Training & Certification Courses 17,202$               13,037$                18,843$              14,993$            
Other activities and accomodation flow through 13,071$               14,730$                10,547$              16,940$            
Alpine Race & Competitions, SB X 372$                     2,000$                   179$                    2,300$              
Pemberton Programming 863$                     1,100$                   996$                    1,265$              
Whistler Adaptive Ski & Snowboard 38,018$               40,372$                41,802$              46,428$            
Camps 1,694$                 10,969$                992$                    12,615$            
Squamish Based Programming and Fee for Service 701$                     5,500$                   11$                      6,325$              
Equipment Rentals 536$                     275$                      47$                      316$                  
Program Audit 4,000$                   4,740$                

Fundraising Expenses 28,131$               29,778$                22,352$              25,278              

Bank expenses 3,862$                 3,792$                   4,609$                3,792                

GST Expense 8,008$                 10,596$                3,102$                7,197$              

PST Expense 6,923$                   6,923$              

Endowment Fund Contribution

Total Expenditures 349,259$             424,991$              421,064$           513,726$          

Net Funds Rec'd over Expenditures & Reserves 47,839$               75,296$                21,209$              66,218              
Less - Depreciation 51,008$               51,008$                50,454$              50,454              

Net Funds recognized les  expenses 3,169-$                 24,288$                29,245-$              15,764              Chelsey Walker 2019-11-27 WASP Approved Budget 2020 final with July 31 results RMOW
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Whistler Adaptive Sports Program Budget for 2019 and Budget 2020
51,000              

(37,000)             
(70,239)             
(40,475)             

Capital Purchase Deposits
Purchases: Ski 
Purchases: Summer Equipment
Purchases: Office
Purchases: Summer Equipment

Capital Requests 2020
Purchases: Ski 6,800$              
Purchases: Ski 6,800$              
Purchases: Ski 500$                  
Purchases: Ski 1,500$              
Purchases: Nordic 2,500$              
Purchases: Summer 4,000$              
Purchases: Summer 3,700$              
Purchases: Office 1,000                

26,800$            

For further information contact Chelsey Walker - 604-905-4493

Chelsey Walker 2019-11-27 WASP Approved Budget 2020 final with July 31 results RMOW
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
 and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need  improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Blackcomb Freestyle Ski Club

S0026555

P.O. Box 766, Whistler, BC V0N 1B0

Chris Muir 604-905-8788

chris@freestylewhistler.com

Our grant funding was spent certifying 1 of our long term coaches to obtain their Air level 3 & 4 so that they can safety operate our new Airbag ($1100). We also used the 
remainder of the amount on NCCP Competition Development multi-sport modules for coaches looking at competing their Competition Development  level.

This money helped us achieve our main goal of having all coaches on snow this upcoming winter certified to operate the Airbag.

No

1750

Page 171 of 542



 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown 

Annual Budget 
($) 

Grant 
($) 

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent. 

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount) 

11 

210167.49 0 11 Coaches + 1 Director

61692 1750 Administration, uniforms, equipment,
hosting expenses, professional
development, coach travel costs etc.

0 0

0

N/A

0

0

271859.49 0.6%
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Community Services Society

138203906 RR 0001

P.O. 900, Whistler BC, V0N 1B0

Gizem Kaya, 604-932-0113

gizem@mywcss.org

$5000

N/A
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

22,050 5000 Subsidized Clinical Counsellor fees.

22,050 4.4

Currently, the program is running over budget and the full year is expected to be more expensive than anticipated. In
the first half of fiscal 2019-20 WCSS has approved 69 new applications compared to the total number of applications
being 94 for 2018-19. So far, WCSS actually spent $16,721 and the total expected cost for the year is $34,031. The
program is overbudget due to increased need in the community. We used 71% of our budget in 5 months. The
program managers have investigated the increase in applications and have concluded that this wasn't a result of 100%
subsidies and was a result of increased volume of applicants. Another factor that contributes to this is the long waitlist
to see a counsellor though the provincial health care system. This can sometimes be 2-3 months of a wait.
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Whistler Community Services Society

General Ledger Report 04/01/2019 to 11/07/2019

Sorted by: Transaction Number

Date Comment Source # JE# Debits Credits Balance

04/12/2019 1076 billing#3 J144 130.00 0.00 37,222.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1018 billing#3 J145 130.00 0.00 37,092.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1081 billing#3 J146 195.00 0.00 36,897.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1191 J147 130.00 0.00 36,767.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1192 J148 100.00 0.00 36,667.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1139 billing#2 J149 200.00 0.00 36,467.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1190 J150 130.00 0.00 36,337.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1159 J152 390.00 0.00 35,947.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1170 J153 300.00 0.00 35,647.80 Cr

04/12/2019 1187 J215 255.00 0.00 34,817.50 Cr

05/02/2019 1169 J244 480.00 0.00 33,688.30 Cr

04/23/2019 1201 J259 600.00 0.00 32,276.05 Cr

05/01/2019 1197 J396 200.00 0.00 30,641.85 Cr

05/01/2019 1205 J397 130.00 0.00 30,511.85 Cr

05/01/2019 1196 J398 195.00 0.00 30,316.85 Cr

05/31/2019 1196 billling#2J641 130.00 0.00 35,598.55 Cr

05/31/2019 1197 billing#2 J642 100.00 0.00 35,498.55 Cr

05/31/2019 1205 billing#2 J643 130.00 0.00 35,368.55 Cr

05/10/2019 1152 billing#2 J659 133.25 0.00 34,435.80 Cr

04/30/2019 1158 billing#2 J660 266.50 0.00 34,169.30 Cr

04/30/2019 1146 billing#2 J661 199.88 0.00 33,969.42 Cr

04/30/2019 1171 J662 66.62 0.00 33,902.80 Cr

04/30/2019 1142 J663 66.63 0.00 33,836.17 Cr

05/14/2019 1188 J664 333.13 0.00 33,503.04 Cr

04/30/2019 1204 J665 76.87 0.00 33,426.17 Cr

04/30/2019 1156 billing#2 J666 230.63 0.00 33,195.54 Cr

05/16/2019 1194 J667 600.00 0.00 32,595.54 Cr

05/27/2019 1186 J668 205.00 0.00 32,390.54 Cr

05/27/2019 1182 J669 133.25 0.00 32,257.29 Cr

05/08/2019 1193 J670 133.25 0.00 32,124.04 Cr

05/28/2019 1180 J671 615.00 0.00 31,509.04 Cr

05/27/2019 1185 J672 512.50 0.00 30,996.54 Cr

05/08/2019 1143 billing#2 J673 66.63 0.00 30,929.91 Cr

05/08/2019 1145 billing#2 J674 205.00 0.00 30,724.91 Cr

04/30/2019 1186 J675 133.25 0.00 30,591.66 Cr

06/01/2019 1206 J762 200.00 0.00 30,888.04 Cr

06/01/2019 1164 J763 65.00 0.00 30,823.04 Cr
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06/01/2019 1163 J764 260.00 0.00 30,563.04 Cr

07/02/2019 1221 J1049 240.00 0.00 33,579.81 Cr

07/02/2019 1197 billing#3 J1050 100.00 0.00 33,479.81 Cr

07/02/2019 1224 J1051 130.00 0.00 33,349.81 Cr

07/02/2019 1205 billing#3 J1052 65.00 0.00 33,284.81 Cr

07/11/2019 1207 J1388 100.00 0.00 38,501.29 Cr

07/23/2019 1157 billing#2 J1533 102.50 0.00 23,060.47 Cr

07/23/2019 1233 J1534 133.25 0.00 22,927.22 Cr

07/23/2019 1146 billing#3 J1535 66.62 0.00 22,860.60 Cr

07/23/2019 1222 J1536 102.50 0.00 22,758.10 Cr

07/23/2019 1186 billing#2 J1537 66.63 0.00 22,691.47 Cr

07/23/2019 1204 billing#2 J1538 76.88 0.00 22,614.59 Cr

07/23/2019 1234 J1539 205.00 0.00 22,409.59 Cr

07/23/2019 1232 J1540 102.50 0.00 22,307.09 Cr

07/23/2019 1188 billing#2 J1541 66.63 0.00 22,240.46 Cr

07/23/2019 1162 billing#2 J1542 51.25 0.00 22,189.21 Cr

07/23/2019 1220 J1543 66.62 0.00 22,122.59 Cr

08/01/2019 1197 billing #4J1550 100.00 0.00 22,022.59 Cr

07/31/2019 1196 billng#3 J1551 65.00 0.00 21,957.59 Cr

07/31/2019 1231 J1552 240.00 0.00 21,717.59 Cr

07/31/2019 1221 billing #2J1553 160.00 0.00 21,557.59 Cr

07/31/2019 1224 billing#2 J1554 130.00 0.00 21,427.59 Cr

07/23/2019 1228 J1571 235.75 0.00 21,191.84 Cr

09/07/2019 1254 J1970 195.00 0.00 26,080.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1191 billing#2 J1971 260.00 0.00 25,820.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1192 billing#2 J1972 400.00 0.00 25,420.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1203 J1973 325.00 0.00 25,095.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1088 billing#2 J1974 195.00 0.00 24,900.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1223 J1975 195.00 0.00 24,705.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1218 J1976 65.00 0.00 24,640.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1219 J1977 130.00 0.00 24,510.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1209 J1978 180.00 0.00 24,330.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1125 billing#2 J1979 200.00 0.00 24,130.50 Cr

09/07/2019 1225 J1980 300.00 0.00 23,830.50 Cr

08/29/2019 1231 billing#2 J2021 120.00 0.00 23,235.59 Cr

08/29/2019 1221 billing#3 J2022 80.00 0.00 23,155.59 Cr

08/29/2019 1224 billing#3 J2023 65.00 0.00 23,090.59 Cr

10/02/2019 1235 J2309 205.00 0.00 22,461.09 Cr

10/02/2019 1236 J2310 133.25 0.00 22,327.84 Cr

10/02/2019 1142 #2 J2311 66.63 0.00 22,261.21 Cr
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10/02/2019 1204 #3 J2312 76.87 0.00 22,184.34 Cr

10/02/2019 1162 #3 J2313 205.00 0.00 21,979.34 Cr

10/02/2019 1157 #3 J2314 102.50 0.00 21,876.84 Cr

10/02/2019 1234 #2 J2315 102.50 0.00 21,774.34 Cr

10/02/2019 1220 #2 J2316 133.25 0.00 21,641.09 Cr

10/02/2019 1233 #2 J2317 66.62 0.00 21,574.47 Cr

10/02/2019 1249 J2318 199.87 0.00 21,374.60 Cr

10/02/2019 1228 #2 J2319 133.25 0.00 21,241.35 Cr

10/02/2019 1263 J2320 205.00 0.00 21,036.35 Cr

10/02/2019 1258 J2321 133.25 0.00 20,903.10 Cr

10/08/2019 1018 #2 J2342 65.00 0.00 20,288.85 Cr

10/10/2019 1189 J2664 600.00 0.00 23,538.47 Cr

10/01/2019 1197 Billing #5J2735 100.00 0.00 22,930.55 Cr

10/31/2019 1267 J2736 200.00 0.00 22,730.55 Cr

10/31/2019 1265 J2737 120.00 0.00 22,610.55 Cr

10/31/2019 1255 J2738 130.00 0.00 22,480.55 Cr

16,721.51 0.00 
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Learning Centre

Society #: S-64840, Charitable #: 796454122 RR0001

PO Box 1475, Whistler, BC V0N 1B0

Suki Cheyne, Executive Director

contact@whistlerlearningcentre.com

$5,000

The CEP Grant of $5,000 was spent on the salary of the sole member of staff who manages the
operations of the WLC. The ED undertook the following activities to support the 2019 CEP grant
goals:
- Launch a speaker series: business plan developed in spring with first event delivered on November
23 on subject of Electric Vehicles, next event due to take place Feb/Mar 2020 on subject of
Autonomous Vehicles.
- Launch an Indigenous cultural awareness course for employers: Course research concluded July,
curriculum development commenced August, pilot course ready spring 2020.
- Deliver 1st year Business and Leadership courses: Three BCIT courses delivered in fall to local
residents, 2020 community needs survey currently underway to inform 2020 programming.
- Continue to deliver a concierge service and host post secondary courses in Whistler: UNBC Danger
Tree Assessor courses delivered in spring and fall, as well as Chainsaw Handling & Safety Course in
spring, WLC concierge services utilized to deliver local workshops through independent instructors.

The WLC is a somewhat new entity that is building a strong foundation for life long learning for the
benefit of the Whistler community. The growth and delivery of its activities and programs is directly
linked to resources. The 2019 grant contributed to the development of the new 2019 programs and
offerings outlined above; these programs will continue to grow and evolve to meet the changing
needs of the community as funding allows.
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

72,000 5,000 $23,509 spent to date on wages (5
months into financial year)

23,650

5,000

NA

NA

5040

105,690 5,000
4.7

The WLC Executive Director activities in 2019 are contributing to the Whistler community in the following ways:
exposure to new ideas from global thought leaders, developing stronger relationships between Lil'wat and Whistler
communities, creating professional development opportunities for local workforce that increase staff retention, remove
travel & time cost barriers to post-secondary education, provide access to accredited education without leaving home,
family, or job, that develop the local workforce. The WLC is grateful for the CEP grant which is enriching the local
community by supporting the development of these new life long learning opportunities. Thank you.
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Payroll Deductions Online Calculator

Result

Employee's name:

Employer's name:

Pay period frequency:

Date the employee is paid:

Province of employment:

Federal amount from TD1:

Provincial amount from TD1:

Salary or wages income

Total cash income

Taxable income for the pay period

Pensionable earnings for the pay period

Insurable earnings for the pay period

Federal tax deduction

Provincial tax deduction

Total tax deductions

CPP deductions

EI deductions

Total deductions

Net amount

Year-to-Date Amounts Inputted Value Total for this Record

Pensionable earnings

CPP contributions

Insurable earnings

EI premiums

Employer Remittance Summary

Employee's name:

Date the employee is paid:

Employee CPP contributions

Employer CPP contributions

Subtotal of Canada Pension Plan (CPP)

Employee EI contributions

Employer EI contributions

Subtotal of Employment Insurance (EI)

Tax deductions

For this calculation, remit this amount

The printed calculations created by PDOC are not intended to be used as a statement of earnings. Please contact
your employment standards representative for all of the information legally required on a statement of earnings specific
to your province or territory.

Suki Cheyne-(EE & ER)-PDOC-Date paid-2019-07-31.pdf

Created by the Payroll Deductions Online Calculator Page 1 of 1 Saved on 2019-07-16
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Payroll Deductions Online Calculator

Result

Employee's name:

Employer's name:

Pay period frequency:

Date the employee is paid:

Province of employment:

Federal amount from TD1:

Provincial amount from TD1:

Salary or wages income

Total cash income

Taxable income for the pay period

Pensionable earnings for the pay period

Insurable earnings for the pay period

Federal tax deduction

Provincial tax deduction

Total tax deductions

CPP deductions

EI deductions

Total deductions

Net amount

Year-to-Date Amounts Inputted Value Total for this Record

Pensionable earnings

CPP contributions

Insurable earnings

EI premiums

Employer Remittance Summary

Employee's name:

Date the employee is paid:

Employee CPP contributions

Employer CPP contributions

Subtotal of Canada Pension Plan (CPP)

Employee EI contributions

Employer EI contributions

Subtotal of Employment Insurance (EI)

Tax deductions

For this calculation, remit this amount

The printed calculations created by PDOC are not intended to be used as a statement of earnings. Please contact
your employment standards representative for all of the information legally required on a statement of earnings specific
to your province or territory.

Suki Cheyne-(EE & ER)-PDOC-Date paid-2019-08-31.pdf

Created by the Payroll Deductions Online Calculator Page 1 of 1 Saved on 2019-07-16
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Mountain Ski Club

S-8101

2028 Rob Boyd Way, Whistler, BC, V8E 0B6

Mark Tilston, Executive Director

marktilston@wmsc.info

$3,125

The grant monies were spent as a part of the cost of a 7-day Coaches Symposium from December 3 to 9th to
develop critical skills that will count for the Entry Level and Development Level certification with NCCP for all our
coaches. The courses delivered were:
Prevention & Recovery
Making Ethical Decisions
Leading drug free sport
Developing Athletic Ability
Coaching & Leading effectively
Psychology of Performance
Mentorship
Design a Basic Program
Managing conflict
Basic Mental Skills
Fundamental Movement Skills

No, it is an ongoing priority to hire and develop the most qualified coaches possible to deliver the
WMSC programme and as a part of this priority we provide continual professional development
opportunities at the onset of each season.
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

$672,505 $3,125 $6,992.57 was spent on the week long
coaches symposium

672,505 $3,125
0.46%
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Alpine Coaches Summit Schedule and Prices:  11 Courses 8 Days
Date Time Course Hrs. Hrly rate Fee Facilitator
Sun. Nov. 3 9am – 6pm Prevention & Recovery 7.33
Mon. Nov. 4 9:00 – 12:30 MED 4
Mon. Nov. 4 2:00 – 6:00 Leading drug free sport 4
Tues. Nov. 5 8:30 – 6:00 DAA 9.5
Wed. Nov. 6 8:30 – 6:00 Coaching & Leading 9.5
Thurs. Nov. 7 9:00 – 5:00           Psychology of Perform. 8
Fri. Nov. 8 9:00 – 4:00 Mentorship 7.5
Sat. Nov. 9 8:30 – 1:00 Design a Basic Program 3.5
Sat. Nov. 9 2:00 – 7:00 Managing conflict 5
Sun. Nov. 10 9:00 – 1:00 Basic Mental Skills 4
Sun. Nov. 10 2:00 – 6:00 FMS 4

TOTAL FACILITATOR FEE 66.33 $68.77 $4,583.27
Other Expenses Volume Unit Price Total
Travel 256 0.6$         140.80$         

250 0.6$         137.50$         
Accomodation 3 40.0$       120.00$         
Food Honorarium 2 10.0$       20.00$           
Manuals Digital 110 10.0$       1,100.00$      Based on 10 copies
Workbooks Garabaldi Graphic 99 9.0$    891.00$         Based on 10 copies
Lunch 88 15 1,320.00$      
Snacks / Coffee 88 10 880.00$         

Total Other Expenses 4,609.30$      
Other expenses ph 69.49$           

$9,192.57
SAVINGS
Admin & Coodination Time (HRS) 15 30.00$     450.00$         meetings, finding LF's, schedueling, liase with viaSport and updating the locker
Local LF's 3 250.00$   750.00$         No travel expenses
Room Rental 8 -$         -$                full days
Discounted Accomodation 3 40.00$     120.00$         

1,320.00$      

Grand Total Expenses w/ food
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Financial Statements of

WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB

And Independent Auditors’ Report thereon

Year ended April 30, 2019
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KPMG LLP
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3
Canada
Telephone (604) 691-3000
Fax (604) 691-3031

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
Member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of Whistler Mountain Ski Club

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Whistler Mountain Ski Club (the Entity), which 

comprise:

the statements of financial position as at April 30, 2019

the statement of operations for the year then ended

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for 

Qualified Opinion section of our auditors’ report, the financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the Entity as at April 30, 2019, and its results of 

operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 

accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Qualified Opinion
In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the Entity derives revenue from 

fundraising activities, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit 

verification. Accordingly, verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded 

in the records of the Entity. Therefore, we were not able to determine whether, as at and for 

the years ended April 30, 2019 and 2018, any adjustments might be necessary to revenues 

and excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses reported in the statements of 

operations, excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses reported in the statements of 

cash flows and current assets and unrestricted net assets reported in the statements of 

financial position. Our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2018 

was qualified accordingly because of the possible effects of this limitation in scope.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our 

auditors' report.
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We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance
for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 

intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 

so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 

as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Societies Act (British Columbia), we report that, in our opinion, the 

accounting policies applied by the Entity in preparing and presenting the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding period.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, Canada
September 21, 2019

Page 220 of 542



1

WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Statement of Financial Position

April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Assets

Current assets:
Cash (note 3) $ 337,796 $ 567,046
Restricted cash (note 3) 9,248 9,754
Accounts receivable 94,264 139,458
Due from government agencies - 5,267
Inventory 40,463 42,222
Prepaid expenses 46,122 26,343

527,893 790,090

Capital assets (note 4) 728,225 746,485

$ 1,256,118 $ 1,536,575

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 160,092 $ 404,043
Deferred revenue 20,417 7,000
Due to government agencies 18,624 -

199,133 411,043

Net assets:
Bursaries fund 5,235 5,740
Net capital contributed 319,511 369,293
Invested in capital assets 728,225 746,485
Sports school fund 4,014 4,014

1,056,985 1,125,532

$ 1,256,118 $ 1,536,575

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

______________________________ Director Director
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Statement of Operations

Year ended April 30, 2019 with comparative information for 2018

Net Invested
Bursaries capital in capital

2019 Unrestricted fund contributed assets Total

Revenue:
Club cabin (schedule 1) $ 45,714 $ - $ - $ - $ 45,714
Fundraising (schedule 2) 201,449 - 98,946 - 300,395
Race program (schedule 3) 1,766,288 - - - 1,766,288
Whistler Cup (schedule 4) 414,031 - - - 414,031
Memberships 29,378 - - - 29,378
Miscellaneous 4,783 - - - 4,783
D.M. National Training

Centre (note 7) 19,400 - - - 19,400

2,481,043 - 98,946 - 2,579,989

Expenses:
Club cabin (schedule 1) 75,857 - - - 75,857
Fundraising (schedule 2) 51,667 - - - 51,667
Race program (schedule 3) 1,820,434 - - - 1,820,434
Whistler Cup (schedule 4) 410,835 - - - 410,835
Administrative (schedule 5) 196,400 10,400 - - 206,800
D.M. National Training

Centre (note 7) 3,991 - - - 3,991
Amortization - - - 78,952 78,952

2,559,184 10,400 - 78,952 2,648,536

Excess (deficiency) of
revenue over expenses $ (78,141) $ (10,400) $ 98,946 $ (78,952) $ (68,547)

Net Invested
Bursaries capital in capital

2018 Unrestricted fund contributed assets Total

Revenue:
Club cabin (schedule 1) $ 45,506 $ - $ - $ - $ 45,506
Fundraising (schedule 2) 165,391 - 101,071 - 266,462
Race program (schedule 3) 1,679,603 - - - 1,679,603
Whistler Cup (schedule 4) 453,164 - - - 453,164
Memberships 22,523 - - - 22,523
Miscellaneous 4,361 - - - 4,361
D.M. National Training

Centre (note 7) 24,586 - - - 24,586

2,395,134 - 101,071 - 2,496,205

Expenses:
Club cabin (schedule 1) 55,535 - - - 55,535
Fundraising (schedule 2) 42,803 - - - 42,803
Race program (schedule 3) 1,706,347 - - - 1,706,347
Whistler Cup (schedule 4) 480,016 - - - 480,016
Administrative (schedule 5) 125,077 8,700 - - 133,777
D.M. National Training

Centre (note 7) 11,079 - - - 11,079
Amortization - - - 69,000 69,000

2,420,857 8,700 - 69,000 2,498,557

Excess (deficiency) of
revenue over expenses $ (25,723) $ (8,700) $ 101,071 $ (69,000) $ (2,352)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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3

WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended April 30, 2019 with comparative information for 2018

Net Invested Sports
Bursaries capital in capital school

2019 Unrestricted fund contributed assets fund Total

Net assets, beginning of year $ - $ 5,740 $ 369,293 $ 746,485 $ 4,014 $ 1,125,532

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenue over expenditures (78,141) (10,400) 98,946 (78,952) - (68,547)

Interfund transfers:
Purchases of capital assets - - (60,692) 60,692 - -
Transfer to eliminate deficit 78,141 - (78,141) - - -
Bursary transfer - 9,895 (9,895) - - -

78,141 9,895 (148,728) 60,692 - -

Net assets, end of year $ - $ 5,235 $ 319,511 $ 728,225 $ 4,014 $ 1,056,985

Net Invested Sports
Bursaries capital in capital school

2018 Unrestricted fund contributed assets fund Total

Net assets, beginning of year $ - $ 4,545 $ 380,272 $ 739,053 $ 4,014 $ 1,127,884

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenue over expenditures (25,723) (8,700) 101,071 (69,000) - (2,352)

Interfund transfers:
Purchases of capital assets - - (76,432) 76,432 - -
Transfer to eliminate deficit 25,723 - (25,723) - - -
Bursary transfer - 9,895 (9,895) - - -

25,723 9,895 (112,050) 76,432 - -

Net assets, end of year $ - $ 5,740 $ 369,293 $ 746,485 $ 4,014 $ 1,125,532

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:
Receipts from members, students and rentals $ 2,318,199 $ 2,248,694
Receipts from fundraising efforts 320,401 378,883
Bursaries paid in the year (10,400) (8,700)
Expenditures to vendors and employees (2,745,597) (2,132,662)
Expenditures for fundraising (51,667) (42,803)

(169,064) 443,412

Investing:
Purchase of capital assets (60,692) (76,432)

Increase (decrease) in cash (229,756) 366,980

Cash, beginning of year 576,800 209,820

Cash, end of year $ 347,044 $ 576,800

Cash is comprised of:
Cash $ 337,796 $ 567,046
Restricted cash 9,248 9,754

$ 347,044 $ 576,800

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended April 30, 2019

5

1. Nature of operations:

Whistler Mountain Ski Club (the “Club”) is incorporated under the Societies Act (British 

Columbia). On November 28, 2016, the new Societies Act (British Columbia) became effective

and the Club has transitioned to the new act as of April 30, 2018. The Club was established in 

1968 for the purpose of fostering an interest in the sport of skiing. Its current mission is to provide 

world-class racing and training opportunities for alpine skiers. The operations of the Club are to 

be chiefly carried on in the Whistler Mountain area in the Province of British Columbia.

The Club is non-taxable under the Income Tax Act as a non-profit organization.

2. Significant accounting policies:

(a) Basis of presentation:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting 

standards for not-for-profit organizations (“Accounting Standards for NPO’s”).

(b) Fund accounting:

The resources and operations of the Club have been segregated for accounting purposes 

into the following funds:

The bursaries fund is used to provide economic help to athletes in the programs. Each 

year, 10% of the grant received in the net capital contributed fund has been designated

by the Board of Directors to be transferred to the bursaries fund.

The sports school fund is funding restricted for the development of a new sports school 

program.

The net capital contributed fund accounts for the net funds contributed to date through a 

corporate sponsorship program. These funds have been internally restricted by the Board 

of Directors for purchases of capital assets or other expenditures as approved by the 

Club’s Board of Directors. 10% of the grant received in the year is transferred to the 

bursaries fund.

The invested in capital assets fund accounts for the net investment by the Club in its current 

capital assets.

The unrestricted net assets represent the cumulative results of general operations over the 

lifetime of the Club, net of any interfund transfers.

(c) Revenue recognition:

The Club follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

Unrestricted contributions from fundraising, sales, memberships, and sponsorships are 

recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable, if the amount to be received can be 

reasonably established and collection is reasonably assured.

All other restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund

upon receipt.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended April 30, 2019

6

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue, if any, represents funds received as prepayment toward future training.

(e) Capital assets:

Capital assets are recorded at cost. The Club records amortization on its assets over the

estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Asset Basis Rate

Furniture and equipment Straight-line 5 year
Vehicles Straight-line 3 year
Computer equipment Declining balance 30%
Building and improvements Declining balance 4% - 20%

The carrying amount of a capital asset is tested for recoverability whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 

impairment loss is recognized when the asset’s carrying amount is not recoverable and 

exceeds its fair value.

(f) Financial instruments:

Financial instruments are measured at fair value on origination or acquisition, adjusted by, in 

the case of financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value, 

financing fees and transaction costs, which are amortized using the straight-line method. All 

other transaction costs are recognized in operations in the year incurred. All financial 

instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized cost.

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis at year-end if there is an 

indicator of impairment. If there is an indicator of impairment, the Club determines if there is a 

significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows from the 

financial asset. If there has been a significant adverse change, the carrying value of the 

financial asset is reduced to the greater of the present value of expected cash flows, the 

amount that could be realized by selling the asset, and the amount that could be realized by

exercising its right to any collateral. If events and circumstances reverse in a future period, an 

impairment loss will be reversed to the extent of the impairment, not exceeding the initial 

carrying value.

(g) Contributed services:

Volunteers contribute significant time each year to assist in carrying out the Club’s activities.

Due to the difficulty of determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in 

the financial statements.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended April 30, 2019

7

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(h) Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 

those estimates. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to 

revenue recognition and the determination of useful lives of capital assets for calculating 

amortization.

(i) Related party transactions:

Monetary related party transactions and non-monetary related party transactions that have 

commercial substance are measured at the exchange amount when they are in the normal 

course of business, except when the transaction is an exchange of a product or property held 

for sale in the normal course of operations. Where the transaction is not in the normal course 

of operations, it is measured at the exchange amount when there is a substantive change in 

the ownership of the item transferred and there is independent evidence of the exchange 

amount.

All other related party transactions are measured at the carrying amount. 

(j) Comparative information: 

Certain of the information presented for comparative purposes has been reclassified to 

conform to the financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.

3. Cash and restricted cash:

2019 2018

Cash - general and capital funds $ 347,044 $ 576,800

Less restricted cash:
Sports school fund 4,014 4,014
Bursary fund 5,234 5,740

9,248 9,754

$ 337,796 $ 567,046

The Club has a line of credit of up to $50,000 that is secured by a general security agreement 

over all assets of the Club. The Club has not drawn on this line of credit.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended April 30, 2019

8

4. Capital assets:

Accumulated Net book
2019 Cost amortization value

Building and improvements $ 1,295,320 $ 642,610 $ 652,710
Furniture and equipment 290,926 239,092 51,834
Computer equipment 19,328 12,667 6,661
Vehicles 98,889 81,869 17,020

$ 1,704,463 $ 976,238 $ 728,225

Accumulated Net book
2018 Cost amortization value

Building and improvements $ 1,280,604 $ 614,324 $ 666,280
Furniture and equipment 259,318 211,271 48,047
Computer equipment 18,433 10,942 7,491
Vehicles 85,416 60,749 24,667

$ 1,643,771 $ 897,286 $ 746,485

5. Economic dependence:

The Club is economically dependent on Whistler Blackcomb for its operations.

Whistler Blackcomb owns the mountain on which the Club runs its athlete training and races. All 

athletes are required to have a ski pass from Whistler Blackcomb, but no further amounts are 

charged to the Club for use of the mountain.

6. Financial risks:

It is management’s opinion that the Club is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit 

risks arising from its financial instruments.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Club will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely basis or at a 

reasonable cost. The Club manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating requirements.

There has been no change to the risk exposures from 2018.
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended April 30, 2019

9

7. Related party transactions:

In 2012, the Dave Murray National Training Centre Society (the “Society”), previously known as 

the Legacy Training Centre, was incorporated to develop, fund, establish and manage a training 

facility in Whistler, B.C. The Society is a not-for-profit organization and accordingly is not taxable 

under the Income Tax Act.

The Club has significant representation on the Board of the Society. The Club also entered into 

an agreement on March 22, 2012 to manage the operations of the Society. Given the 

aforementioned relationships, the Club has significant influence over the operations of the 

Society.

8. Remuneration:

For the fiscal year ending April 30, 2019, the Whistler Mountain Ski Club paid remuneration of 

$75,000 or greater to the following employees for services:

Employee position/Contractor service Amount

Executive director1 $ 114,162
Marketing and sponsorship advisor/Assistant coach2 92,649

1 includes salary and bonus
2 includes salary and commission

No amounts were paid to the Board of Directors during the year.
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10

WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Club Cabin - Schedule of Operations Schedule 1

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Revenues:
Club cabin rental, including monthly suite,

gym and hourly meeting room rentals $ 45,714 $ 45,406

Expenses:
Insurance 9,013 7,969
Maintenance and repairs 42,814 23,219
Supplies 2,165 1,776
Utilities and other 21,865 22,571

75,857 55,535

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (30,143) $ (10,129)

Fundraising - Schedule of Operations Schedule 2

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Revenues:
Sponsorship $ 57,500 $ 62,500
Donations 9,434 1,045
Gaming grant 28,000 28,000
Grants, sponsorship 98,946 101,071
Grants, other 3,125 -
Fundraising events 46,331 18,021
Ski swap - Whistler 55,618 54,147
Socials 1,441 1,678

300,395 266,462

Expenses:
Sponsorship 25,049 31,467
Fundraising events expense 16,575 1,292
Ski swap - Whistler 7,517 7,483
Socials 2,526 2,561

51,667 42,803

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 248,728 $ 223,659
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11

WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Race Program - Schedule of Operations Schedule 3

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Revenues:
Fundraising - National Sport Trust Fund $ 241,344 $ 300,214
Alpine assessments 45,882 40,339
Awards ceremony 7,250 8,130
FIS races Whistler 22,509 22,207
Clothing 29,148 31,694
Dryland 17,970 11,506
Extra day fees 100,675 90,788
Program fees 373,168 307,354
Races at Whistler 28,133 32,796
Trips, races and camps away 481,158 428,391
Summer and other training camps 393,647 366,766
Visiting racer fees 25,404 39,418

1,766,288 1,679,603

Expenses:
Alpine 96,787 77,426
Clothing 22,013 24,100
Coaches appreciation 14,099 13,548
Coaching wages and expenses 735,081 713,662
Executive director's contract 114,162 93,043
Professional development 8,939 7,315
Equipment repair 987 1,601
Dry land 6,771 5,154
Trips, races, and camps away 444,105 407,808
Racing, Whistler 23,540 29,585
Racing, FIS 18,911 17,234
Summer camps 295,734 281,872
Vehicles 29,115 22,850
Other 10,190 11,149

1,820,434 1,706,347

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (54,146) $ (26,744)
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WHISTLER MOUNTAIN SKI CLUB
Whistler Cup - Schedule of Operations Schedule 4

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Revenues:
Entry fees and other $ 239,158 $ 240,539
Grant 12,500 -
Merchandise sales 11,881 23,392
Sponsorship 150,492 189,233

414,031 453,164

Expenses:
Advertising and promotion 71,152 74,933
Team costs 75,751 82,465
Off hill animation 10,418 13,175
Merchandise expense 17,524 16,207
Contract wages 35,927 57,909
On-hill operations 63,544 83,477
Food and beverage 136,519 151,850

410,835 480,016

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ 3,196 $ (26,852)

Administrative Expenses Schedule 5

Year ended April 30, 2019, with comparative information for 2018

2019 2018

Administrative expenses:
Accounting and legal $ 14,774 $ 15,330
Administrative services 123,810 66,969
Advertising and promotion 11,287 6,348
Bad debt expense 151 5,243
Bank charges and interest 17,931 8,463
Bursaries and sponsorships 10,400 8,700
Meetings 5,619 4,726
Miscellaneous 645 685
Office 19,087 15,527
Telephone 3,096 1,786

Total administrative expenses $ 206,800 $ 133,777
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Naturalists

S0040150

Box 845 Whistler BC V0N 1B0

Kristina Swerhun & Bob Brett

whistlernaturalists@gmail.com

$9,475

The mission of the Whistler Naturalists is to increase local knowledge of and appreciation for the natural world in the Whistler area. When
people know more about nature, they are much more likely to care for nature. The goals of our three programs are: a) public education, and
b) scientific research.

Our annual BioBlitz and Fungus Among Us events fulfill both these goals because they:

a) Provide opportunities for the public to learn about Whistler’s natural history and increase the connection people feel to the natural world.
This benefits our entire community since connection to nature inspires stewardship. Both events had scientists visiting local classes and
had public events available for the entire community. Our main emphasis over the past few years for BioBlitz and Fungus Among Us has
been to increase our presence in local schools and this past year has been our best. Our scientists presented to more classes than ever
before (50) which means approximately 1,000 students learned more about local nature. We plan to expand this program even more in
2020.

b) Generate scientific data that provides up-to-date natural areas information that act as a tremendous benefit in the development of greater
environmental awareness and, as a scientifically-defensible baseline for use in planning decisions and policy development.

For both these events the majority of funds go towards providing room, board, recognition and some travel expenses to our visiting
scientists, many the top experts in their field in BC. Our organizing team is also made of volunteers and no funds went towards salaries.

No
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 Community Enrichment Program – Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

0

38,152 9,475 Meals, accommodation, recognition,
travel, promotion, supplies, admin

0

0

667 Insurance for Alpha Lake Park (BB),
Myrtle Philip rental (FAU)

0

137,589 In kind

181,320 9,475
5

Thank you for your continued support!
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Whistler Naturalists Financials Year end October 31, 2019

Revenue  BioBlitz  Fungus 
Among Us  Birding  Glacier 

Studies 
 Admin     

(3% grants) 
Community Foundation of Whistler 30,000      19,400      5,335        1,940      2,425       900              
Resort Municipality of Whistler 9,475         5,796         3,395        284              
Earned 4,874         39              4,835        
Memberships 330            330              

Organization's Contributions:
In-kind labor 124,513    90,520      20,493      10,000    1,000       2,500           
In-kind materials and other 13,075      8,850         2,225        1,000      500          500              

Total Revenue 182,268$  124,605$  36,283$    12,940$  3,925$     4,514$         

Expenditure Description

Rentals Facility/equipment 667            55              612            
Meals For scientists 4,718         2,753         1,697        267          
Accommodation For scientists 11,545      11,351      3,734        194          
Promotion 510            510            - 
Recognition e.g. T-shirts 1,992         1,992         1,178        
Honoraria/travel expenses For scientists 15,239      7,206         5,583        200          2,250       
Supplies 1,323         135            94              1,094      
Photography/videography 973            763            210            
Project management AWARE 825            600            165            60            
Admin 684            684              
BC Nature Dues 345            345              

Organization's Contributions:
In-kind labour 124,513    90,520      20,493      10,000    1,000       2,500           
In Kind materials & other 13,075      8,850         2,225        1,000      500          500              

Total Expenditure 181,320$  124,734$  35,991$    12,815$  3,750$     4,029$         
NET 948$          (129)$        292$         125$       175$        485$            
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INVOICE: E08750
2019-06-14

Client/Organization
Julie Burrows

Telephone Event Date
2019-06-09 (Sun)

Event #
E08750

Address Booking Contact
Julie Burrows

Booking Email Sales Rep
Hana

City, St/Prov Postal
Whistler, BC V0N1B1

vegan chili - $195.0013
baguette  $65.0013

Heating Fee  $75.001
Plates and Cutlery: Biodegradable  $75.0050

Basic Delivery $29.001
refund $60   @ -$60.00 -$60.001

Food Beverage Liquor Equipment Labor Delivery Otherunter Gather Total
Subtotal $200.00 $0.00 $0.00 $75.00 $0.00 $104.00 $0.00 $0.00 $379.00
Taxes $13.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3.75 $0.00 $5.20 $0.00 $0.00 $21.95

$213.00 $0.00 $0.00 $78.75 $0.00 $109.20 $0.00Total $0.00 $400.95

Paid $400.95
Balance $0.00

Tax Breakdown
GST $21.95
Total $21.95

PAYMENTS MADE
Payment Date Method Card Number
$460.95 2019-06-07 Visa
-$60.00 2019-06-13

Thank you for your business. 
Please note that all menu items are prepared in a kitchen that uses tree nuts, dairy, eggs, soy, wheat and 

shellfish.
5% GST has been added to all items and a 18% service charge where applicable (liquor will be charged a 10% 

PST and 5%
GST).

GST# 863404158
PST# 1012-2990

2019-06-14 - 2:41:05 PM Page 1 of 1
4-1345 Alpha Lake Road Whistler BC V8E0J1

Telephone: (604) 938-8835      Fax: (604) 938-8814
www.whistlercooks.com cater@whistlercooks.com
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Bob - BioBlitz 2019 expenses 
 

 
CFOW Group Date Amount GST Description 
Meals 2019-06-05 63.63 2.75 Wine for welcome reception 
Meals 2019-06-06 280.18 10.75 Dusty's dinner for school presenters 
Meals 2019-06-07 72.86 2.90 Southside Deli breakfast for school presenters 
Meals 2019-06-07 5.93 0.25 Alpine Café - coffee with Kevin Bell 
Meals 2019-06-07 40.83 1.77 lunch for school presenters 
Other 2019-06-07 150.22 0.00 site recon, schools, event (259 km) 
Other 2019-06-13 33.20 1.58 mail shirts, cheques, insect samples 

  646.85 20.00  
     
Meals Total  463.43 18.42  
Other Total  183.42 1.58  
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 Total $31.62 + 1.58 = $33.20. 
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SStark ART

#19 1400 Park Street
Pemberton BC  V0N 2L1
vanessastarkart@gmail.com
vanessastarkart.com

INVOICE
INVOICE TO

Whistler Naturalists

INVOICE # 1058
DATE 05-06-2019

DUE DATE 20-06-2019
TERMS Net 15

  

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

T-shirt and poster design
Design for the Whistler Pemberton BioBlitz 2019

 

Great working with you guys again!

Feel free to pay by card, through e -transfer, Paypal or cheque.

Thanks again!

SUBTOTAL
DISCOUNT  20%
TOTAL 450.40
BALANCE DUE $450.40
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Page 1 of 9 
 

Client initial _____ 

 
SALES AGREEMENT 

 

Effective Date of Agreement: Tuesday, May-21-2019 
Contract Due Date: Wednesday, May-22-2019 

 

CLIENT INFORMATION WHISTLER BLACKCOMB INFORMATION 

Name: 

(“Client”) 

 

 

 

Snowline Research  Name: 

(“Whistler 

Blackcomb”) 

 

 

Whistler Mountain Resort Limited Partnership 

and Blackcomb Skiing Enterprises Limited 

Partnership, each by its general partner, Whistler 

Blackcomb Holdings Inc. 

Contact Name: 

Contact Title: 

Bob Brett  Contact Name: 

Contact Title: 

Jon Urpens 

Sales Manager 

Address: 

 

PO Box 845 

Whistler, British Columbia, V0N 1B0 

Canada 

Address: 

 

Suite 329 – 2055 Lake Placid Road 

Whistler, British Columbia, V8E 0B6 

Canada 

Phone No.:  Phone No.: (604) 905-3007 

Fax No.: Fax No.: (604) 932-1844 

Email: bob@snowlinereasearch.ca Email: jeurpens@vailresorts.com 

 

DATE OF EVENT(S): 

 Wednesday, June 5, 2019 – Monday, June 10, 2019  

(or such other date(s) as may be agreed in writing between the 
parties) 

TERM:  From Effective Date to Monday, June 10, 2019  

AUTHORIZATION 

This Agreement is between Whistler Blackcomb and the Client.  By signing below, the Client acknowledges and confirms that they have read 

and understand this Agreement, and understand it includes limitations of liability. 

Client 

 

 

 
Signature 
Printed Name: Bob Brett 

Title:  

Date: 

Whistler Mountain Resort Limited Partnership 
by its General Partner, Whistler Blackcomb Holdings Inc. 
 

 
Signature of Authorized Customer Representative 
Printed Name: Elanor Bushfield  

 

Blackcomb Skiing Enterprises Limited Partnership  

by its General Partner, Whistler Blackcomb Holdings Inc. 
 

 
Signature of Authorized Customer Representative 
Printed Name:  Elanor Bushfield 

 

Title:  Director of Sales 

Date:  
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Page 3 of 9 
 

Client initial _____ 

Occupancy: 

Children 18 and under are complimentary when sharing a room with their parent/legal guardian. Maximum occupancy for each 

room is listed above. An additional charge of $25.00 for each extra adult in the room over the base occupancy will be applied 

per night. 

Lodging Accommodation – Rules and Requirements: 

Client will comply with the Lodging Ovations Rules and Requirements, which are attached to this Agreement and which form 

an integral part of this Agreement. The Client will ensure that all guests staying in Reserved Rooms comply with the Lodging 

Ovations Rules and Requirements. 

Other Facility and Service Fees: 

Check In/Out 

Please note: Guest are to check in/out at Legends - 2036 London Lane, Whistler BC V8E 0N7 

Check-in time is 4:00pm. Check-out time is 11:00am. The Front Desk can arrange to hold luggage for those guests 
attending functions on the day of departure so that they may also check out by 11:00am to avoid late check-out charges.  
Late check-out charges are as follows: 

 Check out up until 2:00pm   $80.00 

 Check out after 2:00pm   Full day room rate 

Requests to retain rooms beyond 11:00am may be made directly to the Front Desk on the morning of departure; however, 

there is no guarantee that the time can be extended. 

Upon check in, each guest will be required to present a valid credit card, on which an amount of sufficient pre-authorization 

can be obtained to cover all applicable room charges for the length of the guest’s stay. All charges which are the direct 

responsibility of the individual guest must be paid in full upon departure by cash or credit card. 

Parking 

Secure underground parking will be made available to guests staying in the Reserved Rooms for the duration of their stay at 

$17.00 CAD per night plus tax.  

Concessions:  

 Discounted Meeting Space $150.00 per day, savings of $1,050.00 

3. PAYMENTS 
 

Deposits and Payments – Lodging Ovations Accommodation – Rooming list 
 
The Client will pay to Whistler Blackcomb the amounts set out below by the dates specified for the Reserved Rooms: 
 

Transaction Type Charge Type   Date Amount  

Charge  Initial Deposit Wednesday, May 22, 2019  $7,216.74 
(100% of Estimated Costs with 

tax) 

Charge Final Balance Within 30 days post event Any remaining master account 
balance 

 
The Client acknowledges and agrees that the deposit for Reserved Rooms will not be refunded, even if the Client later cancels 
the Reserved Rooms booking. 
 
The final payment is due on the Balance Due date set out above, together with the final rooming list. The Client acknowledges 
and agrees that the final payment will not be refunded if the Reserved Rooms booking is cancelled within 30 days of the first 
Arrival Date. 
 
Client may pay amounts owing for accommodations by credit card or wire transfer as follows: 
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Kristina's 2019 BioBlitz expenses   
    
What Total GST Where 

Wed dinner x 2 32.40 1.40 
Main Street 
Noodles 

Thurs lunch x 8 32.83 1.30 Samurai Bowl 

 26.52 1.06 Samurai Bowl 

 49.81 2.06 Samurai Bowl 

Fri lunch x 1 14.49 0.60 La Cantina 

Fri lunch x1 7.34 0.35 Nesters 

Fri dinner 392.49 18.69 Avalanche 

Sat sandwiches 341.25 16.25 Creekside Market 

T-shirts & printing 1,596.42 71.40 Black Fish Clothing 

T-shirts extra colour 228.06 10.20 Black Fish Clothing 

Sat insurance Alpha Lake Park 55.00  RMOW 

Facebook ads 30.00  Facebook 

Chocolate for prizes 32.13 1.53 
Rocky Mtn 
Chocolate 

Supplies - paper, name tags, etc. 76.95 3.44 Garibaldi Graphics 

Jump drives 15.75 0.75 Longon Drugs 

Photos for thank-you cards 8.96 0.40 Foto Source 

Volly appreciation 135.24 5.60 Tandoori 

    
Mileage 184 km 105.70  $0.58/km 

  3,181.34 135.03   
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Subtotal $250.00

GST $12.50

PST $0.00

Total $262.50
 

Invoice # INV-264

Reference # n/a

Invoice date 06/18/2019

Due date 07/18/2019

Amount due $262.50

INVOICEJoern Rohde Photography
8106 Cedar Springs Road
Whistler, BC V8E 0G2
CANADA

604-938-8007

joern@whistlerinns.com

GST/HST number 838238905 RT 0001
PST/QST number 1003-7514

Item Qty/Hrs Price/Rate Sales tax Amount

Bio Blitz Pemberton June 8, 2019 Image shoot GST 5% $250.00

 

 

Deliver To

Canada

Main Address

PO Box 845
Whistler BC V0N 1B0
Canada

Invoice for

Whistler Naturalists

Kristina Swerhun

Comments:

Bio Blitz Pemberton June 9, 2018: 08:30-12:48- 4.25 hrs

Amount due $262.50

Terms & Conditions

No restrictions/expiry. No third party usage without prior
permission.
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TANTALUS RESORT LODGE

4200 WHISTLER WAY

WHISTLER, BC  V0N 1B4

 (604) 932-4146

Fax (604) 932-2405

  

Whistler Naturalists Date 3-Jun-19

 Invoice 1910WHISTL

Att: Bob Brett

Due: $3,678.25

Bob@snowlineresearch.ca  

Arrival Departure Details Amount Cost Total Hotel GST ( 5%) Total

Charge Tax PST ( 8%)

16-Oct-19 20-Oct-19 1 x Two Bedroom Suite $580.00 $17.40 $75.40 672.80$        

17-Oct-19 20-Oct-19 1 x Two Bedroom Suite $390.00 $11.70 $50.70 452.40$        

17-Oct-19 20-Oct-19 1 x One Bedroom Suite $390.00 $11.70 $50.70 452.40$        

18-Oct-19 20-Oct-19 3 x Two Bedroom Suite $870.00 $26.10 $113.10 1,009.20$     

18-Oct-19 20-Oct-19 2 x One Bedroom Suites $520.00 $15.60 $67.60 603.20$        

Parking x1 $465.00 $23.25 488.25$        

 

Amount Due CDN 3,678.25$     

R119459923 Thank you
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TANTALUS RESORT LODGE

4200 WHISTLER WAY

WHISTLER, BC  V0N 1B4

 (604) 932-4146

Fax (604) 932-2405

  

Whistler Naturalists Date 26-Jul-19

 Invoice 56888294

Att: Bob Brett

604-932-8900

Bob@snowlineresearch.ca  

Arrival Departure Details Amount Cost Total Hotel GST ( 5%) Total

Charge Tax PST ( 8%)

22-Jul-19 26-Jul-19 3 x Two Bedroom Suite $2,748.00 $82.44 $357.24 3,187.68$     

26-Jul-19 Final Payment 3,187.68-$     

 

Amount Due CDN -$              

R119459923 Thank you
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Subtotal $200.00

GST $10.00

PST $0.00

Total $210.00
 

Invoice # INV-271

Reference # n/a

Invoice date 10/22/2019

Due date 11/21/2019

Amount due $210.00

INVOICEJoern Rohde Photography
8106 Cedar Springs Road
Whistler, BC V8E 0G2
CANADA

604-938-8007

joern@whistlerinns.com

GST/HST number 838238905 RT 0001
PST/QST number 1003-7514

Item Qty/Hrs Price/Rate Discount (%) Discount Sales tax Amount

Image Shoot-Fungus
Amongus

GST 5% $200.00

 

 

Deliver To

Canada

Main Address

PO Box 845
Whistler BC V0N 1B0
Canada

Invoice for

Whistler Naturalists

Kristina Swerhun

Comments:

Forage: 08:30-11:10
Ident: 14:50-15:30

Amount due $210.00

Terms & Conditions

 No restrictions on first party
image usage. Any other usage must be pre-authorized by
photographer.

Page 270 of 542



Page 271 of 542



Page 272 of 542



Page 273 of 542



Page 274 of 542



Page 275 of 542



Page 276 of 542



Page 277 of 542



2019 Fungus Among Us Expenses - Kristina Swerhun  
 

 
  

When What Total GST 
3-Oct Black Fish Clothing 801.92 35.8 

17-Oct La Cantina 65.57 2.72 
17-Oct La Cantina 109.28 4.53 
16-Oct Main St. Noodles 88.42 3.43 
18-Oct Samurai Sushi 30.36 1.45 
18-Oct Tandoori Grill 232.45 9.63 
14-Sep Garibaldi Graphics 93.78 4.19 
19-Oct Tantalus Lodge 3,733.75 149.61 

  Subtotal 5,155.53 175.56 

 Kristina overpaid for July BB Tantalus 490.57  

 Total cheque 4,664.96  

 
   

 
   

 Food 526.08  

 Supplies 93.78  

 Accommodation 3733.75  

 Recognition 801.92  
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BILL TO 

Whistler Naturalists Society 
PO Box 845 
Whistler, BC  V0N 1B0 
 

INVOICE #
00013

INVOICE. DATE
2019-10-03

DESCRIPTION PRICE 

BioBlitz Recap Film   

Ziptrek Contribution  

  

Total $1500 

     - Ziptrek Contribution  $1000 

Total Owing $500 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Terms & Conditions 
 
Payment is due within 15 days 
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Travel Exp./Honoraria Fungus Among Us 2019

Name Total Chq # Notes
450 625
450 626
250 627
250 628
250 629
100 630
100 631
200 632
350 633
200 634
500 635
100 636
100 645
100 646
100 637

0 Did not accept
350 639
500 640
100 641
200 624
100 647
100 648

0 Did not accept
350 643
100 649
100 650

5,400
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Travel Expenses BioBlitz 2019

Name Total Chq # Notes
400 583
600 584

0 Did not accept
200 586
500 588
400 589
200 590
600 591
200 592
100 593
150 594

0 Did not accept
300 596
300 597
300 598
200 599
300 600

4,750
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 2019 Community Enrichment Program Grant Reporting Form – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent by referencing your grant 
application form and how the purpose/goals of the grant request were met.

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
needs improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Skating Club 

S-28906

 P.O. Box 373, Whistler, B.C. V0N 1B0

Eva Bergersen 

board@whistlerskatingclub.ca

$2,500

CANSKATE SUPPLIES: 
The Can Skate program annually requires badges and ribbons to reward skaters as they progress through the basics of learning to skate. In October 
2019 the Club purchased Badges and Ribbons for the Can Skaters in our program for a total of $1,696.49.   
 
COACH DEVELOPMENT 
$350 was spent for a Club's Coach to attend the Can Skate Course in March 2019 and another $320 was spent on a Provincial Coach Course in 
June 2019. In total the Club has spent  $670 on Coach Development using up the $340 carry forward from 2017 CEP Grant and $330 from the 2019 
CEP Grant. 
 
SKATER DEVELOPMENT IN THE AREA OF DANCE: 
The National Ice Dance Competitor that had coached our skaters in the past was unable to come to Whistler the spring of 2018 and in the spring of 
2019 the Whistler Skating Club decided not to pursue hiring a another Dance Coach so the funds were not spent. In the Spring of 2020 the Skating 
Director will be reviewing the options for coaches from Vancouver or Squamish to assist in the development of our current senior skaters, the amount 
to carry forward from 2018 RMOW CEP Grant is $2,500. 
 
As of November 30th the Club has spent $2026 from the 2019 CEP Grant leaving a balance of $474 which will be used for a Skate Canada 
Coaching Course in the Spring of 2020. The Total carry-forward for th Club is $2500 for the Dance Coach from (2018 CEP) and $474 for Coach 
Development from the (2019 CEP).  
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 2019 Community Enrichment Program Grant Reporting Form– Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant that you 
would like to report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown 

Annual Budget 
($) 

Grant Awarded
($) 

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent. 

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷

 Annual budget amount) 

96,678

5,000 1,696 CanSkate Badges and Ribbons 

27,500

1,152

8,280 804 Skate Canada Coach Certification 
Courses, note balance of $474 to be 
spent in 2020.

138,610 2,500
1.8

Financial statements attached are from our Club's Fiscal Year End July 31, 2019. The receipts for Badges relate to 
expenses after the year end. Note last fiscal year the Club had higher than foretasted revenue   in all our programs so 
revenue was above budget and there was a surplus. The club is not forecasting to have a surplus again this year.   
 
From the 2018 CEP Grant the club alloted $2500 for funding Skater Development in the Area of Dance which will be  
used Spring of 2020 for a Dance Coach to assist with the development of our club's skaters. The Club is also planning 
to have one of their coaches attend further Certification the spring of 2020 in Vancouver which will use the balance of 
the $474 alloted to  Coach's Development and further Certification from the 2019 CEP Grant.  
The Club would like to thank the Continued support of the RMOW which provides additional funding for the club to 
continue to provide innovative training so locals in Whistler can excel in the sport of Figure Skating and achieve their 
goals right here in the community of  Whistler. 

Page 312 of 542



Page 313 of 542



Page 1

Whistler Skating Club
Income Statement Aug 01, 2018 to Jul 31, 2019

REVENUE

Fees & Revenue
Annual Program Fees 107,526.95
Summer Camp Fees 15,299.12
Winter Program Fees 0.00
RMOW Programs after Admin F... 25,872.82
Skate Canada Membership Fees 5,860.00
Drop In Fees 0.00
Full Season Discounts -2,509.10
Club Registration Fees 140.00
Family Discounts 0.00
Credit Card Fees -3,744.32

Total Program Fees 148,445.47
Grants & Contributions 17,500.00
Contributions and Sponsorships 3,500.00
Grant Funding Carried Forward 1,000.00
Used Skates  / Equipment Sales 142.00
Fundraising 890.98
Ice Show Revenues - Dinner Tic... 766.40
Ice Show Rev - Lobby Fundraisi... 1,675.00
Ice Show Rev - Donations 983.00
Ice Show - Workshop Fees 0.00

Total Ice Show Revenues 3,424.40

Net Fees & Revenue 174,902.85

Other Revenue
Interest Revenue 21.06

Total Other Revenue 21.06

TOTAL REVENUE 174,923.91

EXPENSE

Program Expenses
Coaching Fees 71,590.12
Guest Ice Coach Fees 625.00

Coaching Admin Fees 19,204.67
Volunteer Program Admin 10,950.00
Coaching Fees PA 826.95

Total Coaching Fees 103,196.74
Ice Rental 29,181.50
Off Ice Coach & Studiio Rental 4,113.75
Summer Camp Expenses 9,775.85
Program Tools 760.20

Program Supplies 760.20
Skate Canada Fees 6,806.55
Music / Audio Equipment 1,493.92

Total Program Expenses 155,328.51

General & Administrative Expe...
Travel - Coaches - Competition 2,427.93
Travel - Skater's 0.00
Professional Development 1,765.96
Advertising & Promotions 62.21
Business Fees & Licenses 90.00
Insurance 413.18
Interest & Bank Charges 427.58
Office Supplies 894.24
Printing & Website 539.77
Miscellaneous Expenses 0.00
Club Wear 0.00
Rent 1,134.00
Repair & Maintenance 0.00
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Page 2

Whistler Skating Club
Income Statement Aug 01, 2018 to Jul 31, 2019

Bursary Expense 500.00
Telephone 0.00
Awards Banquet 717.68
Ice Show - Costumes 250.35
Ice Show - Arena Rental 450.68
Ice Show - Music 13.86
Ice Show - Performer Expenses 975.00
Ice Show - Props & Sets 106.16
Ice Show - Misc Supplies 238.58
Ice Show - Advertising 0.00
Ice Show - Lobby Fundraising 0.00
Ice Show - Workshop 0.00

Total Ice Show Expenses 2,034.63

Total General & Admin. Expen... 11,007.18

TOTAL EXPENSE 166,335.69

NET INCOME 8,588.22
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 2019 Community Enrichment Program Grant RHSRrting )RrP – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent by referencing your grant 
application form and how the purpose/goals of the grant request were met.

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
needV improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Whistler Youth Soccer Club

S-45988

PO Box 1203, Whistler B.C. V0N1B0

Erin Crawford

whistlersoccer@hotmail.com

$6,000

The primary goal of grants is to continue to keep the costs of participation  for families low.
We are happy to say we are still one of the most affordable recreation options, offering roughly 7 
months of coached play for under $500. The grant money helps us cover the costs of providing 
additonal coaches.

The Kicking in Schools program saw our technical head coach Mark Freeman provide soccer 
clinics at a local Elementary School in a joint venture with the school.  This during school hours 
prorgam exposes any child that wants to participate and try soccer the opportunity.  

No.
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 2019 Community Enrichment Program Grant RHSRrting )RrP– Page 3 of 4 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant that you 
would like tR report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown 

Annual Budget 
($) 

Grant Awarded
($) 

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent. 

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount) 

$27, 437.50 $5,000 Coaching wages for technical coach 
as well as age group coaches.Actual 
$9142.50 / Grant $1,000

$37, 682

$13,177.91

$8,043.25

$9,000 $1000 Kicking in Schools
Actual $6030 / Grant $1000

94,340.66 $6,000

6.3

Being able to practice and play on the AVJ Field as well as the deicision to join various Lower Mainand Leagues 
simplified our field rental costs and stack practices into three nights a week - which in turn allowed us to provide a 
technical coach on site working with multiple teams at the same time.  While other Clubs are seeing membership 
drop, Whistler Youth Soccer is poised to see an increase as we attract more players back, and new players to the 
Club as we keep them involved and having fun.

The WYSC once again would like to thank the RMOW for their conribution to sport in Whistler and for their grant. 
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 2019 Community Enrichment Program Grant RHSRrting Form – Page 4 of 4 

Attachments: Please indicate the attachments you are including Zith your *rant 5eSorting )orm:

A IinanFiaO ErHaNGRZn VKRZing KRZ tKH grant IXnGV ZHrH VSHnt. (Required)

Copies of receipts VKRZing KRZ the grant was spent. (Required)

Copy of a news release or organizational collateral recognizing the RMOW as a supporter.
(Ex: social media posts, website content, printed collateral, newspaper ads, etc.)
(Required only if your organization received $10,000 or more)

Other:__________________________________________________________________

Other: _

ORGANIZATION AUTHORIZATION: 

Submitted by: 

Phone number: 

Email: 

Date: 

Signature: 

Thank you for submitting your Community Enrichment Program GUDQW ReSRUWLQJ )RUP.

Please contact the Legislative Services DepDrtment at corporate@whistler.ca 

if you require an\ assistance. 

PerVonaO anG thirG Sarty inIormation SroYiGeG in thiV aSSOication Iorm iV coOOecteG unGer the authRrit\ oI 6ection ��(c) oI the )reeGom oI 
,nIormation anG Protection oI PriYacy $ct� 6houOG you haYe any TueVtionV regarGing the coOOection� uVe anG GiVcOoVure oI thiV 
inIormation SOeaVe contact the /egiVOatiYe anG PriYacy CoorGinator at ��������8118 or at ���� %OacNcomE :ay� :hiVtOer, %.&.9E8 05X

Erin Crawford

whistlersoccer@hotmail.com

November 27, 2019

✔

✔
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Legislative Services Department (CEP) 
Resort Municipality of Whistler 
4325 Blackcomb Way  
Whistler, BC V0N 1B4  

November 27, 2019 

Dear RMOW Mayor and Council,  

On behalf of the Coaches, Board of Directors and over 300 youth participants of the Whistler 
Youth Soccer Club, we would like to thank the RMOW for its CEP grant in the amount of 
$6,000.00.  

These funds are vital to our organization—enabling us to increase competitive strength and skill 
level and provide quality training sessions for athletes and coaches and attend tournaments.  

Our 2019 grant application funding request was used for:  

 
1/ Technical Directors and part time coaching staff wages 

2/ Kicking in Schools  

This year we changed our programming to match the winter season and the local sports that 
most of our players participate in. 

In the Spring we ran a Run Jump Throw Kick preschool program aimed at exposing and 
developing Physical Literacy to our newest players.  We were able to bring in a certified Run 
Jump Throw Wheel coach in to teach the basics of movement and soccer to our 3 and 4 year 
olds.   

Our Head Coach delivered the Kicking in School program for 10 days in May and June. The 
funding provided by the Community Enrichment Program covered the planning and 
implementation of the program. 

Finally, our club relies on the expertise of our coaching staff to deliver quality programming for 
all our age groups.  They coach, plan and guide our wonderful volunteer coaches.  Supporting  
them is a priority.  Through your generous funding, we are able to provide additional time on the 
field for our coaching staff to be present during all our training sessions. 
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I have included a summary of breakdown of expenses outlined in our grant application for 
reference.  

Kind Regards,  

Erin Crawford 

Erin Crawford 
Administrator  
Whistler Youth Soccer Club 
Box 1203, Whistler BC, V0N 1B0 

 
whistlersoccer@hotmail.com  
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 Community Enrichment Program  – Page 2 of 4 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Name of Organization: 

Society Registration Number: 

Mailing Address: 

Contact Name & Phone Number: 

Email Address: 

Grant Amount Issued: 

GRANT INFORMATION 

Purpose of Grant Explain in detail how the funding was spent
and the purpose/goals of the grant request .

Was This a New Program or Activity? If yes, please describe if the program was a success or 
need improvement, and if it will continue in future years.

Zero Ceiling Society of Canada

897518916RR0001

1519 Spring Creek Drive, Whistler, BC, V8E 0A2

Ms. Chris Wrightson, 604.962.5000

chris@zeroceiling.org

$4000.00

We requested funding for the Graduate Outreach Program for Work 2 Live program graduates. Work 2 Live is a comprehensive supportive housing and employment
program that empowers young people at risk of homelessness to successfully transition to adulthood. Work 2 Live serves eight young people each year. Participants
graduate after 12 months in the program, and we support them to transition to independent housing and employment - with many choosing to remain in Whistler.

The Graduate Outreach Program recognizes the importance of providing ongoing support for young people as they manage the transition to adulthood. We believe no
young person should ever "age out" of our services - they can access support for as long as they choose. For many young people, the Work 2 Live program is a family, and
we strive to provide all the ongoing support that a family provides to other young adults.

Individualized support from qualified, experienced staff is one of the core factors in the success of the Work 2 Live program and beyond. In 2019, we increased our part-time
Youth Case Worker position to a full-time position. This increased our capacity to provide comprehensive support to graduates as well as program participants. In 2019, our
Program Manager and Youth Case Worker supported graduates with:
- Finding and maintaining secure, stable, independent housing
- Securing and maintaining meaningful employment and a steady income
- Accessing further training, education, or certifications
- Further developing life skills
- Accessing mental health and other health supports

Graduate support is provided as requested, and is highly individualized. In 2019, we supported 12 graduates in some or all of the ways listed above. Most are recent
graduates (including hose who completed the program in 2019), but we continue to provide support to some graduates from 2015 onwards.

Graduates also participate in weekly programming including Ride Day (snowboarding/mountain biking) and Family Dinner (our healthy eating program). Not only do they
benefit from the sense of belonging and community these programs provide, they also act as valuable mentors and role models for current program participants.

The Graduate Outreach Program began as the "Alumni Relations" project in 2017. We have continued to
expand the program since then, and were pleased to provide more comprehensive support than ever in
2019. Graduate Outreach has become an incredibly valuable part of the Work 2 Live program. It improves
long-term, sustainable outcomes for young people in their housing, work, life skills, and health. We will
continue to deliver the Graduate Outreach Program and the explore further opportunities to support our
graduates to pursue their personal goals.
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GRANT INFORMATION 

Additional Information: Please list any additional information regarding your grant you
would like report.

Grant Results – Financial Breakdown

Annual Budget
($)

Grant
($)

Provide a brief description of 
the specific amount that was 
spent.

Salaries: 

General operations: 

One-time project / 
program: 

Physical asset(s): 

Rent (RMOW 
facilities): 

N/A 

Rent (other 
facilities): 

Other: 

Totals $  % (Grant amount ÷
 Annual budget amount)

$127,187 $4,000

$12,563

$1,000

$93,956 Group activities, life skills training and
certifications

234,706 4,000
1.7

The Annual Operating Budget provided is for the entire Work 2 Live Program, serving 8 participants and up to 8
graduates. The requested grant amounts are specifically for the Graduate Outreach Program.

Other includes: Program delivery: outdoor activities, family dinners, professional support services, housing and related
expenses, training and certifications, mentor program, transition fund, life skills workshops, group activities, participants
transportation. Includes value of in-kind contributions

General operations includes: Insurance, transportation, telecommunications, client management software,
communications
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R E P O R T  A D M I N I S T R A T I V E  R E P O R T  T O  C O U N C I L  

 
 
 
 
 

PRESENTED: December 17, 2019 REPORT: 19-160 

FROM: Resort Experience FILE: DVP01186 

SUBJECT: DVP01186– 9145 SUMMER LANE – SETBACK VARIANCES 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Resort Experience be endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council approve the issuance of Development Variance Permit DVP01186 for the proposed 
development located at 9145 Summer Lane to vary the following setbacks: 

1. Vary the east side setback from 3.0 metres to 1.8 metres for thee deck support posts.  
2. Permit the proposed deck to project to within 0.9 metres of the east side parcel line. 

All as shown on the architectural plans 0.0, 1.0 and 2.0 received by the Resort Municipality of Whistler 
November 12, 2019 prepared by Justin Stack attached as Appendix “C” to Administrative Report to 
Council No. 19-160. 

REFERENCES 
Location:  9145 SUMMER LANE 
Legal:  PLAN VAP12207 BLOCK A LOT 16 DISTRICT LOT 3625 NEW WESTMINSTER 

DISTRICT GROUP 1. 
Owner: BLOOMFIELD, JONATHAN 
Zoning: RS1 (Single Family Residential One) 
Appendices: “A” - Location Map 
 “B” - Site Photos 

“C” - Architectural Plans 
“D” - Correspondence received 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
This Report seeks Council’s consideration for setback variances to “Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 
2015” to allow an existing deck to be reconstructed within the east side setback at 9145 Summer Lane. 

Council has the authority to vary “Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 2015” through Section 498 of the 
Local Government Act. 
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DISCUSSION  
Site context 

The subject site is located in the Emerald Estates neighbourhood and is zoned RS1 (Single Family 
Residential One). The site is a 766 square metre corner lot with frontages on Summer Lane and 
Lakeshore Drive. It is developed with a two storey detached dwelling. The site slopes from west to east, 
towards Green Lake and the existing deck is located on the north east corner of the dwelling. 

See Appendix “A” for location of the subject site.  

Description of Proposal 

The owners are proposing to replace an existing deck with a new deck in the same location at 9145 
summer lane in Emerald Estates.  

The proposed deck is to be sited in the same location as the existing deck. Three support posts are 
proposed to be reconstructed in existing locations with the closest post located 1.8 metres from the 
east side parcel line. The north east corner of the deck is proposed to be located 0.9 metres from the 
parcel line at its closest point. 

The deck support structure is to be constructed of wood with a stained finish on concrete footings, 
similar to the existing deck. The proposed guard is to be stained wooden posts with a black metal 
railing and the deck boards, a brown composite. 

An elevation showing the appearance of the proposed deck has been provided in Appendix “C”. 

Site photos showing the siting and materials of the existing deck have been provided in Appendix “B”. 

Rationale 

The proposed variances are requested in response to the existing deck becoming unsafe to use due to 
it coming to the end of its useful life. The owners would like to retain a deck at the same location to 
maintain this amenity on their property but need to replace the deck with a safe structure that complies 
with the current BC Building Code.  

In order to maintain a view of the lake between the neighbouring garage and houses, as well as not 
reducing solar access to the lower level or to the deck itself, replacing the deck in the current location is 
preferred. 

Site photos showing the condition of the deck, views to and from the deck, and the adjacent buildings 
have been provided in Appendix “B”. 

The requested variances are described below: 
Variance Request  Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 2015 Regulation 
1. Vary the east side setback from 

3.0 metres to 1.8 metres for a 
deck replacement. 

Part 12 – Subsection 1 
(14) The minimum permitted side setback for a detached dwelling 

325 square metres or less is 3 metres. 
2. Permit the proposed deck to 

project to within 0.9 metres of the 
east side parcel line. 

 Part 5 – Subsection 7 
(7) The following features are permitted in setback areas: 

(b) unenclosed stairwells, balconies, porches, canopies and 
sunshades, provided such projections do not projects more 
than:  

i.) 1.5 metres into required front and side setback areas; and 
ii.) 2 metres in into required rear parcel setback area; 
provided the foundations or supports for such projections do 
not encroach into a required setback area. 

 
The requested variances are identified on the architectural plans attached as Appendix “C”.  
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WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS  

W2020 
Strategy 

TOWARD 
Descriptions of success that 
resolution moves us toward 

Comments  

Built 
Environment 

Limits to growth are understood and 
respected. 

There will be no additional density as a 
result of the proposed variances. 

The built environment is attractive and 
vibrant, reflecting the resort 
community’s character, protecting 
viewscapes and evoking a dynamic 
sense of place. 

The proposal is consistent with the 
neighbourhood character and will be a 
positive addition to the built environment. 

Continuous encroachment on nature 
is avoided. 

There will be no additional encroachment 
on nature as a result of the proposed 
variances. 

DVP01186– 9145 summer lane – setback variances does not move our community away from any of 
the adopted Whistler2020 Descriptions of Success. 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
Development Variance Permit Criteria 
 
Staff have established criteria for consideration of development variance permits. The proposed 
variances are considered to be consistent with these criteria as described in the table below.  
 

 
Potential Positive Impacts 

 
Comment 

Complements a particular streetscape or 
neighbourhood. 

The portion of proposed deck subject to the required 
variance is not visible from the street. The affected 
neighbour has provided letter of support attached 
Appendix “D”. 

Works with the topography on the site, reducing the 
need for major site preparation or earthwork. 

Replacement of existing deck in same location. No major 
site preparation required. 

Maintains or enhances desirable site features, such 
as natural vegetation, trees and rock outcrops. 

No vegetation removal or changes to site features 
required. 

Results in superior siting with respect to light access 
resulting in decreased energy requirements. 

No changes to light access as the result of the proposed 
deck. 

Results in superior siting with respect to privacy. No changes to existing siting. 
Enhances views from neighbouring buildings and 
sites. 

The replacement deck will enhance views by refreshing 
the look of the dwelling from neighbouring properties 
making an improvement on the existing deck. Materials 
and colours are complementary to the dwelling. The 
affected neighbour has provided letter of support attached 
Appendix “D”. 
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Potential Negative Impacts 

 
Comments 

Is inconsistent with neighbourhood character. The proposed deck is a replacement of an existing 
structure, materials and colour are similar to existing.  

Increases the appearance of building bulk from the 
street or surrounding neighbourhood. 

The proposed deck is not visible from the street and is a 
replacement of an existing structure. 

Requires extensive site preparation. Minimal site preparation required. 
Substantially affects the use and enjoyment of 
adjacent lands (e.g. reduces light access, privacy, 
and views). 

No change to current enjoyment of adjacent land. Light 
access, privacy and views will remain the same. The 
affected neighbour has provided letter of support attached 
Appendix “D”. 

Requires a frontage variance to permit greater gross 
floor area, with the exception of a parcel fronting a 
cul-de-sac. 

A frontage variance is not required. 

Requires a height variance to facilitate gross floor 
area exclusion. 

A height variance is not required. 

Results in unacceptable impacts on services (e.g. 
roads, utilities, snow clearing operations). 

Does not affect services. 

 
Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 2015 
 
The property is zoned RS1. The requested variances to “Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 
2015” are described in the Discussion section of this report. The proposed deck replacement 
meets all other regulations of “Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 2015”. 
 
Legal Encumbrances 

There are no legal encumbrances registered on title in favour of the RMOW. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

There are no significant budget implications with this proposal. Development Variance Permit 
application fees provide for recovery of costs associated with processing this application. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  
A sign describing DVP01186 is posted on the property.  

Notices were sent to surrounding property owners in November, 2019. At the time of writing this report, 
one letter of support has been received from the neighbour to the east (adjacent to the deck), which 
states that they have no issue with replacement of the deck in the same location as it has been located 
there for many years and a new deck will enhance the view of 9145 Summer Lane from their property. 
This letter is attached as Appendix “D”. 

Any letters received following the preparation of this report will be presented to Council at the time of 
consideration of the application 
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SUMMARY 
Development Variance Permit DVP01186 proposes variances to “Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 303, 
2015” to allow an east setback of 1.8 metres for proposed deck supports and the proposed 
replacement deck to project to within 0.9 metres from the east parcel line at 9145 Summer Lane. Staff 
recommend approving the issuance of the development variances. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Philip Gibbins 
PLANNING ANALYST 

for 
Jan Jansen 
GENERAL MANAGER OF RESORT EXPERIENCE 
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View towards deck from Lakeshore Drive
Appendix B
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CIVIC ADDRESS: 9145 SUMMER LANE, WHISTLER, B.C.

Variance 2

Variance 1
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CIVIC ADDRESS: 9145 SUMMER LANE, WHISTLER, B.C.

Appendix C
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R E P O R T  ADMINISTRATIVE REPORT TO COUNCIL  

 
 
 
 
 

PRESENTED: December 17, 2019 REPORT: 19-161 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: 854 

SUBJECT: COMMUNITY EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS FUND – INDIGENOUS 
CULTURAL SAFETY TRAINING FOR EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be 
endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council endorse the Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management 
Personnel Grant Application and, if successful, direct staff to provide overall grant management as 
per the Union of British Columbia Municipalities’ grant requirements.  

REFERENCES 
Appendix “A”:  Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management Personnel Grant 

Application and Proposed Budget 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
The purpose of this report is to obtain Council’s endorsement of a grant application to the Union of 
British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) Community Emergency Preparedness Fund (CEPF). The 
application seeks to fund Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management 
Personnel in the RMOW. For the RMOW to be eligible for UBCM grant funding a Council Resolution 
indicating support for the grant application and direction to provide overall grant management must 
be submitted with the application.  

DISCUSSION  
Background 
UBCM is currently accepting grant applications to the CEPF Indigenous Cultural Safety & Cultural 
Humility Training Program. The intent of this funding stream is to provide emergency management 
personnel with cultural safety and humility training in order to effectively partner with and provide 
assistance to Indigenous communities during times of emergency.  

The Líl’wat Nation and Squamish Nation assert Aboriginal rights and title over the lands and waters 
that fall within the RMOW municipal boundary. In 2018, the Squamish Nation, Líl’wat Nation, and 
the RMOW signed a Protocol Agreement formalizing a cooperative relationship in the spirit of 
reconciliation. The Protocol is a framework for the establishment of stronger government-to-
govenrment relations and serves as a tool for ongoing collaboration between communities.  

In ongoing effort to further this collaboration, the RMOW is applying to UBCM to fund cultural safety 
training for 40 emergency management personnel, including Emergency Operations Centre staff 
and first responders. The goal of this training initiative is to equip staff with the knowledge, 
understanding, and skill to work effectively and respectfully with Indigenous people and 
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communities during emergencies. Following the completion of this training the RMOW will be in a 
better position to offer support to the Líl’wat Nation and the Squamish Nation during and after 
emergencies.  

The training course was developed collaboratively by the Whistler Learning Centre (WLC), Líl’wat 
Nation, and the British Columbia Institute of Technology (BCIT). The training will be delivered by 
BCIT.   

The course is broken into two parts. Part One is a single full-day course. Forty staff will attend Part 
One. The specific course content for Part One includes: 

 Creating a Safe and Inclusive Space  
 Histories of the Líl̓wat7ul   
 Culture and Traditions of the Líl̓wat 

Part Two is a two-day course; Part One is a pre-requisite to Part Two. It is intended that ten staff will 
also attend Part Two training. The specific course content for Part Two includes: 

 An Overview of Intercultural Competency 
 Cross Cultural Leadership 
 Practical Workplace Tools and Application 

Course participants will gain an understanding of the history, culture, and traditions of the Líl’wat 
and the historical importance of the local territory. The training includes instruction on what makes 
for a safe and inclusive work environment to ensure emergency management personnel can 
provide support during emergencies in a safe and respectful way.  

WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS  

W2020 
Strategy 

TOWARD 
Descriptions of success that 
resolution moves us toward 

Comments  

Finance 

Resort community partners work 
together to identify shared spending 
priorities, share resources, and 
leverage funds and financing 
opportunities 

The RMOW is continuously looking for 
opportunities for provincial funding. If the grant 
application is successful, the cost of the 
training course, course location, and food will 
be covered by the Province.  

Learning 

Residents and visitors have many 
opportunities to actively learn about the 
resort community, the natural 
environment and First Nations culture 

The course learning outcomes include 
understanding the history, culture, and 
traditions of the Lil’wat and the historical 
importance of the local territory.  

Partnerships 
Partners support each other and live up 
to the agreements established within 
partnerships 

The Protocol Agreement between Líl’wat 
Nation, Squamish Nation, and the RMOW 
establishes a framework for stronger 
government-to-government relations between 
communities. Providing Indigenous Cultural 
Safety Training to emergency management 
personnel is a step in continuing to build the 
partnership established in the agreement.  
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OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
The RMOW lies within the unceded traditional territories of the Líl’wat Nation and Squamish Nation. 
Relations building and collaboration with neighboring Indigenous communities is a priority for the 
RMOW and this is reflected in several RMOW Policy documents including: 

 Protocol Agreement 
 Draft RMOW Official Community Plan (third reading version) 
 RMOW 2019 Corporate Plan  

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 
The cost of the training, training location, and meals will be funded with grant funds. Staff time to 
administer the grant and attend the training will be covered within the RMOW 2020 operating 
budget.   

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  
The RMOW’s plan to apply to the Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management 
Personnel was presented at the October Emergency Planning Committee Meeting and the 
November Sea to Sky Emergency Program Coordinator meeting. The committee supports the grant 
application. 

SUMMARY 
The RMOW wishes, through UBCM grant funding, to provide 40 emergency management 
personnel with Indigenous Cultural Safety Training. The goal of this training is for RMOW 
emergency management personnel to gain the cultural self-awareness and skills to collaborate 
effectively with Indigenous communities before, during, and after emergencies.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Erin Marriner  
EMERGENCY PROGRAM COORDINATOR 

for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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Community Emergency Preparedness Fund 

Indigenous Cultural Safety & Cultural Humility Training 

2019 Application Form 

Please complete and return the application form by December 13, 2019.  All questions are required to 
be answered by typing directly in this form.  If you have any questions, contact cepf@ubcm.ca or  
(250) 387-4470.

SECTION 1: Applicant Information AP-       (administrative use only) 

Name of Local Government or First Nation: 
Resort Municipality of Whistler 

Date of Application: November 20, 2019 

Contact Person*: Erin Marriner Position: Emergency Program Coordinator 

Phone: 604-935-8473 E-mail: emarriner@whistler.ca

* Contact person must be an authorized representative of the applicant.

SECTION 2: For Regional Projects Only 

1. Identification of partnering communities.  For all regional projects, please list all of the
partnering eligible applicants included in this application.  Refer to Section 2 of the Program &
Application Guide for eligibility.

N/A

2. Rationale for regional projects.  Please provide a rationale for submitting a regional
application and describe how this approach will support cost-efficiencies in the total grant
request.

N/A

SECTION 3: Project Summary 

3. Name of the project.

Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management Personnel

4. Proposed project cost and grant request.

Total proposed project cost: $16,138.81  Total grant request: $16,138.81 

Have you applied for or received funding for this project from other sources? 
No 

Appendix A
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2019 Indigenous Cultural Safety & Cultural Humility Training – Application Form 2 

5. Project summary.  Provide a summary of your project in 150 words or less.

This project will deliver Indigenous Cultural Safety Training to RMOW emergency management 
personnel including Emergency Operations Centre staff and first responders. The goal of the 
training is to equip emergency management personnel with the knowledge, understanding, 
and skill to work effectively and respectfully with Indigenous people and communities during 
emergencies. The Líl’wat Nation and Squamish Nation assert Aboriginal rights and title over the 
lands and waters that fall within the RMOW municipal boundary. This training will enable the 
RMOW to offer support to all communities in the Sea to Sky Corridor impacted by emergencies, 
including our valued Indigenous communities.

SECTION 4: Detailed Project Information 

6. A.  Proposed activities.  What specific activities will be undertaken as part of the proposed
project?  Refer to Section 4 of the Program & Application Guide for eligibility.

The proposed activities for the project include:

- Course delivery to forty emergency management personnel. Forty staff will attend Part 1 (one-
day) of the course. Ten of these staff will attend Part 2 (two-day) of the course.

- Rental of the Longhouse at the Squamish Líl’wat Cultural Centre
- In-house catering provided by the Squamish Líl’wat Cultural Centre

- Travel and accomodation costs for the Instructor
B. As outlined in the Program & Application Guide, higher application review scores will be
given to applications that meet certain criteria.  Based on this, will the training activities be:

  Developed and delivered by an Indigenous organization.  If yes, please describe: 

The course was developed collaboratively by the Whistler Learning Centre (WLC), Líl’wat 
Nation, and the British Columbia Institute of Technology (BCIT). The training will be 
delivered by BCIT.    

  In-person and supportive of social-emotional experiential learning.  If yes, please describe: 

The training will be delivered in-person in a classroom setting to provide learners with an 
opportunity to build relationships and engage in dialogue with the instructor and other 
learners.  

  Inclusive of relationship building with local Indigenous Peoples, nation(s) and/or Indigenous 
organizations.  If yes, please describe: The WLC, Líl’wat Nation, and BCIT developed the 
cultural awareness course in collaboration. The full course will be reviewed by the Líl’wat 
Language and Cultural Committee prior to delivery.   

  Delivered via Indigenous owned and run facilities, catering, etc.  If yes, please describe: 

The training will be hosted at the Squamish Líl’wat Cultural Centre. The Squamish and Líl’wat 
Nations built the Squamish Líl’wat Cultural Centre to house and showcase both their unique 
nations’ art, history and culture. The Centre’s purpose is to share their cultural knowledge 
and inspire understanding and respect amongst all people.  

Food for course participants will be purchased from the Squamish Líl’wat Cultural Centre in-
house catering service. 
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7. Emergency management personnel.  Please indicate who will receive the training.

Emergency Operations Centre staff and first responders will receive the training.

8. Learning outcomes.  How will the proposed activities meet the intended learning outcomes of
the funding stream?  How will the proposed activities increase partnerships and build capacity to
provide assistance to Indigenous communities during times of emergency?

The training course developed by Líl’wat Nation, the WLC, and BCIT is titled Indigenizing the
Workplace: Background and Application (Working Title).

The course is broken into two parts. Part 1 is a one-day course. The specific course content for
Part 1 includes:

- Creating a Safe and Inclusive Space

- Histories of the Líl̓wat7ul

- Culture and Traditions of the Líl̓wat

Part 2 is a two-day course; Part 1 is a pre-requisite to Part 2. The specific course content for 
Part 2 includes: 

- An Overview of Intercultural Competency

- Cross Cultural Leadership

- Practical Workplace Tools and Application

The course learning outcomes align with the intended learning outcomes of the funding 
stream in many ways. Specifically, in understanding the history, culture, and traditions of the
Líl’wat and the historical importance of the local territory. The course will educate participants 
on what makes for a safe and inclusive work environment to ensure emergency management 
personnel can provide support during emergencies in a safe and respectful way.  

The goal of this training is for RMOW emergency management personnel to gain the cultural 
self-awareness and skills to collaborate effectively with Indigenous communities before, during, 
and after emergencies. Following the completion of this training the RMOW will be in a better 
position to provide emergency-related support to the Líl’wat Nation and Squamish Nation.  

9. Relationship building in advance of training.  Please describe the extent to which the local
government and Indigenous Peoples (and/or an Indigenous consultant) have worked together to
identify the local training needs.

In 2018, the Squamish Nation, Líl’wat Nation, and the RMOW signed a Protocol Agreement
formalizing a cooperative relationship in the spirit of reconciliation. The Protocol is a framework
for the establishment of stronger government-to-govenrment relations. Emergency management
is not listed specifically in the Protocol, but the Protocol does speak extensively to working
together in the spirit of reconciliation and cooperation to achieve mutual benefits. By equipping
emergency management personnel with this training, and the tools to work with Indigenous
people and communities in a safe and respectful way, we are embracing an opportunity to work
collaboratively with Indigenous communities and further cooperative relationships.

The Sea to Sky Emergency Program Coordinator group is a regional emergency planning group
that meets quarterly to discuss emergency management issues and initiatives that impact Sea
to Sky Communties and discuss opportunities to collaborate on emergency management
initiatives. The group includes the RMOW, Village of Pemberton, District of Squamish, Líl’wat
Nation, Squamish Nation, Village of Lions Bay, and the Squamish Lillooet Regional District. The
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group is currently working to establish a process to better support each other during 
emergencies. 

10. Transferability.  Describe the extent to which the proposed project may offer transferable 
resources and learning outcomes to other local governments and Indigenous Peoples in BC (i.e. 
training materials) 

The training providers recognize that when delivering cultural awareness training, it is important 
to recognize the diversity that exists among Indigenous people and communities. Each 
Indigenous community has its own unique history, culture, and traditions and the training will 
reflect this. As mentioned, the WLC and BCIT are working with Lil'wat Nation to develop the 
training with the intent that it can be customized in future for different communities, each of 
which have their own characteristics. The RMOW sees this project - Indigenous Cultural Safety 
and Awareness Training - as an initial step, aiming to expand the training and engagement in 
the future.   

11. Evaluation. How will relationships with Indigenous communities be strengthened through 
project design and delivery? How will learnings be tracked and recorded in terms of how they 
might inform practice, operations, policy development, legislative change, and/or inform practice 
during activation?  Will benchmarks be used to measure outcomes (i.e. pre and post reflective 
surveys, number of people trained)? 

We believe, that by engaging in this training, RMOW emergency management personnel will be 
in a better position to offer support all communities in the Sea to Sky Corridor experiencing 
emergenices, including Indigenous communities. While emergencies are in nature a negative 
experience, they often provide opportunities for relationship building and collaboration leaving 
people with a better understanding of the systems, practices, culture, resilence, and strength of 
the community. 

The benchmarks used to measure outcomes will include: 

- number of emergency management personnel that attend the training 
- pre and post reflective survey 

- increased level of collaboration between the RMOW and local Indigenous communities in an 
emergency management context    

12. Additional Information. Please share any other information you think may help support your 
submission. 

The RMOW is commited to reconciliation, as defined by the Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission of Canada as "establishing and maintaining a mutually respectful relationship 
between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal peoples in this country." In order for this commitment to 
work in the practice of emergency management in the Sea to Sky Corridor, emergency 
management personnel must be trained in cultural awareness and safety. This grant opportunity 
and training will provide the RMOW Emergency Program with the tools to engage and 
collaborate in a respectful and safe way with local Indigenous communities.   

 

SECTION 5: Required Application Materials 
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Only complete applications will be considered for funding.  The following separate attachments are 
required to be submitted as part of the application: 

   Local government Council or Board resolution, Band Council resolution or Treaty First Nation 
resolution, indicating support for the current proposed activities and willingness to provide 
overall grant management. 

   Detailed budget for each component identified in the application.  This must clearly identify the 
CEPF funding request, applicant contribution, and/or other grant funding. 

   For regional projects only: local government Council or Board resolution, Band Council 
resolution or Treaty First Nation resolution from each partnering applicant that clearly states 
their approval for the primary applicant to apply for, receive and manage the grant funding on 
their behalf. 

 

SECTION 6: Signature  

I certify that to the best of my knowledge, all information is accurate. 

Name:       Title:       

Signature:       
An electronic or original signature is required. 

Date:       

 

Submit applications to Local Government Program Services, Union of BC Municipalities 

E-mail: cepf@ubcm.ca  
Mail: 525 Government Street, Victoria, BC, V8V 0A8 
 

Erin Marriner Emergency Program Coordinator

December 3, 2019

Page 403 of 542

mailto:cepf@ubcm.ca


Indigenous Cultural Safety Training for Emergency Management Personnel Budget 

Item  Cost 
Part 1 (Modules 1-3) – 40 People 
Course Cost for Group 1 (20 People) i $1150 
Course Cost for Group 2 (20 People) $1150 
Traditional Welcome  Complimentary 
Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre Longhouse 
Rental for Group 1 

$950 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre Longhouse 
Rental for Group 2 

$950 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre In-house 
Catering for Group 1 

$946 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre In-house 
Catering for Group 2 

$946 

Travel and Accommodation Cost for Instructor $800 
Part 2 (Modules 4-6) – 10 (People) 
Course Cost $4500 
Traditional Welcome  Complimentary 
Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre Longhouse 
Rental for Day 1 

$950 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre Longhouse 
Rental for Day 2 

$950 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre In-house 
Catering for Day 1 

$495.50 

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre In-house 
Catering for Day 1 

$495.50 

Travel and Accommodation Cost for Instructor $800 
Total  $13,483 
Total including PSTii $16,138.81 

 

i The maximum number of participants per group for Part 1 is 20 people. Part 1 will  be run twice to accommodate 
all  40 participants.  
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-162 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: 2260 

SUBJECT: FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY BYLAW  

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 
2201, 2019”; and 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Bylaw Notice Enforcement 
Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2260, 2019”; and 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Municipal Ticket Information 
System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2261, 2019”. 

REFERENCES 

 “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019” (Not attached) 

 “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2260, 2019”  
(Not attached) 

 “Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety 
Bylaw) No. 2261, 2019” (Not attached) 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

This Report presents to Council the new “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019”. This new bylaw 
is an update and consolidation of the existing “Fire Protection and Fireworks Bylaw No. 2046, 2014”, 
the “Fire and Security Alarm Systems Bylaw No. 1955, 2010” and the “Inspection and Testing of Fire 
Protection Equipment Bylaw No. 1754, 2006”. 

DISCUSSION  

As part of the Whistler Fire Rescue Service’s Operational Service Review (Behr Report 2015) it was 
recommended that the Whistler Fire Rescue Service consolidate all existing fire bylaws to centralize all 
the fire service regulations. As such, the new Fire and Life Safety bylaw consolidates the existing fire 
bylaws as well as updating the bylaw with current practices and regulations.    
 
While preparing the new bylaw, staff referenced Fire Bylaws from other municipalities including the City 
of Vancouver and the District of West Vancouver. In addition, staff met in person with the District of 
West Vancouver Fire Services to discuss their Fire Bylaw in detail.   
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SELECT HIGHLIGHTS OF THE NEW BYLAW INCLUDE: 

 Fireworks – Permitted only on four days per year 

 Campfire Permits – Campfire permits required 

 No open burning permitted except for campfires with permits 

 Fire and Security Alarms - Increased fines for False alarms 

 Expanded enforcement and Fire Order options 

 Inclusion of a process for reconsideration of a Fire Order for procedural fairness 

 Expanded Fees and Cost Recovery 

 

FIREWORKS 

Consumer Fireworks will only be permitted to be used on four days per year (January 1, October 31, 
November 1 and December 31). Confining consumer fireworks to these four days will meaningfully 
reduce associated fire hazard and is consistent with increased restrictions on consumer fireworks in 
other jurisdictions.  
 
High Hazard Fireworks and Pyrotechnics displays executed by a trained pyrotechnician will still be 
allowed, but will require a Fireworks Permit. This would cover, for example, the Fire and Ice show at the 
base of Whistler in the winter and any movie pyrotechnics.  
  

CAMPFIRE PERMITS 

Campfire permits will continue to be required for all backyard campfires. Campfires may still be banned 
when the fire danger warrants. Backyard burning of garden debris will no longer be permitted. Garden 
debris can be taken to the transfer stations or can be chipped as part of the FireSmart Chipper program 
that starts in the spring of each year.  
 
FIRE AND SECURITY ALARMS 
The fees for false alarms will increase to cover the cost of attendance by the Fire Department for fire  
Alarms, and the RCMP attendance for security alarms deemed false. As per Schedule B of the bylaw, 
there is an escalating set of fees designed to encourage building owners to maintain their automatic 
alarm systems in an effective manner. Many communities follow the same practice of escalating fees. 
The first and second alarm within a 12-month period is free, attendance at a third alarm is $200, and 
the fourth alarm or greater is $300 per occurrence. 
 
RECONSIDERATION OF A FIRE ORDER 
If a person contravenes or fails to comply fully with any provision of this Bylaw, or if conditions 
exist in or upon any Premises which, in the opinion of the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector, constitute 
a Fire Hazard or other danger to life or property, the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector may issue a 
written fire order requiring that person to take such action as is necessary to ensure compliance with 
this Bylaw or to remove or otherwise deal with the Fire Hazard or other danger, and every person 
who receives an order under this section shall carry out that order by the date or time required. A fire 
order can be reconsidered by the Fire Chief within three days of the fire order being received. This 
provides for an appeal process and adds a level of procedural fairness to the bylaw.  
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PENALTIES 
The “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019 will add the 
Fire and Life Safety bylaw schedule to the Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw. The Bylaw Notice fine 
amount is to a maximum of $500. Additionally the “Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation 
Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2261, 2019” will allow for fines over $500 to be issued in 
circumstances where it is warranted. 

WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS  

W2020 
Strategy 

TOWARD 
Descriptions of success that resolution 

moves us toward 
Comments  

Health & Social 

The resort community is safe for both 
visitors and residents and is prepared for 
potentially unavoidable emergency 
events. 

The updated Fire and Life Safety bylaw adds 
regulations to improve the safety of both 
visitors and residents. 

Visitor 
experience 

The resort is comfortable, functional, safe, 
clean and well-maintained 

The visitor experience is safe and well-
maintained through effective regulation. 

 
The compilation and dissemination of “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019,” “Bylaw Notice 
Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2260, 2019, “Municipal Ticket 
Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety Bylaw) No. 2261, 2019” 
does not move our community away from any of the adopted Whistler2020 Descriptions of Success.  

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

CORPORATE PLAN 

The Corporate Plan has a goal of: “A vibrant local economy and safe, resilient resort community is 
effectively reinforced by organizational activities.” The updated and consolidated Fire and Life Safety 
Bylaw will add regulations to better ensure a safe and resilient resort community. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

Legal expenses to draft and prepare the bylaw were included in the 2019 operating budget. Any fine 
revenue generated from enforcement of the bylaw is received as general revenue to the Municipality. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  

If the new bylaw is endorsed by Council, the RMOW website will be updated with the bylaw information 
and will be shared in the Whistler Today newsletter. 
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SUMMARY 

This Bylaw, “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019” is intended to replace the existing “Fire 
Protection and Fireworks Bylaw No. 2046, 2014”, “Fire and Security Alarm Systems Bylaw No. 1955, 
2010” and the “Inspection and Testing of Fire Protection Equipment Bylaw No. 1754, 2006.” The “Bylaw 
Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019” and “Municipal Ticket 
Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2261, 2019” will allow 
for fines to be issued consistent with the new bylaw.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
John McKearney 
FIRE CHIEF 
and 
Kevin Creery 
PROTECTIVE SERVICES PLANNING ANALYST 

for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-163 

FROM: Infrastructure Services FILE: 605 

SUBJECT: SOLID WASTE TIPPING FEE INCREASES 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Infrastructure Services be endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to “Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw 
(Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019”. 

REFERENCES 

“Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019” (Not attached). 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

The purpose of this report is to request that Council approve an amendment to “Solid Waste Bylaw 
No. 2139, 2017”. The requested changes include an amendment to the existing definition “Clean 
Yard Waste” and to add a bylaw definition of “Clean Land Clearing Wood Waste”.  

Council is also being asked to approve the proposed increases to selected solid waste tipping fees or 
“tip fees” charged at the Whistler Transfer Station. 

Background 

Included in Whistler’s Solid Waste Management Strategy (adopted by Council in 2013), tip fees 
collected at the Callaghan transfer station need to be adjusted from time to time to balance revenues 
received from waste producers with expenses to manage and dispose of the  waste received.  

Tip fees were last updated in 2018. Different tip fees are used for different types of waste to incentivise 
waste reduction and diversion while balancing the risk of seeing an increase of illegal dumping because 
some waste producers feel the costs are too high to dispose of their waste responsibly. Aligning tip fees 
with other local community’s waste management programs lowers the risk of waste moving up and 
down the highway from one community to another for disposal.   

Discussion  

To effectively address change in how certain types of waste are managed, bylaw definitions need to be 
updated. The definition of “Clean Yard Waste” identified in “Solid Waste Bylaw No. 2139, 2017” 
Schedule “A”, historically meant stumps and branches or other plant matter from land clearing or 
landscaping work, and did not include invasive species. The cost to manage land clearing material has 
increased compared to yard waste. To ensure disposal costs are properly aligned between these two 
waste types it is recommended Yard Waste and Land Clearing are defined separately in the solid waste 
bylaw and that their respective tip fees are set to reflect their respective handling and disposal costs. 
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The new proposed definitions for each are as follows: 
 

“Clean Yard Waste” means plant matter that is generated from landscape 
maintenance, is disposed of at the municipal compost facility, and does not 
include invasive species. 
 
“Clean Land Clearing Wood Waste” means the material produced from the 

removal of trees and stumps and large branches and does not contain dirt or 

rocks or invasive species, from an area as required due site alterations or land 

clearing projects, but does not include material generated by RMOW community 

forest management programs. 

 
Increases to tip fees create more incentive for waste producers to divert waste from landfill, to provide a 
balance between revenues received from waste producers and with the costs to dispose of the waste, 
and to keep tip fees in line with other local community’s disposal tip fees.  

The tip fees proposed for increase at this time are as follows: 

Landfill Waste 

The tip fee for landfill waste is proposed to be increased to $170 per tonne to match the tip fee charged 
by the District of Squamish at their landfill. Making this change minimizes the risk of landfill waste 
generated in Whistler from being transported down to the Squamish or vice versa, waste coming to 
Whistler. This change also attempts to narrow the gap between the actual cost of disposing landfill 
waste and the tip fee collected from waste producers, while balancing the incentive for illegal dumping. 

Mixed Waste 

The tip fee for loads that have more than 25 per cent contamination (landfill waste mixed with 
recyclables or compost) will be increased to $375 per tonne to match the tip fee charged by the District 
of Squamish. This change increases the incentive for waste producers to source separate their waste, 
keeping more waste out of the landfill.  

Biosolids 

In 2019 a new operating contract was executed by the municipality which decreases the 
operating cost to compost organic material at the Whistler Compost Facility. The increase in 
the tip fee to $150 per tonne is to more accurately reflect the variable costs of processing 
material collected from primarily Whistler and the District of Squamish.  

Land Clearing Clean Wood Waste 

There are costs to grinding up land clearing material received at the compost facility that is 
not already chipped. The increase in tip fee reflects the cost to mobilize large chipping 
equipment to the Whistler Compost Facility to grind the material. Clean wood waste is require 
for the compost process to produce a quality soil amendment that’s sold each year to local 
landscape companies.   

Dirty Wood Waste 

Due to changes in the disposal market for Dirty Wood Waste an increase in tip fee is 
required at this time to cover the increased cost of disposal for this waste type. This tip fee 
increase is still more cost effective for waste producers in comparison to the alternative 
which is to send the material to the landfill and pay those higher tip fees.   
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Bulky Items 

This waste stream is comprised of mostly large furniture. There is no extended producer 
responsibility program for bulky items and this material is difficult to recycle, usually 
disposed of into the landfill waste. This amendment increases the tip fee for Landfill Waste 
so the Bulky Items tip fee should also reflect the higher tip fee. 

Figure 1.  

A comparison between the existing rates and the proposed increased tip fees: 
 

Solid Waste Type Current tip fee Proposed tip fee 
Minimum Charge at the Transfer Station $5 per vehicle No Change 

Biosolids $140 per tonne $150 per tonne 

Clean Land Clearing Wood Waste: 
Unchipped 
Chipped 

 
$30 per tonne 
Free 

 
$80 per tonne 
No Change 

Yard Waste 
Unchipped 
Chipped 

 
$30 per tonne 
Free 

 
No Change 
No Change 

Dirty Wood Waste $80 per tonne $135 per tonne 

Bulky Items $155 per tonne $170 per tonne 

EPR Recyclable Materials (except tires) Free No Change 

Landfill Waste 

(including construction waste) 

$155 per tonne $170 per tonne 

Mixed Waste 

(waste stream with more than 25% recyclables) 

$325 per tonne $375 per tonne 

Organics (food scraps or food waste) $75 per tonne No Change 

Mattresses $20 each No Change 

Recyclables Free No Change 

Large Appliances  

with refrigerant 

with no refrigerant 

 

$25 per unit 

Free 

 

No Change 

No Change 

Passenger and Light Truck Tires $10 per tire 

$25 per tire with rim 
No Change 

Gypsum Board $290 per tonne No Change 

Invasive Species and Noxious Plant matter $30 per tonne No Change 

Hazardous Waste Not Accepted No Change 

Unsecured Loads $30 per load No Change 

Septage  

A – All liquid Waste delivered via meter at the 

WWTP except as identified in “B” and “C” below 

$30.00 per cubic meter No Change 

B – Septage delivered from residential septic 

tanks within the RMOW 

$2.75 per cubic meter No Change 

C- Aerated holding tanks within the RMOW as 

approved under RMOW Bylaw No. 551, Septage 

from RMOW Transfer Station and Whistler 

Compost Plant 

$1.50 per cubic meter No Change 

The minimum charge for Solid Waste disposal at the Municipal Transfer Station is $5 per load (with the exception 

of any material or item indicated as FREE) and a maximum of five mattresses tipped at any one time. 
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WHISTLER 2020 ANALYSIS 

 
Amending definitions or increasing tip fees does not move our community away from any of the 
adopted Whistler2020 Descriptions of Success.    

 
OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

Adjusting tip fees when required is supported by the updated draft OCP policy regarding waste 
reduction. The policy asks that the community develop, expand and promote programs and 
infrastructure that increases local recycling diversion rates, especially of organics, and encourages the 
reduction and reuse of products and materials. Increasing costs of disposal does create that incentive, 
but must be balanced with the risk of illegal dumping. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

Setting appropriate tip fees helps balance revenues and the expenses required to manage the 
collected waste. Consideration must be made to increasing the risk of illegal dumping in or around the 
community. Tip fees charged to the waste producers directly avoids the need to increase annual solid 
waste parcel fees to the community.  

Tip fees were last increased at the beginning of 2018 and costs to manage and dispose of waste has 
increased since then. Tip fees on those selected wastes, if approved by Council, will be charged at the 
Transfer Station beginning January 7, 2020. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 

If the proposed changes are approved by Council, new tip fees will be posted at the transfer station 
truck scale and on the municipal website. https://www.whistler.ca/services/waste-
management/garbage/waste-transfer-station 

 

SUMMARY 

One of the goals of Whistler’s Solid Waste Management Strategy (adopted by Council in 2013) is to 
make the solid waste utility financially self-sufficient. One of the actions staff can take to achieve this is 

W2020 
Strategy 

TOWARD 
Descriptions of success that 
resolution moves us toward 

Comments  

Materials & Solid 
Waste  

 Whistler is well on its way to achieving its 
“zero waste” goal. 

 The proposed bylaw amendments will 
incentivise waste diversion and reduce cost to 
the municipality. 

Materials & Solid 
Waste   

The community is committed to providing 
infrastructure capable of continually 
decreasing our residual wastes. 

Charging fees directly to waste producer’s 
helps makes the solid waste utility that 
manages the infrastructure more self-sufficient.   

Finance  Whistler lives within its financial means. 
Charging differential tip fees creates incentives 
that result in an overall reduction of solid waste 
operating costs. 

Finance   
 The resort community effectively and 
efficiently balances its costs and 
expenditures. 

Adjusting tip fees from time to time balances 
revenues with the expenses required to 
manage the received waste. 
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to increase tip fees collected at the Callaghan transfer station to balance that revenue with the cost to 
manage and dispose of that waste, minimizing contributions to the utility from the general budget. 

Costs to manage land clearing material have increased compared to costs for yard waste. To ensure 
disposal costs for different waste types are properly aligned it is recommended that clean yard waste 
and clean land clearing wood waste are defined separately in the bylaw, then charged accordingly to 
the waste producers visiting the transfer station. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Andrew Tucker 
MANAGER OF TRANSPORTATION AND WASTE MANAGEMENT 

for 
James Hallisey 
GENERAL MANAGER OF INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES 
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019 REPORT: 19-164 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: 2259   

SUBJECT: CREDIT CARD PAYMENT SERVICE FEE BYLAW NO. 2259, 2019 

 
COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be 
endorsed. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to “Credit Card Payment Service Fee 
Bylaw No. 2259, 2019”. 

REFERENCES 

“Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019” (Not attached) 

PURPOSE 

This Report presents the “Credit Card Payment and Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019” for 
Council’s consideration. This bylaw will allow for the payment of various taxes, fees and services 
via credit card. A credit card payment service fee of 2.2 per cent will be added to the transaction. 

DISCUSSION 

The Resort Municipality of Whistler (RMOW) currently allows for payment of most fees and services 
with the exception of property taxes and utility fees by credit card. The cost of processing credit 
card transactions has to date been funded through general taxation. This Bylaw proposes that all 
taxes, fees and charges with the exception of those outlined in section three of the Bylaw be 
assessed a payment service fee of 2.2 per cent to cover the cost of processing credit card 
payments. The purpose of this Bylaw is to allocate, where payment options are expanded, the cost 
of the service to the individual or business who benefits from it. For example, residents who pay 
development cost charges or building permit costs using the new credit card payment option, will be 
responsible for the additional processing cost associated with this payment type.  

In the past the Resort Municipality has not permitted payment of property taxes and utilities via 
credit cards due to the high cost associated with processing these fees. This policy will allow 
property owners who voluntarily choose to pay these taxes and utilities by credit card the 
opportunity to do so.  The RMOW is required to charge a late payment fee of ten per cent on all 
properties where property taxes were not received by the due date (five per cent the day following 
the tax due date and a further five per cent effective October 1); this policy will provide another 
option for tax payers to pay their property taxes and utilities online, using a credit card. In some 
cases this additional payment option could help an individual pay more promptly and potentially 
avoid a late payment charge.  
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This fee is made possible through a new module offered by our land management municipal 
software (Tempest). Service payments that are excluded from the processing fee fall into one of 
several categories: they are processed through a separate software program, are punitive fines or 
are low dollar value in nature. Specific excluded payments are detailed in section three of the 
Bylaw. 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

Section 194 of the Community Charter allows municipalities to impose fees with respect to all or 
part of a service of the municipality, the use of municipal property, or the exercise of authority to 
regulate, prohibit or impose requirements. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY 

The “Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019” is presented at an open meeting of 
Council on December 17, 2019. 

Management consulted with the finance departments of the City of Burnaby, the City of New 
Westminster and the City of Langley who are all using the credit card fee module in Tempest and 
are charging a fee to process credit cards on various taxes, fees and services in their communities.  
All three cities indicated satisfaction with the module. 

SUMMARY 
Staff requests that Council consider giving first three readings of the “Credit Card Payment Service 
Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019” on December 17, 2019 and adoption on January 7, 2020 in order to 
charge a credit card payment service fee on all taxes, fees and charges paid to the RMOW by 
credit card with the exception of those listed in section three of the Bylaw. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Maureen Peatfield 
MANAGER OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 
for 
Carlee Price 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-165 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: A-03 

SUBJECT: AMENDMENTS TO COUNCIL POLICY A-03: INVESTMENTS 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council adopt the amended version of Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy attached as 
Appendix “A” to Administrative Report to Council No. 19-165.  

REFERENCES 

Appendix “A” – Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy, original with proposed changes marked 

Appendix “B” – Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy, proposed revised 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

The purpose of this Report is to present the amended version of Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy 
for Council’s consideration.  

DISCUSSION  

The Investment Policy guides RMOW’s investment approach, within the constraints of the Community 
Charter. This Policy was last revised in 2004, and updates are proposed to increase readability, and to 
replace references to roles, organizations and indices that no longer exist.   
 
The updated Investment Policy was reviewed and supported the Audit and Finance standing 
committee. 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

None 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

RMOW’s current portfolio of investments measures approximately $100 million in combined value, and 
generates between $2 – 2.5 million in investment income per year. This investment income is credited 
to reserves, which ultimately reduces the in-year funding required from ratepayers to support reserve 
balances. The investment portfolio also acts as the source of funds to support for large and valuable 
capital projects. Ensuring the preservation of the capital within these reserves holds primacy over the 
generation of returns for that reason.  
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  

Not applicable for this policy amendment. 

SUMMARY 

The revised Council Policy A-03: Investment Policy includes contemporary wording and references, 
and demonstrates improved readability for members of council, staff and interested members of the 
public. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Carlee Price 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF RESORT EXPERIENCE 
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COUNCIL POLICY 

POLICY NUMBER: A-3         DATE OF RESOLUTION:  April 5December 17, 201904 

INVESTMENTS 

1.0 Policy 

It is the policy of the Resort Municipality of Whistler (“the Municipality“) to invest Municipal 
funds in a manner which will maximize the safe return on its cash by way of short, medium 
and long term debt and fixed income investments that comply with the statutory requirements 
of the Community Charter.  

2.0  Strategy 

Recognizing a generally positive yield curve for fixed income investments and debt 
instruments, the Municipality’s short term investments will aim to target invest its cash with 
maturities that match the cashflow demands of its operations.  

3.0 Scope 

This investment policy applies to all cash liquid financial assets of the Municipality.  These 
funds are accounted for in the annual Financial Reporting and include Reserve and Trust 
funds, as well as working capital.:  

3.1 Funds 

General Operating Fund  
General Capital Fund  
Water Operating Fund  
Water Capital Fund  
Sewer Operating Fund  
Sewer Capital Fund  
Solid Waste Management Operating Fund 
Solid Waste Management Capital Fund  
Reserve Funds  
Trust Funds  
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 4.0  Prudence  
  
  Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, 

which persons of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their 
own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their 
capital as well as the probable income to be derived.  

  
 4.1  Standard of Prudence:  

  
The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent person” 
standard and shall be applied in the context of managing an overall portfolio.  Investment 
officers acting in accordance with written procedures and the investment policy and exercising 
due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security’s credit risk 
or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations are reported in a timely 
fashion and appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments.  

  
 5.0  Objectives  

  
  The investment of Municipal funds must reflect abe conservative philosophy of minimized 

risk as to interest rates and maturities based on the following objectives:  
  

 5.1          Safety and Preservation of Capital:  
  

Investments shall be diversified, and undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital in the overall portfolio with diversified investments in order to 
minimize potential losses on individual securities.  

  
 5.2  Liquidity:  

  
The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the Municipality to 
meet all those operating requirements, which might be reasonably anticipated.  

  
 5.3  Return on Investment:  

  
The investment portfolio shall be designed managed with the objective of attaining a 
market rate of return (as defined in section 12.0) throughout budgetary and economic 
cycles, subject to the constraints of the Municipality’s diversification, preservation of 
capital and liquidity requirements.  

  
 6.0  Delegation of Authority  

  
  Authority to manage the Municipality’s investment program is derived from the Section 149 of 

the Community Charter.  
  
  One of the municipal officer positions must be assigned the responsibility of financial 

administration, including the keeping of all funds and securities of the municipality, and 
investing funds until required in authorized investments.  
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   6.1  Management Responsibility:   
  
Management responsibility for the investment program is hereby delegated to the General Manager of 

Corporate ServicesDirector of Finance, who shall establish and maintain written procedures 
for the operation of the investment program consistent with this investment policy.  Such 
procedures shall include explicit delegation of authority to persons responsible for investment 
transactions.  No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the 
terms of this policy and the procedures established by the General Manager of Corporate 
ServicesDirector of Finance.  The General Manager of Corporate ServicesDirector of Finance 
shall be responsible for all transactions undertaken and shall establish a system of controls to 
regulate the activities of designated employees.  

  
 7.0  Ethics and Conflict of Interest  

  
  Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal 

business activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which 
could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions.  Investment employees and 
officials shall disclose to the Municipal Clerk any material financial interests in financial 
institutions and/or investment dealers that conduct business with the Municipality.  

  
 8.0  Authorized Investment Dealers and Institutions  

  
  The Finance Department will maintain a list, approved by General Manager of Corporate 

Services, of financial institutions and investment dealers authorized to provide investment 
services.  QAll qualified bidders for investment transactions will must be: 

 
a) be mMembers in good standing of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of 

Canada; or 
b) Investment Dealers Association (regulated by the B.C. Securities Commission), 

Chartered Bank; ors,  
c) Credit Unions; or 
a)d)  and tThe Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia.  

  
 9.0  Authorized and Suitable Investments  
  
  The Municipality is empowered by the Community Charter to invest in the following types of 

securities:  
  
  Money borrowed or revenue raised that is not immediately required may be invested or 
reinvested by the council in one or more of the following:  
  

a) securities of Canada or of a province;  
b) securities guaranteed for principal and interest by Canada or by a province;  
c) securities of a Municipality or regional district;  
d) securities of the Greater Vancouver Water District, if the Municipality is in or partly 

in the district;  
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e)d) securities of the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia;  
f)e) investments guaranteed by a chartered bank;  
g)f) deposits in a savings institution, or non-equity or membership shares of a credit union; 

and  
h)g) pooled investment funds under section 16 of the Municipal Finance Authority Act.  

  
  
  
  

 10.0  Diversification  
  
  The Municipality RMOW will diversify its investments by security type and institutionissuer 

and maturity.  With the exception of securities issued by the Municipal Finance Authority 
and/or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, n.  Not more than twenty-five (25) percent of 
the Municipality’s total investment portfolio will be invested with a single province, regional 
district, or financial institution (with the exception of the Municipal Finance Authority)..  

  
 11.0  Portfolio Guidelines  

  
  The Municipality will invest directly or by way of pooled investments in a Money 

MarketShort Term portfolio, an Intermediate portfolio and a Long TermBond portfolio.   
 

The Short Term portfolio seeks to match as closely as possibleTo the extent possible, the 
Municipality will match its investments with anticipated c anticipated cash flow requirements 
to the next taxation due date. Maximum term for investments in this portfolio is one year.  
These investments generally do not allow early redemption. 

  
  The maximum maturity of instruments in the Money Market portfolio is one year or less. The 

maximum term to maturity in the Intermediate portfolio is up to two years and up to seven 
years in the Bond portfolioThe Long Term debt portfolio includes investments with remaining 
term to maturity of up to seven years.  Investments will be purchased with the intention of 
holding them to maturity, although the opportunity to sell prior to maturity may be exercised 
where market conditions warrant.  

  
  The value of the Municipality’s Bond portfolio shall not exceed the aggregate of the 
Municipality’s statutory and non-statutory reserves.  
  

 12.0  Performance Targets  
  
  The investment portfolios will be designed to obtain a market average rate of return, taking 

into account the Municipality’s investment risk constraints, cash flow requirements, and active 
management strategy.  This policy recognizes that the reliability of performance evaluation 
(i.e. comparison to benchmarks) increases with the duration of the measurement period.  

  
 Portfolio performance will be measured against the Municipal Finance Authority Pooled 

Funds, both Short Term and Long Term.  
  

   The benchmark rates of return shall be:  
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 12.1  Money Market Portfolio:   
  

To exceed twenty-five basis points (0.25%) above the yield of the Scotia McLeod 
thirty (30) Day Treasury Bill Index.  

  
   12.2  Intermediate Portfolio:   

  
To achieve a return of fifty basis points (0.50%) above the yield of the Canada One (1) 
Year Treasury Bill.  

  
   12.3  Bond Fund:   

  
To achieve a return of forty-five basis points (0.45%) above the yield of the Scotia 
McLeod Short Term Bond Index.  

  
 13.0  Relationships  
  
 The Municipality shall develop and maintain sound working relationships with the local financial 
institutions, investment consultants, investment dealers and other deposit institutions.  
  
 14.0  Competitive Bids  

  
  The Municipality shall solicit competitive verbal quotations for the purchase and sale of 

securities when it is prudent to do so.  This policy recognizes that from time to time, offerings 
of value may require immediate action.  Under such circumstances, competitive bids may not 
be sought provided that value can be substantiated by market data information services.  

  
 15.0  Safekeeping and Custody  

  
  All security transactions entered into by the Municipality shall be conducted on a delivery 

versus payment (DVP) basis.  Settlement may take place at the main branch of the 
Municipality’s custodial bank or alternativelyin any Canadian city, and will be held by the 
same bank, or alternatively , shall be registered with the Central Depository for Securities 
(CDS).  

  
1.    15.1  Authorization:  

1.   
2.1. The custodial bank shall not accept delivery or payment without prior authorization and 

instructions from the Municipality.  
  

ii.    15.2  Evidence:  
1.   

3.2. All transactions shall be evidenced by a contract advice from the investment dealer, as 
well as a settlement advice from the custodial bank.  

  
iii.    15.3  Registration:  

1.   
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4.3. All securities that are in registerable form shall be registered in the name of the Resort 
Municipality of Whistler, or the nominee of the Municipality’s custodial bank.  

  
iv.    15.4  Internal Control:  

1.   
5.4. The General Manager of Corporate ServicesDirector of Finance shall establish an annual 

process of independent review by an external auditor to evaluate compliance with 
policies and procedures.  

  
 16.0  Reporting  

  
  The General Manager of Corporate ServicesDirector of Finance is charged with the 

responsibility of reporting to Council on investment holdings on a quarterly basis and 
investment performance on an annual basis.  The report will identify deviations from policy 
and will include summary information on investment holdings.  

  
Certified Correct:  
  
  
          
Brenda SimsAlba Banman, Municipal Clerk  
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COUNCIL POLICY 

POLICY NUMBER: A-3         DATE OF RESOLUTION: December 17, 2019 

INVESTMENTS 

1.0 Policy 

It is the policy of the Resort Municipality of Whistler (“the Municipality“) to invest Municipal 
funds in a manner which will maximize the safe return on its cash by way of short, medium 
and long term debt and fixed income investments that comply with the statutory requirements 
of the Community Charter.  

2.0 Strategy 

Recognizing a generally positive yield curve for fixed income investments and debt 
instruments, the Municipality’s short term investments will aim to target maturities that match 
the cashflow demands of its operations.  

3.0 Scope 

This investment policy applies to all liquid financial assets of the Municipality.  These funds 
are accounted for in the annual Financial Report and include Reserve and Trust funds, as well 
as working capital.  

4.0 Prudence 

Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, 
which persons of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their 
own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of their 
capital as well as the probable income to be derived.  

The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent person” 
standard and shall be applied in the context of managing an overall portfolio.  Investment 
officers acting in accordance with written procedures and the investment policy and exercising 
due diligence shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security’s credit risk 
or market price changes, provided deviations from expectations are reported in a timely 
fashion and appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments.  
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 5.0  Objectives  

  
  The investment of Municipal funds must be conservative based on the following objectives:  
  

 5.1        Safety and Preservation of Capital:  
  

Investments shall be diversified, and undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital in the overall portfolio.  

  
 5.2  Liquidity:  

  
The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the Municipality to 
meet all those operating requirements which might be reasonably anticipated.  

  
 5.3  Return on Investment:  

  
The investment portfolio shall be managed with the objective of attaining a market 
rate of return (as defined in section 12.0) throughout budgetary and economic cycles, 
subject to the constraints of the Municipality’s diversification, preservation of capital 
and liquidity requirements.  

  
 6.0  Delegation of Authority  

  
  Authority to manage the Municipality’s investment program is derived from the Section 149 of 

the Community Charter.  
  
  Management responsibility for the investment program is hereby delegated to the Director of 

Finance, who shall establish and maintain written procedures for the operation of the 
investment program consistent with this investment policy.  Such procedures shall include 
explicit delegation of authority to persons responsible for investment transactions.  No person 
may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this policy and 
the procedures established by the Director of Finance.  The Director of Finance shall be 
responsible for all transactions undertaken.  

  
 7.0  Ethics and Conflict of Interest  

  
  Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal 

business activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which 
could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions.  Investment employees and 
officials shall disclose to the Municipal Clerk any material financial interests in financial 
institutions and/or investment dealers that conduct business with the Municipality.  

  
 8.0  Authorized Investment Dealers and Institutions  

  
  The Finance Department will maintain a list of financial institutions and investment dealers 

authorized to provide investment services.  Qualified bidders for investment transactions must 
be: 

 

Page 425 of 542



A-3 - Investments –December 17, 2019 

3 
 

a) Member in good standing of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of 
Canada; or 

b) Chartered Bank; or 
c) Credit Union; or 
d) The Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia.  

  
 9.0  Authorized and Suitable Investments  

  
  The Municipality is empowered by the Community Charter to invest in the following types of 

securities:  
  

a) securities of Canada or of a province;  
b) securities guaranteed for principal and interest by Canada or by a province;  
c) securities of a Municipality or regional district;  
d) securities of the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia;  
e) investments guaranteed by a chartered bank;  
f) deposits in a savings institution, or non-equity or membership shares of a credit union; 

and  
g) pooled investment funds under section 16 of the Municipal Finance Authority Act.  

    
 10.0  Diversification  

  
  The RMOW will diversify its investments by issuer and maturity.  Not more than twenty-five 

(25) percent of the Municipality’s total investment portfolio will be invested with a single 
province, regional district, or financial institution (with the exception of the Municipal Finance 
Authority). 

  
 11.0  Portfolio Guidelines  

  
  The Municipality will invest directly or by way of pooled investments in a Short Term 

portfolio, and a Long Term portfolio.   
 

The Short Term portfolio seeks to match as closely as possible anticipated cash flow 
requirements to the next taxation due date. Maximum term for investments in this portfolio is 
one year.  These investments generally do not allow early redemption. 

  
  The Long Term debt portfolio includes investments with remaining term to maturity of up to 

seven years.  Investments will be purchased with the intention of holding them to maturity, 
although the opportunity to sell prior to maturity may be exercised where market conditions 
warrant.  

   
 12.0  Performance Targets  

  
  The investment portfolios will be designed to obtain a market average rate of return, taking 

into account the Municipality’s investment constraints.   
  
 Portfolio performance will be measured against the Municipal Finance Authority Pooled 

Funds, both Short Term and Long Term.  
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 13.0  Competitive Bids  

  
  The Municipality shall solicit competitive verbal quotations for the purchase and sale of 

securities when it is prudent to do so.  This policy recognizes that from time to time, offerings 
of value may require immediate action.  Under such circumstances, competitive bids may not 
be sought provided that value can be substantiated by market data information services.  

  
 14.0  Safekeeping and Custody  

  
  All security transactions entered into by the Municipality shall be conducted on a delivery 

versus payment basis.  Settlement may take place at the Municipality’s custodial bank in any 
Canadian city, and will be held by the same bank, or alternatively be registered with the 
Central Depository for Securities (CDS).  

  
1. Authorization: The custodial bank shall not accept delivery or payment without prior 

authorization and instructions from the Municipality.  
 

2. Evidence: All transactions shall be evidenced by a contract advice from the investment 
dealer, as well as a settlement advice from the custodial bank.  

 
3. Registration: All securities that are in registerable form shall be registered in the name of 

the Resort Municipality of Whistler, or the nominee of the Municipality’s custodial 
bank.  

 
4. Internal Control: The Director of Finance shall establish an annual process of 

independent review by an external auditor to evaluate compliance with policies and 
procedures.  

 
 15.0  Reporting  

  
  The Director of Finance is charged with the responsibility of reporting to Council on 

investment holdings on a quarterly basis and investment performance on an annual basis.  The 
report will identify deviations from policy and will include summary information on 
investment holdings.  

  
Certified Correct:  
  
  
          
Alba Banman, Municipal Clerk  
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019  REPORT: 19-166 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: 4350 

SUBJECT: FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019-2023 AMENDMENT BYLAW NO. 2265, 2019 

COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be 
endorsed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-
2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019” 

REFERENCES 

Appendix “A” – Schedule A of “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 
2019” 

Appendix “B” – Schedule B of “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 
2019” 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

This Report seeks first three readings of the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment 
Bylaw No. 2265, 2019” to amend “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Bylaw No. 2225, 2019” for 
the purposes discussed below.  

DISCUSSION  

Project T001 - Upgrade Roads 

The 2019 road reconstruction projects consisted of upgrades to roads and cross walks in Function 
Junction, several main roads (Spring Creek Drive, Whistler Way, and Eva Lake Road), several 
sections of Valley Trail, and the Myrtle Phillip School Tennis court.   

Cost overruns totalling $61,000 were incurred for these projects due to the following: 

 Additional costs were incurred for traffic control in Function Junction due to challenges with 
paving and painting the roads and pedestrian pathway amidst ongoing busy traffic.  

 Overtime payment to Alpine Paving for delays during paving Spring Creek Drive due to 
management of the elementary school traffic flow and staff prioritizing the needs of the 
school over paving activities.  

 Additional consulting fees were paid to manage contract administration by ISL Engineering.  
 Cost overruns for additional paving areas that were greater than areas bid in the tender 

package, but were deemed necessary for an upgrade by staff.  

Staff plan to better mitigate cost over runs for the 2020 planned budget by better planning for traffic 
management and quantities of asphalt required to upgrade the road and valley trail system.  
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Project S018 Community Wildfire Protection 

S018 Community Wildfire Protection is expected to exceed its 2019 budgeted expenditure of 
$494,450 by approximately $405,000 in the 2019 fiscal year. Spending in each of the subprojects 
(detailed on pp 149-150 in Appendix “A” of Report 19-028) is expected to end the year within 
budgeted amounts. However, it is now understood that grants worth a combined $900,000 that 
were budgeted as credits against this project will not materialize. The reason for this is that these 
were one-time grants for work completed in 2018, and for which accounting had already been 
complete in that year. Their inclusion in the 2019 Budget Amounts was done in error, and resulted 
from a miscommunication between Finance and the Project Manager. Internal processes have 
since been strengthened and this type of error should not occur again. An amendment to the Five-
Year Financial Plan Bylaw is proposed to increase this budget to $899,450 in light of current and 
correct understanding of this project’s available funding sources. 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

Section 165 of the Community Charter requires municipalities to prepare a five-year financial plan 
to be adopted annually by bylaw. Once adopted, the plan is in effect until it is amended, and may be 
amended by bylaw at any time. 

BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS 

The five-year financial plan sets the budget for the next five years, and is prepared annually. It can 
be revised at any time by bylaw, and is being revised to reflect proposed changes. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

The “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019” is being presented at 
a Regular Council Meeting. Consistent with Community Charter requirements. 

SUMMARY 

This Bylaw, the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019” is to 
amend “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Bylaw No. 2225, 2019” in order to increase the budget 
allocation to projects T001 and S018. The result of these changes is an increase in the transfers 
from the General Operating and General Capital Reserves as detailed on Schedule “B” of the Five-
Year Financial Plan 2019-2023. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Carlee Price 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE A
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
REVENUE

General Fund
Property Taxes 39,180,627    40,062,191    40,963,590    41,885,271    42,827,690    
Other Property Tax 1,008,200      1,030,885      1,054,079      1,077,796      1,102,047      
Government Grants 688,906         700,000         705,000         710,000         715,000         
Fees and Charges 11,943,016    12,181,876    12,425,514    12,674,024    12,927,505    
Investment Income 2,273,900      2,383,900      2,493,900      2,603,900      2,713,900      
RMI Grant 6,940,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      
MRDT 11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    
Works and Service Charges 606,107         600,000         600,000         600,000         600,000         
Water Fund
Parcel Taxes 3,966,915      4,046,253      4,127,178      4,209,722      4,293,916      
Fees and Charges 3,017,812      3,078,168      3,139,732      3,202,526      3,266,577      
Works and Service Charges 47,500           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Sewer Fund
Parcel Taxes 4,189,416      4,273,204      4,358,668      4,445,842      4,534,759      
Fees and Charges 3,873,417      3,950,885      4,029,903      4,110,501      4,192,711      
Works and Service Charges 198,770         200,000         200,000         200,000         200,000         
Solid Waste Fund
Fees and Charges 5,898,154      6,016,117      6,136,439      6,259,168      6,384,352      
Government Grants 481,000         480,000         485,000         490,000         495,000         

95,613,740    97,253,480    98,969,005    100,718,751  102,503,455  

EXPENDITURE 1,639,740             1,715,524             1,749,746             1,784,705             

General Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 53,396,486    55,425,553    57,531,724    59,717,929    61,987,210    
Debt Interest & Principal 239,299         239,299         239,299         239,299         239,299         
Residents & Partners 7,844,150      7,813,650      7,773,650      7,843,650      7,693,650      
Contingency 647,172         658,331         680,954         704,401         728,702         
Water Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 1,894,138      1,922,550      1,951,388      1,980,659      2,010,369      
Debt Interest & Principal - - - - - 
Sewer Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 2,813,851      2,856,059      2,898,900      2,942,383      2,986,519      
Debt Interest & Principal 1,370,453      1,370,453      1,370,453      1,210,453      1,210,453      
Solid Waste Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 5,545,774      5,628,961      5,713,395      5,799,096      5,886,082      
Debt Interest & Principal 472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         

74,223,578    76,387,110    78,632,018    80,910,125    83,214,540    
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE A Cont'd
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

TRANSFERS TO (FROM )
OTHER FUNDS / RESERVES

Interest Paid to Reserves 2,000,000      2,146,090      2,245,044      2,342,468      2,442,957      
Recreation Works Charges Reserve 305,350         300,000         300,000         300,000         300,000         
Transportation Works Charges Reserve 260,257         250,000         250,000         250,000         250,000         
Employee Housing Charges Reserve -                 45,000           45,000           45,000           45,000           
RMI Reserve 2,747,590      2,475,000      2,250,000      1,950,000      1,050,000      
2% MRDT Reserve 1,617,656      650,000         315,000         185,000-         82,000-           
General Capital Reserve 4,716,967      4,787,722      4,859,537      4,932,430      5,006,417      
Parking Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Parkland and ESA Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 992,582         1,240,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      
General Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
General Operating Reserve 1,454,860      1,575,000      1,575,000      1,575,000      1,575,000      
Water Works Charges Reserve 47,500           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Capital Reserve 3,180,586      3,228,295      3,276,719      3,325,870      3,375,758      
Water Operating Reserve 573,375         581,976         590,706         599,566         608,560         
Water Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Sewer Works Charges Reserve 198,770         200,000         200,000         200,000         200,000         
Sewer Capital Reserve 2,016,569      2,046,818      2,077,520      2,108,683      2,140,313      
Sewer Operating Reserve 448,568         448,568         448,568         448,568         448,568         
Sewer Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 861,890         874,818         887,941         901,260         914,779         
Solid Waste Operating Reserve (32,359)          (32,917)          (34,048)          (35,220)          (36,435)          
Solid Waste Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 
21,390,162    20,866,370    20,336,987    19,808,625    19,288,916    

REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURE
 AND TRANSFERS 0 0 0 0 0
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE B
CONSOLIDATED PROJECT SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING

General Fund
Government Grants 1,903,110      232,000         250,000         92,500           - 
Contribution from Developers - - - - - 
Equipment disposal proceeds - - - - - 
WHA construction loan - (5,000,000) - - - 
Other Contributions 200,000         - - - - 
WCSS loan payments 50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Fund
Government Grants 558,659         - - - - 
Other Contributions - - - - - 
Sewer Fund
Government Grants - - - - - 
Solid Waste Fund
Government Grants 390,000         - - - - 

3,101,769      (4,718,000)     300,000         142,500         50,000           

EXPENDITURE
General Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 2,483,375      1,353,198      624,067         734,751         434,476         
Infrastructure Maintenance 14,988,055    12,133,200    6,641,300      4,989,600      3,694,200      
Capital Expenditure 11,011,089    3,388,060      2,009,520      2,990,228      2,591,054      
WCSS loan - - - - - 
Water Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 893,500         957,500         1,698,500      1,794,500      390,500         
Infrastructure Maintenance 4,604,000      2,515,000      1,405,000      3,025,000      580,000         
Capital Expenditure 5,000             120,000         - - - 
Sewer Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 785,000         597,000         827,000         817,000         617,000         
Infrastructure Maintenance 5,874,000      3,695,000      4,675,000      3,210,000      2,210,000      
Capital Expenditure 570,000         3,140,000      520,000         - - 
Solid Waste Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 105,000         40,000           40,000           40,000           - 
Infrastructure Maintenance 455,891         447,428         422,428         332,428         322,428         
Capital Expenditure 630,000         150,000         50,000           - - 
All Funds
Depreciation 12,346,893    12,746,893    13,146,893    13,546,893    13,946,893    

54,751,803    41,283,280    32,059,708    31,480,400    24,786,551    

Appendix B
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
TRANSFERS (TO) FROM 
OTHER FUNDS (RESERVES)

RMI Reserve 5,953,280      4,599,480      1,789,480      495,480         369,080         
2% MRDT Reserve 1,072,282      701,000         626,000         626,000         620,300         
General Capital Reserve 9,636,550      4,328,544      1,500,278      969,779         883,574         
Recreation Works Charges 1,528,321      600,000         400,000         600,000         -                     
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 3,264,813      1,454,916      880,000         2,341,245      1,925,089      
Library Reserve 62,000           35,000           60,000           35,000           45,000           
General Operating Reserve 2,492,163      1,851,016      1,621,625      1,664,569      1,461,679      

Transportation Works Charges 3,240,000      3,072,500      2,147,500      1,890,000      1,415,000      
Water Capital Reserve 4,765,341      3,413,125      2,935,000      4,540,000      780,000         
Water Operating Reserve 358,500         192,500         183,500         279,500         190,500         
Sewer Capital Reserve 6,264,000      6,821,875      5,180,000      3,210,000      2,210,000      
Sewer Operating Reserve 785,000         597,000         827,000         817,000         617,000         
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 695,891         597,428         472,428         332,428         322,428         
Solid Waste Operating Reserve 105,000         40,000           40,000           40,000           -                     

40,223,141    28,304,386    18,662,815    17,841,007    10,839,658    

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON CASH ITEMS AND CHANGES TO NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
Depreciation 12,346,893    12,746,893    13,146,893    13,546,893    13,946,893    
WCSS loan (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          
WHA construction loan -                     5,000,000      -                     -                     -                     
WDC Loan (870,000)        -                     -                     -                     -                     

11,426,893    17,696,893    13,096,893    13,496,893    13,896,893    

REVENUE AND TRANSFERS 
LESS EXPENDITURE -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
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PRESENTED: December 17, 2019 REPORT: 19-167 

FROM: Corporate and Community Services FILE: 4530 

SUBJECT: FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2020-2024 BYLAW NO. 2258, 2019 

 
COMMENT/RECOMMENDATION FROM THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

That the recommendation of the General Manager of Corporate and Community Services be endorsed. 
  
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council consider giving first, second and third readings to the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-
2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019”. 

REFERENCES 

“Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019” (Not attached) 

PURPOSE 

The Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 sets out the proposed revenue sources and expenditures for 
the municipality for the period January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024. 

DISCUSSION 

The Community Charter requires municipalities to approve a five-year financial plan bylaw each year 
prior to the adoption of the annual property tax bylaw before May 15, 2020. The attached bylaw and 
schedules reflect the following guidelines as adopted at the December 3, 2019 Regular Council 
Meeting: 

1. To implement a 2.8 per cent increase to property value taxes in 2020; 

2. To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to sewer parcel taxes and user fees in 2020; 

3. To implement a 2.0 per cent increase to water parcel taxes and user fees in 2020; 

4. To implement a 20 per cent increase solid waste parcel taxes and fees in 2020; and 

5. To include the project amounts as described in Appendix “A” to Administrative Report to Council 
No. 19-156 with the exception that project P-075 be amended to be fully funded from the RMI 
reserve. 

During the budget preparation process staff has worked to find methods to deliver expected service 
levels efficiently, in an environment of generally rising costs and volumes of purchased goods and 
services. Reasonable changes have been made to expectations for non-tax revenue sources such as 
parking and building permit fees. Strong economic activity in the resort has endured and indexed fees 
for municipal facilities give staff a degree of visibility. These revenue increases reduce the weight borne 
by property taxes for meeting the financial needs of a growing community. Expected expenditures for 
2020 include reserve contributions that are up relative to last year with the exception of the General 
Operating Reserve Contribution.  Reductions in contributions to this reserve are the result of, and offset 
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by, operating projects whose nature now dictates that the project expenditures are better situated in the 
operating budget. Reserve contributions are meant to ensure that the future capital maintenance 
requirements of existing fixed infrastructure can be met, and that the RMOW is financially prepared for 
potential opportunities, or for unexpected operating interruptions 

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

Section 165 of the Community Charter requires municipalities to prepare a five-year financial plan to be 
adopted annually by bylaw. Once adopted, the plan is in effect until it is amended, and may be 
amended by bylaw at any time.  

Section 165 (3.1) requires additional disclosure regarding the proportion of revenues from each source 
and the objectives and policies in relation to the distribution of property value taxes among the different 
classes. This information is provided in Schedule “C” of the Bylaw. 

 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY 

Community engagement and consultation is an ongoing process throughout the year and includes the 
Community Life Survey, the Festivals, Events and Animation Oversight Committee, public meetings, 
and online information. 

On November 12, 2019 a public open house was held for community members to view budget 
information, provide comments and ask questions of staff and Council. This provided an opportunity to 
hear about community planning, proposed projects and changes proposed for the 2020 operating 
budget. Written feedback was collected at the event, and in the weeks that followed through both email 
and the post. Suggestions for improving projects were the most common type of comment, and the 
washrooms (P075) and Bayly Park (P051) most referenced.  On balance the feedback received was 
positive and constructive.   

All presentations are available to the public on the budget pages of the municipal website. 

 
SUMMARY 

The Financial Plan Bylaw sets out the proposed revenues, expenditures and transfers for the years 
2020 through 2024. Consistent with the Community Charter, this Bylaw guides all municipal operating 
and capital spending across the organization. This Bylaw is being presented to Council for 
consideration of the first three readings prior to adoption. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Carlee Price 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

for 
Ted Battiston 
GENERAL MANAGER OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY BYLAW 2201, 2019 

 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES, FIREWORKS, AND THE SAFETY AND 

PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY  
 

WHEREAS pursuant to section 8(2) of the Community Charter, a municipality may provide any service 
that the council considers necessary or desirable; 

 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 8(3)(d) of the Community Charter, a municipality may, by 
bylaw, regulate, prohibit and impose requirements in relation to firecrackers, fireworks and 
explosives; 

 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 8(3)(g) of the Community Charter, a municipality may, by 
bylaw, regulate, prohibit and impose requirements in relation to the health, safety and protection of 
persons or property; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
PART 1 – CITATION 
 

1.1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019.” 

 
PART 2 – COMPLIANCE WITH FIRE CODE 

 
2.1. Any person who contravenes, violates or fails to comply with a provision of the Fire Code 

commits an offence under this Bylaw. 
 
PART 3 – INTERPRETATION 

 
Words and Phrases 

3.1. Unless specifically defined in this Bylaw, words and phrases used in this Bylaw shall be 
construed in accordance with the meanings assigned to them in the Fire Services Act, the 
British Columbia Building Code, the Fire Code, and the Community Charter, as the context 
and circumstances require. 

 
References 

3.2. Any reference to the Fire Chief shall include a reference to any person duly authorized by the 
Fire Chief to exercise any of the Fire Chief’s powers or to carry out any of the Fire Chief’s 
duties under this Bylaw, including the Fire Chief’s deputy. 

 
Definitions 

 
3.3. In this Bylaw: 

(a) “Actual Costs” means: 

(i) for goods and services provided using contractors and suppliers, all amounts 
invoiced to the Municipality plus a 15% administration fee; and 
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(ii) for services provided using the Municipality’s own forces and equipment, a fee 
calculated using the hourly rates prescribed in Schedule “C” of this Bylaw;  

 

(b) “Building” means any structure used or intended for supporting or sheltering any use or 
occupancy; 

 
(c) “Campfire Permit” means a current and valid permit issued by the Fire Rescue Service 

authorizing a person to carry out the fire-related activities described in the permit; 

 
(d) “Consumer Fireworks” means all Fireworks other than High Hazard Fireworks and Movie 

Pyrotechnics; 
 
(e) “Dangerous Goods” means those products or substances that are regulated under the 

Canada Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act and its Regulations, as amended or 
replaced from time to time; 

 
(f) “Danger Class Website” means the website maintained by  the Wildlife  Management  

Branch  of  the  Province  of  British  Columbia  for  the  purpose  of  providing the 
current Fire Danger Rating; 

 
(g) “False Alarm” means the activation of a fire alarm system or security alarm system as a 

result of which services, including fire and police services, are provided by or on behalf of 
the Resort Municipality and the providers of the services do not find any evidence of fire, 
fire damage, smoke, criminal activity or unauthorized entry; 

 
(h) “Fire Alarm System” means a device or devices installed on or in a real property and 

designed to issue a warning of a fire by activating an audible alarm signal or alerting a 
monitoring facility but does not include a fire alarm system that is intended to alert only 
the occupants of the dwelling unit in which it is installed;  

 
(i) “Fire Chief” means the person appointed as the f ire chief for the Municipality, acting 

as the head of the Fire Rescue Service; 

 
(j) “Fire Code” means the British Columbia Fire Code Regulation made under the Fire 

Services Act, as amended or replaced from time to time; 
 

(k) “Fire Danger Rating” means the current fire danger rating for the Municipality, as issued 
by the British Columbia Wildfire Management Branch or its successor in function; 

 
(l) “Fire Hazard” means any condition, arrangement or act which increases the likelihood 

of fire or which may provide a ready fuel supply to augment the spread or intensity of a 
fire, or which may obstruct, delay, hinder, or interfere with the operations of the Fire 
Rescue Service or the egress of occupants in the event of a fire; 

 

(m) “Fire Inspector” means the Fire Chief and every Member authorized to carry out fire 
inspections in the Municipality; 

 
(n) “Fire Protection” means all aspects of fire safety, including but not limited to, fire 

prevention, firefighting or suppression, pre-fire planning, fire investigation, and fire and 
life safety education; 
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(o) “Fire Rescue Service” means the fire rescue service established for the Municipality and 
continued under this Bylaw; 

 
(p) “Fire Safety Plan” means a fire safety plan for a Building required under the Fire Code 

or this Bylaw that includes, without limitation: 

 
(i) emergency procedures to be used in case of fire; 

 
(ii) training and appointment of designated supervisory staff to carry out fire 

safety duties; 

 
(iii) documents showing the type, location and operation of fire emergency 

systems; 

 
(iv) the holding of fire drills; 

 
(v) the control of Fire Hazards; and 

 
(vi) inspection and maintenance of facilities for the safety of the Building’s 

occupants; 

 
(q) “Fireworks” includes, but is not limited to: cannon crackers, fireballs, firecrackers, mines, 

Roman candles, sky rockets, squibs, torpedoes, and other explosive products or 
devices manufactured to intentionally produce an explosion, detonation or pyrotechnic 
effect, but does not include caps for toy products, Christmas crackers, or model rocket 
engines; 
 

(r) “Fireworks Permit” means a current and valid document issued by the Fire Chief or a 
Member authorizing a person to carry out the Fireworks-related activities described 
in the permit; 

 
(s) “High Hazard Fireworks” includes rockets, serpents, shells, bombshells, tourbillions, 

maroons, large wheels, bouquets, barrages, gerbs, comets, croissettes, mines, 
bombardos, waterfalls, fountains, batteries, illumination, set pieces, pigeons, and 
firecrackers and fireworks classed as display fireworks under the federal Explosives 
Regulation, 2013; 

 
(t) “High Risk Construction Activity” means:  

(i) mechanical brushing; 

(ii) disk trenching; 

(iii) preparation or use of explosives; 

(iv) using fire- or spark-producing tools, including cutting tools 

(v) using or preparing fireworks or pyrotechnics; 

(vi) grinding, including rail grinding; 

(vii) mechanical land clearing; 

(viii) clearing and maintaining rights of way, including grass mowing; 
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(ix) using battery powered or electric cutting tools; and 

(x) any of the following activities carried out in a cutblock excluding a road, landing, 

roadside work area or log sort area in the cutblock: 

(A) operating a power saw; 

(B) mechanical tree felling, woody debris piling or tree processing, including 

de-limbing; 

(C) welding; 

(D)  portable wood chipping, milling, processing or manufacturing; 

skidding logs or log forwarding unless it is improbable that the skidding or 

forwarding will result in the equipment contacting rock; 

(E) yarding logs using cable systems; 

   
(u) “Incident” means a fire, explosion, situation where a fire or explosion is imminent, or 

any other situation presenting a danger or possible danger to life, to property or to the 
environment to which the Fire Rescue Service has responded; 

 
(v) “Incident Commander” means the Member assuming command at the scene of an 

Incident; 
 

(w) “Member” means a person employed by the Municipality and holding a position within the 
Fire Rescue Service; 

 
(x) “Movie Pyrotechnics” means any Fireworks used by a person or corporation for the 

purpose of commercial photography, video, film or television productions and includes 
special effect pyrotechnics under the federal Explosives Regulations, 2013; 

 
(y) “Municipality” means the Resort Municipality of Whistler; 

 
(z) “Occupier” includes any lessee, tenant and licensee of any Building or Premises;  

 
(aa) “Owner” means a person who has ownership or control of real or personal property, and 

includes, without limitation: 
 

(i) the registered owner of an estate in fee simple; 
(ii) the registered holder of the last registered agreement for sale; and 
(iii) the tenant for life under a registered life estate; and 
(iv) in relation to common property and common facilities in a strata plan, the strata 

corporation; 
 

(bb) “Premises” includes the whole or any part of a parcel of real property and any Buildings 
located on the property; and 
 

(cc) “Vacant Premises” includes a Premises, Building or other structure in respect of which 
water or electricity service has been intentionally discontinued, other than for temporary 
maintenance, repair or upgrading, so that the condition of the Premises is not suitable for 
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human habitation or other occupancy that is normally permitted. 
 
Conflict 
 
3.2 In the event of a conflict, discrepancy, variation or inconsistency between this Bylaw and the Fire 

Services Act, the Fire Code, or the British Columbia Building Code, the provisions of the Fire 
Services Act, the Fire Code or the Building Code, as the case may be, shall prevail over the 
provisions of this Bylaw to the extent of any conflict, discrepancy, variation or inconsistency. 

 
Application 

 
3.3 The provisions of this Bylaw apply to all Buildings, structures, Premises and conditions within 

the Municipality, including Buildings under construction. 
 

PART 4 – FIRE RESCUE SERVICE 

 
Continuation 
 
4.1 The Fire Rescue Service is hereby continued for the purpose of providing the services 

contemplated under this Bylaw. 
 
Limits on Jurisdiction 
 
4.2 The limits of the jurisdiction of the Fire Rescue Service extend to the boundaries of the 

Municipality, and no apparatus or equipment of the Fire Rescue Service shall be used 
beyond the limits of the Municipality without: 

 
(a) an express written agreement with the local authority providing for the supply of 

firefighting and rescue services outside the boundaries of the Municipality; or 

 
(b) the approval of Council and, if required by the Community Charter, the consent of the 

local authority. 
 
Prevention, Control and Enforcement 
 
4.3 The Fire Rescue Service may take all necessary measures for the prevention, suppression, 

control and extinguishment of fires, for mitigating the effects of incidents involving Dangerous 
Goods, and for the protection of life and property, including conducting assistant response 
and administering emergency medical services. 

 
Responsibilities of Fire Chief 

 
4.4 The Fire Chief shall be responsible for the management, control and supervision of the Fire 

Rescue Service, including the Members, all Buildings, apparatus and equipment associated 
with the Fire Rescue Service. 

 
Powers of Fire Chief 

 
4.5 The Fire Chief may exercise one or more of the following powers in addition to those powers 

granted under the Fire Services Act: 
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(a) make and enforce rules for the proper and efficient administration and operation of the 

Fire Rescue Service and change, replace or withdraw those rules; 

 
(b) enter on and inspect Premises for conditions that may cause a fire, increase the danger 

of a fire or increase the danger to persons or property from fire; 

 
(c) enter Premises for the purpose of responding to an Incident; 

 
(d) take measures considered necessary to prevent and suppress fires, including the 

demolition of Buildings and other structures to prevent the spreading of fires; 

 
(e) require an Owner or Occupier to undertake any actions the Fire Chief considers 

necessary for the purpose of removing or reducing any thing or condition the Fire Chief 
considers is a Fire Hazard or increases the danger of fire; and 

 
(f) enforce the Fire Code, this Bylaw and any other bylaws, rules, orders and regulations 

of the Municipality for the prevention and suppression of fire and the protection of life 
and property. 

 
Powers of the Incident Commander 
 
4.6 The Incident Commander may: 

 
(a) enter those Premises at which the Incident occurred, and any neighbouring Premises, 

and may cause to enter the Premises any Member, apparatus or equipment deemed 
necessary in order to combat, control or deal with that Incident; and 

 
(b) cause the demolition of any Building or part of a Building which, in the opinion of the 

Incident Commander, must be demolished in order to prevent the spread of fire or further 
damage to property, injury to persons, or possible loss of life. 
 

Inspection of Buildings 
 
4.7 The Fire Rescue Service shall implement annual inspections of all hotels and public buildings 

as defined by the Fire Services Act. 
 
4.8 Every Owner of a Premises liable for inspection under section 4.7 of this Bylaw shall pay the 

annual Inspection Service Fee for the Premises in the amount set out in Schedule “B” of this 
Bylaw. 
 

4.9 If a Premises inspected under section 4.7 of this Bylaw requires more than one re-inspection to 
determine that an unsatisfactory condition has been addressed, then the Owner of the Premises 
shall pay the re-inspection fee for the second re-inspection and for each subsequent re-
inspection in the amount set out in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 
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PART 5 – GENERAL PROHIBITIONS 

 
No Interference 
 
5.1 No person shall impede or hinder in any way the execution of the duties of any Member or any 

other person under the direction of the Incident Commander in charge at an Incident. 

 
5.2 No person shall interfere with or refuse to permit any Member to enter into or upon 

Premises in relation to which an alarm or other request for assistance has been received or 
in or upon which a Member has reasonable grounds to believe that an Incident has occurred 
or may occur. 

 
No Unauthorized Entry 
 
5.3 No person shall, except as authorized by the Fire Chief or the Incident Commander in charge 

at an Incident: 

(a) enter any Building or Premises threatened by an Incident; 

 
(b) enter within any area designated by ropes, guards or tape erected by or under the 

direction of a peace officer or a Member across or around any street, lane, alley or 
Building; or 

 
(c) refuse to move from such designated area when directed to do so by a peace 

officer or Member. 
 
Traffic Control 
 
5.4 All persons at or near an Incident shall obey all traffic control directions given by a peace officer 

or a Member. 
 
False Representations 
 
5.5 No person shall make false representations as to being a Member of the Fire Rescue 

Service, or wear or display any Fire Rescue Service badge, cap, button, insignia or other 
paraphernalia for the purpose of such false representation. 

 
No Driving Over Equipment 
 
5.6 No person shall drive a vehicle over any hose or other equipment of the Fire Rescue Service 

unless so directed by a peace officer or Member. In addition to any penalty imposed under this 
Bylaw, a person who damages Fire Rescue Service equipment shall be liable to pay for the 
costs associated with fixing or replacing such damaged equipment. 

 
PART 6 – FIRE REGULATIONS 

 
Campfires and Other Open Air Burning 
 
6.1 No person shall light, ignite, start or burn, or cause, suffer or allow to be lighted, ignited, started 

or burned, any open air fire, including a campfire, or any fire in a portable incinerator, unless the 
fire is authorized by a Campfire Permit or is specifically permitted under this Bylaw. 
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Discarding Burning Substances 

 
6.2 No person shall discard, throw down or drop any lighted match, cigarette or other burning 

substance into or near any combustible material. 
 
Barbecues and propane fueled fire pits 
 
6.3 A person may use: 

 
(a) a natural gas or propane gas fueled fire contained within a fire pit or barbecue; or  
 
(b) a  cooking stand or barbecue in a municipal park; 

  
without a Campfire Permit. 

 
6.4 Despite section 6.3 of this Bylaw, if at any time the Fire Danger Rating for the Municipality 

reaches “high” or “extreme”, no person shall use any barbecue in a municipal park other than a 
propane barbecue. 

 
Restrictions 
 
6.5 No person shall light, ignite, start, maintain or burn a campfire unless: 

 
(a) the person holds a Campfire Permit or the campfire is in a designated fire pit within a 

Provincial, Federal or private campground; 
(b) the campfire is for recreational or ceremonial purposes; 
(c) the campfire is burning material in one pile not exceeding 0.5 metres in width and 0.5 

metres in height; 
(d) the campfire is separated at least 3 metres in all directions from combustible materials; 
(e) the campfire is not prohibited by a ban issued by the BC Wildlife Service for the Coastal 

Fire Centre Region; and 
(f) the Fire Danger Rating is indicated as “low” or “moderate” on the Danger Class Website 

as of 3:00PM that same day. 
 
Campfire Bans 
 
6.6 Where the Fire Chief deems it expedient to do so, or where the Fire Chief considers 

hazardous fire conditions to exist, the Fire Chief may temporarily ban campfires in the 
Municipality, and no person shall light, ignite, start or burn a campfire or any other open fire 
when such a ban is in place. 
 

6.7 Sections 6.1 and 6.6 do not apply to propane-fueled portable fire pits in which no other fuel is 
used. 

 
6.8 If at any time the Fire Danger Rating for the Municipality reaches “extreme”, the Fire Chief 

may temporarily close any or all parks and trail systems in the Municipality, and no person 
shall enter into any closed park or trail system. 
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Construction Bans 
 
6.9 If at any time the Fire Danger Rating for the Municipality reaches “high” or “extreme”, no person 

shall carry on any high risk construction activity within 10 metres of a forest except in strict 
accordance with the Whistler Fire Rescue Service Interface Construction and Maintenance 
Regulations attached to this Bylaw as Schedule “A”.  

 
Fire Rescue Service Open Air Burning 

 
6.10 The Fire Chief may, from time to time, authorize open air burning for the carrying out of training 

exercises conducted by the Fire Rescue Service or burning debris as part of an authorized 
wildfire fuel management project. Burning will be conducted in accordance with the Provincial 
Open Burning Smoke Control Regulation. 

 
Campfire Permit Applications 
 
6.11 Every application for a Campfire Permit, shall be made in the form prescribed by the Fire 

Chief as amended from time to time. 

 
Campfire Permit Assessment 
 
6.12 In response to a Campfire Permit application, a Member shall perform a site visit and do an 

ignition potential and suppression capability assessment based on the Wildfire Exposure 
Assessment and FireSmart Home Assessment published by Fire Smart Canada. The results of 
the assessment shall be made available to the Owner of the Premises. 

 
Campfire Permit Issuance 
 
6.13 Where an application for a Campfire Permit is made under 6.11 the Fire Rescue Service may 

issue the Campfire Permit if: 

 

(a) the Premises have been inspected by a Member in accordance with 6.12;  

 
(b) the proposed activity complies with this Bylaw and all other applicable Provincial and 

Federal enactments and bylaws of the Municipality; 
 

(c) the Member who performed a site visit determines that the proposed activity can be 
conducted with minimal risk of uncontrolled spreading of fire or nuisance smoke; and 

 
(d) the applicant has paid the applicable fee prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 

 
6.14 If an applicant is not issued a Campfire Permit following an inspection of a Premises, the 

applicant may request a re-inspection at a later date by paying the applicable fee prescribed in 
Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 

 
Duration of Campfire Permits 

 
6.15 A Campfire Permit is valid for four years and upon the expiry of the Campfire Permit, a person 

seeking to renew the permit must make a new Campfire Permit application in accordance with 
this Bylaw.  
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Conditions of Campfire Permit 

 
6.16 The Fire Rescue Service may issue the Campfire Permit subject to any conditions intended to 

eliminate any Fire Hazard in the immediate area. The conditions of the Campfire Permit must be 
met before any fire or other activity authorized by the Campfire Permit commences. 

 
Accumulation of Combustibles  
 
6.17 No person shall accumulate or permit the accumulation of combustible materials or plant growth 

in or around Premises in such a manner as to endanger property or to constitute a Fire Hazard. 

 
6.18 A Fire Inspector may issue an order to any Owner or Occupier of a Premises to remove or 

otherwise deal with an accumulation of materials or plant growth on those Premises and, upon 
receipt of such order, that Owner or Occupier shall take whatever action is specified in the 
Fire Inspector’s order within the time period specified therein, failing which the Fire Rescue 
Service may take whatever action is deemed necessary to remove the Fire Hazard at the 
expense of the Owner or Occupier of the Premises. 

 
Fire Damaged Buildings 

 
6.19 The Owner of any Building damaged by fire, explosion or similar event shall immediately act 

to ensure that the Building is guarded and that all openings and points of entry into the Building 
are kept securely closed and fastened in a manner acceptable to the Fire Chief so as to prevent 
the entry of unauthorized persons. 

 
Vacant Premises 
 
6.20 The Owner of any Vacant Premises shall act promptly to ensure that, at all times: 

 
(a) the Premises are free from litter, debris and accumulations of combustible or 

flammable materials that may constitute a fire hazard; and 

 
(b) all openings in any vacant Building are securely closed and fastened in a manner 

acceptable to the Fire Chief to prevent the entry of unauthorized persons. 

 

Floating Fire Lanterns 

 

6.21  No person shall light or release a floating fire lanterns anywhere within the Municipality. 

 

 
PART 7 – FIREWORKS REGULATIONS 

 
Use of Fireworks 
 
7.1 No person shall sell, give, possess, light, explode, activate or dispose of any Fireworks in the 

Municipality except in strict accordance with this Bylaw. 
 

7.2 No person shall light, explode or activate any Consumer Fireworks on any day other than January 
1, October 31, November 1 and December 31 of each year. 
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Fireworks Permit 

 
7.3 Every person must obtain a Fireworks Permit issued by the Fire Rescue Service to sell, transfer, 

possess, light, explode, activate or dispose of any: 

 
(a) High Hazard Fireworks; or 

 
(b) Movie Pyrotechnics. 

 
Fireworks Permit Application 

 
7.4 Every application for a Fireworks Permit shall be made in the form prescribed by the Fire Chief 

from time to time. 
 
Fireworks Permit Issuance 
 
7.5 Where an application for a Fireworks Permit is made to the Fire Rescue Service in the 

prescribed form, the Fire Rescue Service may issue the Fireworks Permit if the applicant is over 
the age of 18 and: 

 
(a) has submitted proof acceptable to the Fire Chief that the applicant holds a valid display 

supervisor endorsement, senior pyrotechnician endorsement, or special effects 
pyrotechnician endorsement, obtained in accordance with Part III of the Explosives 
Regulations made under the Explosives Act (Canada); 

 
(b) has submitted a Fire Safety Plan in a form acceptable to the Fire Chief; 

 
(c) has submitted a site plan for the location at which the applicant intends to light, explode 

or activate the High Hazard Fireworks or Movie Pyrotechnics, which site plan must be 
drawn to scale, showing the direction of firing, separation distances, positions of 
ramps and motors, any significant ground features, rights of way, Buildings and 
structures, overhead obstructions, parking areas, spectator viewing areas, fallout zones, 
traffic control patterns and locations of emergency vehicles; 

 
(d) has submitted an event description, including a time schedule of the event, attendance 

estimates, lists of Fireworks to be used, firing procedures, emergency response 
attendance, list of crew members and clean-up procedures; 

 
(e) has submitted proof of valid liability insurance by providing a copy of the applicant’s 

insurance policy, which policy shall list the name of the insurance company, the name 
of the insured, the policy coverage dates, the type of coverage, the coverage amounts, 
and the policy number; and 

 
(f) has paid the applicable fee prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 
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Fireworks Permit Conditions 
 
7.6 The Fire Rescue Service may impose terms and conditions with respect to a Fireworks 

Permit in relation to: 

 
(a) the manner in which High Hazard Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics may be lit, 

exploded or activated; 

 
(b) the hours during which High Hazard Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics may be lit, 

exploded or activated;  

 
(c) the level of required Fire Protection to be provided at the site when High Hazard 

Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics are lit, exploded or activated; and 
 

(d) minimizing nuisance and public safety concerns. 
 
Regulations 

 
7.7 Every holder of a Fireworks Permit shall: 

 
(a) only sell, give, possess, light, explode, activate or dispose of those High Hazard 

Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics specified in the Fireworks Permit and in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Fireworks Permit; 

 
(b) present the Fireworks Permit to any seller from whom the Fireworks Permit holder 

is purchasing High Hazard Fireworks or Movie Pyrotechnics; 

 
(c) ensure that sufficient Fire Protection is provided, at the Fireworks Permit holder’s cost or 

expense, at any site on which High Hazard Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics are to 
be ignited, lit, explode or activate in accordance with: 

 

(i) the Fire Safety Plan submitted with the application for a Fireworks Permit; and 
 

(ii) any terms and conditions imposed by the Fire Rescue Service; 

 
(d) ensure that High Hazard Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics are lit, exploded or 

activated only under the direct supervision of the Fireworks Permit holder; and 

 
(e) ensure that the Premises on which the High Hazard Fireworks and Movie Pyrotechnics 

are lit, exploded or activated is cleared of all resulting debris. 

 
PART 8 – FIRE AND SECURITY ALARM SYSTEMS 

 
Activation of Fire Alarm System 
 
8.1 No person shall activate a Fire Alarm System unless: 

 
(a) there is a fire; 

 
(b) the person reasonably believes that a fire or other Incident is occurring or is 
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imminent; or 

 
(c) the activation is carried out for testing purposes by a person designated a Registered 

Fire Protection Technician under the Applied Science Technologists and Technicians 
Act. 
 

8.2 No person shall activate a Fire Alarm System for a mischievous purpose. 
 
Designation of Contact Persons 

 
8.3 Every Owner and Occupier of any Premises with a Fire Alarm System or automatic sprinkler 

must submit to the Fire Rescue Service on an annual basis the names and phone numbers of 
at least one contact person available twenty-four hours per day to attend, enter and secure the 
Premises when notified to do so by the Fire Rescue Service. 

 
Responsibilities of Contact Persons 

 
8.4 Every contact person designated under section 8.3 must have full access to the Premises for 

which they have responsibility and must attend at the Premises within thirty minutes of being 
notified by the Fire Rescue Service to do so, in order to take control of and secure the Premises, 
and release the Fire Rescue Service from the Incident on completion of its assistance response. 

 
 
Failure of Contact Persons to Attend 

 
8.5 Where a contact person designated under section 8.3 fails to attend at the Premises for which 

they have responsibility within thirty minutes of being notified by the Fire Rescue Service to 
do so: 

 
(a) the Fire Rescue Service may use whatever means necessary to gain entry to the 

Premises to investigate the alarm without payment to the Owner or Occupier of any 
compensation whatsoever for damaged caused to the Premises by such forced entry; 
and 

 

(b) the Municipality may charge the Owner or Occupier of the Premises the Actual C osts 
to the Municipality for all time during which the Fire Rescue Service equipment and 
Members remained on standby at the Premises, commencing after the thirty minute 
time period specified in this section, until such time as a contact person, Owner or 
Occupier attends at, provides access to, or secures the Premises.  

 
Changes to Designated Contact Person 

 
8.6 If at any time during the year: 

(a) there is a change to the name or phone number of a contact person that the Owner 
or Occupier has designated under section 8.3; or 

 
(b) an Owner or Occupier wishes to change its designated contact person; 

 
that Owner or Occupier shall submit the new information to the Fire Chief, in the form 
prescribed by the Fire Chief from time to time. 
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System Protection 
Pull Station Covers 
 
8.7 Every Owner or Occupier of Premises who leases or otherwise provides a fire alarm system for 

the Premises must install pull station covers, meeting the ULC/ORD- C268.16-97 standard.  
 
Fees  
 
8.8 The Municipality may charge the Owner or Occupier of real property the fees for a False Alarm 

originating from that property in the amounts set out in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 
 
 
PART 9 – EMERGENCY ACCESS AND EVACUATION 

 
Fire Safety Plans 

 
9.1 Every Owner or Occupier of any Building required by the Fire Code to have a Fire Safety Plan 

prepared in cooperation with the Fire Rescue Service shall: 

 

(a) prepare the Fire Safety Plan in a form, format and diagram template acceptable to the 
Fire Chief and submit the Fire Safety Plan to the Fire Chief; 
 

(b) pay the fee prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw; 
 

(c) review the Fire Safety Plan at least annually in accordance with the requirements of the 
Fire Code and, if material changes have occurred in relation to the Building, use, or 
occupancy, submit an updated Fire Safety Plan to the Fire Rescue Service for review; 
and 

 
(d) locate a copy of the Fire Safety Plan next to the alarm panel on the Premises in a highly 

visible weather proof box with a minimum size of 30cm x 30cm to allow for reference 
and review by the Fire Rescue Service.  

 
Failure to Prepare Plans 
 
9.2 If the Owner or Occupier of any Building required to have a Fire Safety Plan fails to prepare, 

submit or update the required plan in accordance with this Bylaw, the Fire Rescue Service may 
prepare and update the required plan and may charge the Owner or Occupier the fee prescribed 
in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 

 
Street Addresses 
 
9.3 An Owner of real property in the Municipality shall ensure that street addresses and suite 

numbers are displayed in accordance with the following requirements: 

 
(a) the civic address that the Municipality has assigned to that property must be 

displayed and must be legible from the street or roadway fronting the property at all 
times of day and night, with each address number being not less than twenty 
centimetres in height; 
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(b) where a property includes multiple Buildings with separate addresses assigned to each 
of the buildings, the Building address shall be displayed on each Building in accordance 
with paragraph (a); 

 
(c) where more than one property is accessed by a common driveway, the civic 

address for each property shall be displayed at the entry to the driveway in 
accordance with paragraph (a); 

 
(d) where a Building is set back from the street or roadway fronting the property such that 

the assigned civic address is not clearly identifiable due to the distance from the street 
or roadway, or where landscaping or architectural appendages or other obstructions 
obstruct the visibility, the assigned civic address shall be displayed at the driveway 
entrance from the street or road serving the Building as well as on the Building itself; 

 
(e) where a Building includes multiple individual units with separate suite numbers 

assigned to each unit, the suite number for each unit shall be displayed in a visible 
location at the entry to the unit, with each suite number being not less than twenty 
centimetres in height; and 

 
(f) all letters and numbers must be of a colour which contrasts with the background 

colour of the Building or other surface on which they are mounted. 

 

9.4 The Owners and Occupiers of property located in a multi-residential complex shall ensure that 
a site plan for the complex is posted at the main driveway entrance to the complex, which site 
plan shall: 

 
(a) be visible at all times of day and night upon entry to the complex; 

 
(b) indicate the location, address or number of each unit in the complex, and the points 

of access to each unit; and 

 
(c) be of a size that enables first responders to easily read and determine the location and 

address of each unit without having to exit the emergency response vehicle. 
 
PART 10 – FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT 

 
Connections for Building Sprinkler and Standpipe Systems 

 
10.1 Every Owner and Occupier of a Building shall ensure that Fire Rescue Service connections for 

sprinkler and standpipe systems for the Building are clearly identified, functional, kept in good 
repair and maintained clear and free from obstructions at all times. 

 
Fire Hydrants on Private Property 

 
10.2 Every Owner and Occupier of a Premises on which a fire hydrant is located shall: 

 
(a) maintain the space around the hydrant with stable ground cover and a clear and 

unobstructed area for a radius of at least one metre; 
 

(b) the base of hydrant should be 0.75 metres above finished grade at the hydrant.  
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(c) maintain ground cover and clearance around the hydrant so as to provide a clear view 

of the hydrant from the street when being approached from either direction; 

 
(d) ensure the hydrant is maintained in good working condition at all times and that the 

hydrant is inspected, serviced and tested at least yearly in accordance with the 
requirements of the Fire Code; 

 
(e) at least yearly, have the hydrant flushed and drained; and 

 
(f) provide the Fire Chief with a written report of the inspection, servicing and testing 

performed on the hydrant during the previous twelve months. 

 
Use of Fire Hydrants 
 
10.3 No person shall use or take water from any fire hydrant in the Municipality or make any 

attachment thereto without first obtaining a Hydrant Use Permit or the written permission of the 
General Manager of Infrastructure Services. 
 

10.4 A person may apply for a Hydrant Use Permit by: 
 

(a) submitting the form of application specified by the General Manager of Infrastructure 
Services; 
 

(b) agreeing to the conditions of use specified in the Hydrant Use Permit; 
 

(c) paying the application fee applicable to the duration of permit sought as prescribed in 
Schedule “B” of this Bylaw; and 

 
(d) paying a deposit in the amount prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw, which deposit is 

only to be refunded once backflow preventer valves provided by the Municipality are 
returned. 

 
10.5 Upon receipt of a complete application under section 10.4 of this Bylaw, the General Manager of 

Infrastructure Services may: 
 

(a) issue a Hydrant Use Permit; or  
 

(b) refuse to issue a Hydrant Use Permit if the proposed use is deemed an by the General 
Manager of Infrastructure Services to be an inappropriate use of hydrant water or is 
expected to compromise the Municipality’s water supply or firefighting capability. 

 
10.6 No person shall tamper with any mechanical operation of a fire hydrant in the Municipality. 

 
10.7 No person shall mechanically open any fire hydrant in the Municipality unless authorized to do 

so by the General Manager of Infrastructure Services. 
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Inspection and testing of fire protection equipment  
 

10.8 Every person who is required under any provision of the British Columbia Fire Code to perform 
or cause to be performed an inspection or test of Fire Protection equipment for a hotel, motel, 
apartment building, strata building, boarding house, lodging house or public building, or to perform 
or cause to be performed an inspection or test of fire suppression systems in commercial kitchen 
exhaust systems, shall ensure that the inspection or test is performed by a person designated a 
Registered Fire Protection Technician under the Applied Science Technologists and 
Technicians Act and in accordance with the British Columbia Fire Code.  
 

10.9 Every person who is required to obtain an inspection or a test referred to in section 10.8 of 
this Bylaw shall ensure that the inspection or test is recorded, or the Fire Protection 
equipment tagged and labeled, in accordance with the British Columbia Fire Code and any 
regulations or bylaws under the Applied Science Technologists and Technicians Act. 

 
PART 11 – INSPECTION OF PREMISES 

 
Authority for Inspection 

 
11.1 Every Member is hereby authorized to enter at all reasonable times upon any Premises to 

inspect and determine whether or not: 

 

(a) the Premises are so used or occupied that fire would endanger life or property; 

 

(b) combustible or explosive materials are being kept on the Premises or other flammable 
conditions exist in or about the Premises so as to endanger life or property; 

 

(c) in the opinion of the Member, a Fire Hazard exists in or about the Premises; or 

 

(d) the requirements of this Bylaw and the Fire Code are being complied with. 
 
Entry for Inspection 
 
11.2 No person shall obstruct, hinder or prevent the Fire Chief or any Member from entering into 

or upon any Premises for the purpose of inspecting the Premises in the course of their 
duties. 

 
Provision of Information 

 
11.3 Every Owner and Occupier of a Premises shall provide all information and shall render all 

assistance required by the Fire Chief or any Member in connection with the inspection of the 
Premises pursuant to this Bylaw. 

 
False Information 

 
11.4 No person shall purposely withhold or falsify any information required by the Fire Chief or any 

Member, nor refuse to assist in the carrying out of any inspection of a  Premises pursuant to 
this Bylaw, the Fire Code or the Fire Services Act. 
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PART 12 – ENFORCEMENT 

 
Fire Orders 
 
12.1 If a person contravenes or fails to comply fully with any provision of this Bylaw, or if 

conditions exist in or upon any Premises which, in the opinion of the Fire Chief or a Fire 
Inspector, constitute a Fire Hazard or other danger to life or property, the Fire Chief or a Fire 
Inspector may issue a written order requiring that person to take such action as is necessary to 
ensure compliance with this Bylaw or to remove or otherwise deal with the Fire Hazard or other 
danger, and every person who receives an order under this section shall carry out that order by 
the date or time required. 

 
Serving of Fire Orders 

 
12.2 An order made by the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector under this Bylaw may be served: 

 
(a) by delivering it or causing it to be delivered to the person to whom it is directed; 

 
(b) by sending the order by mail to the last known property Owner of the Premises that 

are the subject of the order; or 

 
(c) if the person to whom it is directed cannot be found, is not known or refuses to accept 

service of the order, by posting a copy of the order in a conspicuous place on the 
Premises that are the subject of the order. 

 
12.3 If an order has been posted in accordance with section 12.2 of this Bylaw, a person must not 

remove, deface or destroy the order. 

 
Dating of Fire Orders 
 
12.4 Every order issued by the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector shall state a date or time by which 

the order shall be carried out, which date or time shall be determined in the discretion of the 
issuer, having regard to the degree of urgency involved in correcting or removing conditions 
which may tend to increase the hazard of fire or danger to life and property. 

 
Inspection Upon Completed Remediation 
 
12.5 Upon completion of all work required in an order made pursuant to this Bylaw, the person 

to whom the order was directed shall notify the Fire Chief of such completion and the Fire Chief 
or a Fire Inspector shall attend at the Premises to inspect the work. 

 

12.6 If the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector attends at the Premises in accordance with section 12.5 
and discovers that the work is incomplete or not compliant with this Bylaw or the Fire Code, 
the person to whom the initial order was directed shall complete or correct the work in the time 
specified by the Fire Chief or the Fire Inspector, and the Fire Chief or a Fire Inspector shall 
attend at the Premises to inspect the work. If the work is still incomplete or not compliant 
with this Bylaw or the Fire Code, and the Fire Chief or Fire Inspector must attend at the Premises 
to re-inspect the work, the person to whom the initial order was directed shall pay the re-
inspection fee prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw. 
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Representations to the Fire Chief 
 

12.7 A person who receives an order may request the Fire Chief consider cancelling or revising the 
order by delivering written submissions to the Municipality’s corporate officer no later than 3 
days before the day by which the order must be carried out. 
 

12.8 After considering written submissions provided under section 12.7, the Fire Chief may affirm, 
modify or cancel an order issued under this Bylaw. 

 
 

Municipal Action at Defaulter’s Expense 
 
12.9 Where a person has received an order made pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw, has been 

given an opportunity to make written submissions to the Fire Chief in respect of the matter 
and has failed to comply with an order by the date specified in the order, the Municipality 
may, by its employees, servants or agents, enter the Premises and effect such work as is 
required in the order at the cost and expense of the recipient of the order, payable upon the 
date stated on an invoice issued by the Municipality. 

 
Penalties 
 
12.10 A person who: 

 
(a) contravenes, violates or fails to comply with any provision of this Bylaw, any Campfire 

Permit or Fireworks Permit, or any order issued under this Bylaw; 

 
(b) suffers or allows any act or thing to be done in contravention or violation of this 

Bylaw, any Campfire Permit or Fireworks Permit, or any order issued under this 
Bylaw; or 

 
(c) fails or neglects to do anything required to be done under this Bylaw, any Campfire 

Permit or Fireworks Permit, or any order issued under this Bylaw; 

 
commits an offence and, upon conviction, shall be liable to a fine of not more than Ten 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), and where the offence is a continuing one, each day that the 
offence is continued shall constitute a separate offence. 

 
Enforcement by Bylaw Notices or Municipal Ticket Information 
 
12.11 This bylaw may be enforced by means of a ticket issued under the Bylaw Notice Enforcement 

Bylaw No. 2174, 2018 or Municipal Ticket Information System Bylaw No. 1719, 2005 as 
amended from time to time. 

 
PART 13 – FEES AND COST RECOVERY 

 
Inspection and Search Fees 
 
13.1 Every person who obtains any of the following inspections or searches by the Fire Rescue 

Service must pay the applicable fee prescribed in Schedule “B” of this Bylaw: 

 

Page 477 of 542



Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019  
Page 20 

(a) a special request inspection of a Building, structure or site to determine 
compliance with this Bylaw or the Fire Code; 

 
(b) a file search on occupancies of a Premises for outstanding Fire Code violations, 

infractions or other related information. 
 
Nuisance and Dangerous Goods Incidents 

 
13.2 Every person having responsibility for the transport, storage or use of Dangerous Goods or 

owning land on which Dangerous Goods are stored shall 
be liable to pay the Actual Costs incurred by the Fire Rescue Service for the clean-up and safe 
disposal of all such Dangerous Goods that spill or escape as a result of any Incident, which 
Actual Costs include the equipment repair, replacement and decontamination costs. 

 
Fees and Costs may be Added to Taxes 
  

13.3 A fee imposed under this bylaw in relation to work or services to real property, including a 
response to a False Alarm, that remains unpaid on December 31 in any year may be added to 
and form part of the taxes payable on that property as taxes in arrears. 
 

13.4 If this Bylaw authorizes or requires the Municipality to provide work or services to real property 
at the Owner’s or Occupier’s expense, and the costs incurred and invoiced by the Municipality 
for carrying out such work or services remain unpaid on December 31 of the year in which 
they were due and payable, the Municipality may recover those costs from the Owner of the 
property by adding them and causing them to form part of the taxes payable on the property 
as taxes in arrears. 

 
PART 14 – SEVERABILITY 

 
14.1 If any part, section, subsection or phrase of this Bylaw is held to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the invalid portion shall be severed and the remainder of this Bylaw will be 
deemed to be enacted without the invalid portion. 

 
PART 15 – REPEAL OF PREVIOUS BYLAWS 

 
15.1 The following bylaws of the Municipality are hereby repealed: 

 
(a) Fire Protection and Fireworks Bylaw No. 2046, 2014; 

(b) Fire and Security Alarm Systems Bylaw No. 1955, 2010; and 

(c) Inspection and Testing of Fire Protection, Equipment Bylaw No. 1754, 2006. 

GIVEN FIRST, SECOND and THIRD READINGS this ______ day of _________, 2019.  

ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019 

 
   

Jack Crompton, Alba Banman, 
Mayor Municipal Clerk 

Page 478 of 542



Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019  
Page 21 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this 
is a true copy of “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 
2201, 2019”. 

 
 
 

Municipal Clerk, A. Banman  
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SCHEDULE A: FIRE RESCUE SERVICE: 

 
INTERFACE CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE REGULATIONS 

The Resort Municipality of Whistler experiences “High” and “Extreme” fire danger ratings, as 
defined by BC Wildfire Service. This creates a situation where construction in the wildland urban 
interface can be a potential source of ignition resulting in a wildfire. 
 
The interface areas in the Resort Municipality of Whistler are those areas where development 
and maintenance activities are taking place in areas next to or among forested areas. To 
determine if your construction site is subject to these regulations, contact fire@whistler.ca to 
arrange for a site inspection. 

 

The Whistler Fire Rescue Service referred to the Wildfire Regulations (B.C. Reg. 38/2005) as a 
guideline in developing these regulations. They have been modified from their Industrial 
application to reflect the urban construction environment.  
 
Goal of the regulations: 

The goal of these regulations is to ensure that sources of ignition are eliminated and/or 
mitigation measures are put in place to reduce the risk of wildfires during Fire Danger Ratings 
High and Extreme. 

The following regulations shall apply to construction and other sites, such as a property 
undergoing tree service work, unless a site specific exemption has been granted. 
 
Restrictions During High Fire Danger Rating 

When the fire danger rating is High, all high risk construction activity as defined in the Fire and 
Life Safety Bylaw 2201, 2018 being carried on within 10 metres of the forest (the “interface area”) 
shall cease at 1300 hours each day.  

Examples of high risk construction activity include: 
a. Blasting 
b. Excavating 
c. Drilling 
d. Grinding 
e. Hot works 

 
A fire watch shall be maintained for a minimum of two hours after construction ceases. 

 
Despite the above, the following activities may continue after 1300 hours during a High fire 
danger rating: 
a. Work inside a structure 
b. Use of electrically powered equipment as authorized by a permit issued by the Fire Rescue 

Service 
c. Work with hand tools 
d. Heavy-duty equipment or small engines may continue to work in areas around a site where 

they are not within 10 metres of the forest. 
 
High risk construction activities in the interface area may resume to a regular schedule when the 
fire danger rating is moderate or low. 
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Restrictions During Extreme Fire Danger Rating 

When the fire danger rating is Extreme, all high risk construction activity as defined in the Fire 
and Life Safety Bylaw 2201, 2018 in the interface area shall cease. 

Examples of high risk construction activity include: 
a. Blasting 
b. Excavating 
c. Drilling 
d. Grinding 
e. Hot works 
 
A fire watch shall be maintained for a minimum of two hours after construction ceases. 

Despite the above, the following activities may continue during an Extreme fire danger rating: 

a) Work inside a structure 
b) Use of electrically powered equipment under a permit issued by the Fire Rescue Service 
c) Work with hand tools 
d) Heavy-duty equipment or small engines may continue to work in areas around a site where 

they are not within 10 metres of the forest 
 

When the fire danger rating falls from Extreme to High, high risk construction activities in the 
interface area may resume to the restrictions during high fire danger rating.  

All construction restrictions shall be lifted when the fire danger rating is moderate or low. 
 
Exemptions 

A person may apply for an Exemption to the above stated restrictions by submitting an 
application in a form acceptable to the Fire Chief and pay the fee set out in Schedule “B” to the 
Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 2201, 2018. 

In response to an application, the Fire Rescue Service may grant an exemption to the above 
stated construction restrictions on the condition that the person take mitigating measures 
prescribed by a member of the Fire Rescue Service after a site specific inspection. 
 
Mitigating measures may include any or all of the following: 
a) Reduction of fuel 
b) Changing moisture content of fuel 
c) Provision of firefighting equipment 
d) Designated smoking area 
e) Other measures as determined necessary 

 
 An Exemption may be rescinded for failure to comply with the prescription for mitigating 

measures or for other reasons as determined by the Fire Chief or designate. 
 
Note: The ability to apply water to increase fuel moisture content may be impacted by sprinkler 
restrictions and will be monitored. This may result in an Exemption being rescinded. 
Construction sites using municipal fire hydrants will be required to obtain a Hydrant Usage 
Permit.  
To apply for an Exemption to the Construction Restrictions contact fire@whistler.ca or call 604-
935-8260 to arrange for a site inspection.
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SCHEDULE “B” 

 
FEES AND COST RECOVERY 

 
FIRE RESCUE SERVICES WORK OR SERVICE SECTION FEE 

Inspection Service Fee: 

 Premises less than or equal to 5,000 square feet 
in floor area 

 Premises greater than 5,000 square feet in floor 
area 

 

4.8.  
$100.00 per year 
 
$150.00 per year 

Re-inspection fee (2nd and subsequent re-
inspection) 

4.9 $300.00 per inspection 

Fixing, replacing damaged equipment 5.6 Actual Costs 

Campfire Permit Application/Inspection 6.13 No Fee 

Campfire Permit Re-Inspection 6.14 $100.00 

Fireworks Permit application 7.4(f) $100.00 

Attendance – standby service 8.5(b) Actual Costs 
 

False Alarm –  

 First or Second Alarm within 12-Month   Period 

8.9 No Fee 

 Third Alarm with 12-Month Period 

 Fourth Alarm or greater Alarm within 12-  Month 
Period 

 $200.00 
$300.00 

Review – Fire Safety Plan 9.1(b) Actual Cost 

Hydrant Use Application Fee 10.4(c) $75.00 per hydrant per day 

Re-inspection after an order 12.6 $150.00 per inspection 
 

Special request fire inspection 13.1(a) $150.00 

File search 13.1(b) $100.00 

Nuisance and Dangerous Goods spill response 
and abatement 

13.2 Actual Costs 

Work in default 13.3 Actual Costs 
 

Application for Interface Construction Restriction 
Exemption Permit 

Schedule A $150.00 
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SCHEDULE “C” 
 
 

Fire Service Hourly Rates 
 
 
1 Fire Truck and 4 firefighters       $575 per hour 
 
1 Fire Truck and 2 firefighters       $285 per hour 
 
Fire plan review by fire official      $150 per hour 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

BYLAW NOTICE ENFORCEMENT AMENDMENT BYLAW (FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY) NO. 
2260, 2019 

 
A BYLAW TO AMEND BYLAW NOTICE ENFORCEMENT BYLAW NO. 2174, 2018 

 
WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler has adopted “Bylaw Notice 
Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018”;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it expedient to 
authorize the use of Bylaw Notice for the enforcement of certain bylaws, to designate 
expressions that may be used for certain bylaw offences and to set certain fine amounts; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it necessary and 
expedient to amend “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018”; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting 
assembled, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment 
Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019”. 

 
2. “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018” is amended by: 

 
(a) deleting the table in Schedule “A” of “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 
2018” titled “Fire Protection & Fire Works Bylaw No. 2046, 2014” and replacing it with 
the table in Schedule “A” titled “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019” attached to, 
and forming part of this Bylaw. 

GIVEN FIRST, SECOND and THIRD READINGS this ______ day of _________, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
___________________________                           ________________________                                                        
Mayor, J. Crompton              Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of 
the “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment 
Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019”. 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
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Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019 

Schedule “A” 

Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019 

DESIGNATED EXPRESSION SECTION(S) Discounted 
Penalty 

Penalty Compliance 
Agreement 
Available 

Obstruct fire official 5.1 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Obstruct entry to premises 5.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to vacate incident Area 5.3 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Disobey traffic direction by fire official  5.4 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Impersonate Fire Rescue Service 
member 

5.5 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Drive over fire equipment 5.6 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Prohibited open air fire 6.1 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Discarding burning substance 6.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Prohibited barbecue in park 6.4 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Prohibited campfire 6.5 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Campfire during ban 6.6 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Entry into closed park 6.8 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

High risk construction activity  6.9  $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Dangerous accumulation of 
combustibles 

6.17 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to secure fire damaged building 6.19 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to secure vacant premises 6.20 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Prohibited floating lantern 6.21 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Fireworks contrary to bylaw 7.1 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Fireworks on prohibited day 7.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 
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Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019 
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Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2260, 2019 

DESIGNATED EXPRESSION SECTION(S) Discounted 
Penalty 

Penalty Compliance 
Agreement 
Available 

Fireworks contrary to permit  7.7 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Pull false alarm 8.1 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Mischief alarm 8.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

No pull station covers 8.7 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to update safety plan 9.1(c) $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to display safety plan 9.1(d) $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to number premises 9.3 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Obstructed or broken sprinkler or 
standpipe 

10.1 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to maintain proper hydrant 10.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Prohibited use of water from hydrant 10.3 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Tamper with hydrant 10.6 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Open hydrant without permission 10.7 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Failure to display inspection results 10.9 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Obstruct inspection 11.2 $300.00 $500.00 NO 

Provide false information 11.4 $300.00 $500.00 NO 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
MUNICIPAL TICKET INFORMATION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION AMENDMENT BYLAW 

(FIRE AND LIFE SAFETY) NO. 2261, 2019 
 

A BYLAW TO AMEND “MUNICIPAL TICKET INFORMATION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION 
BYLAW NO. 1719, 2005” 

 
WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler has adopted Municipal Ticket 
Information System Bylaw No. 1719, 2005”;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it necessary and 
expedient to amend the “Municipal Ticket Information System Bylaw No. 1719, 2005”; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting 
assembled, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Municipal Ticket Information System 
Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life Safety) No. 2261, 2019”. 

 
2. “Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005” is 

amended by: 
 
(a) replacing the words “Fire Protection and Fireworks Bylaw No. 2046, 2014” in 

Schedule “A” of Municipal “Ticket Information System Implementation Bylaw No. 
1719, 2005” with the words “Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019”; and 
 

(b) deleting the table attached as Schedule “B6” to “Municipal Ticket Information System 
Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005” and replacing it with the table attached as 
Schedule “A” to this Bylaw. 
 

3. Schedule “A” attached to this Bylaw forms part of this Bylaw. 

GIVEN FIRST, SECOND and THIRD READINGS this ______ day of _________, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019. 
 
 
 
___________________________                           ________________________                                                        
J. Crompton,      A. Banman, 
Mayor                 Municipal Clerk 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of the 
“Municipal Ticket Information System 
Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Fire and Life 
Safety) No. 2261, 2019” 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
A. Banman, 
Municipal Clerk 
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Schedule “A” 

Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw No. 2261, 2019 

SCHEDULE B6 

Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005 

Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 2201, 2019 

 

DESIGNATED EXPRESSION SECTION(s) Fine 

Obstruct fire official 5.1 $1000.00 

Obstruct entry to premises 5.2 $1000.00 

Failure to vacate incident Area 5.3 $500.00 

Disobey traffic direction by fire official  5.4 $300.00 

Impersonate Fire Rescue Service member 5.5 $1000.00 

Drive over fire equipment 5.6 $300.00 

Prohibited open air fire 6.1 $500.00 

Discarding burning substance 6.2 $500.00 

Prohibited barbecue in park 6.4 $500.00 

Prohibited campfire 6.5 $500.00 

Campfire during ban 6.6 $1000.00 

Entry into closed park 6.8 $500.00 

High risk construction activity  6.9  $1000.00 

Dangerous accumulation of combustibles 6.17 $300.00 

Failure to secure fire damaged building 6.19 $500.00 

Failure to secure vacant premises 6.20 $500.00 

Prohibited floating lantern 6.21 $500.00 

Fireworks contrary to bylaw 7.1 $1000.00 

Fireworks on prohibited day 7.2 $1000.00 

Fireworks contrary to permit  7.7 $1000.00 

Pull false alarm 8.1 $300.00 

Mischief alarm 8.2 $300.00 

No pull station covers 8.7 $300.00 

Failure to update safety plan 9.1(c) $300.00 

Failure to display safety plan 9.1(d) $300.00 

Failure to number premises 9.3 $300.00 

Obstructed or broken sprinkler or standpipe 10.1 $300.00 

Failure to maintain proper hydrant 10.2 $300.00 
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Prohibited use of water from hydrant 10.3 $300.00 

Tamper with hydrant 10.6 $300.00 

Open hydrant without permission 10.7 $300.00 

Failure to display inspection results 10.9 $300.00 

Obstruct inspection 11.2 $1000.00 

Provide false information 11.4 $300.00 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 

SOLID WASTE AMENDMENT BYLAW (TIPPING FEES) NO. 2267, 2019 

A BYLAW TO AMEND THE “SOLID WASTE BYLAW NO. 2139, 2017” 

  

WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler has adopted “Solid Waste Bylaw No. 

2139, 2017”;  

  

AND WHEREAS it is deemed expedient to amend the Resort Municipality of Whistler “Solid 

Waste Bylaw No. 2139, 2017”;  

  

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler in open meeting 

assembled, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:  

  

1) This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the Resort Municipality of Whistler “Solid Waste 

Amendment Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019”.    

2) “Solid Waste Bylaw No. 2139, 2017” is amended:  

 

a) In Schedule “A - Additional Definitions”, by deleting the definition of “clean yard waste”, 

and inserting the following new definition:  

 

“clean yard waste” means: 

i. plant matter that is generated from landscape maintenance and is finally 

disposed at the municipal compost facility and does not include invasive species. 

 

b) In Schedule “A - Additional Definitions”, by adding the new definition “clean land clearing 

wood waste”: 

 

“clean land clearing wood waste” means: 

i. material produced from the removal of trees, including stumps and large 

branches and does not contain dirt or rocks from an area, required due to site 

alterations or land clearing project, but may not include material generated by 

RMOW community forest management programs. 

  

c) By replacing Schedule “D” with Schedule “D” attached to, and forming part of this bylaw.   

  

 GIVEN FIRST, SECOND and THIRD READINGS this ____ day of ________ 2019. 

 

ADOPTED this ___ day of _________, 2020. 

 

 

             

Jack Crompton, Alba Banman, 

Mayor      Municipal Clerk 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true 

copy of "Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw 

(Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019”. 

 

 

      

Alba Banman, 

Municipal Clerk 
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SCHEDULE D 

TIPPING FEES 

 

SOLID WASTE BYLAW NO. 2139, 2017   

(Solid Waste Amendment Bylaw (Tipping Fees) No. 2267, 2019) 

 

The minimum charge for Solid Waste disposal at the Municipal Transfer Station is $5/Load (with 
the exception of any material or item indicated as FREE). A maximum of five (5) mattresses can 
tipped at any one time. 
  

Solid Waste Type TIPPING FEE 

Minimum Charge at Transfer Station Scale $5 per vehicle 

Biosolids $150 per tonne 

Clean Land Clearing Wood Waste $80 per tonne 
Chipped: FREE 

Clean Yard Waste $30 per tonne 
Chipped: FREE 

Dirty Wood Waste $135 per tonne 

Bulky Items $170 per tonne 

EPR Recyclable Materials (except tires) FREE 

Landfill Waste (GARBAGE) $170 per tonne 

Mixed Waste $375 per tonne 

Food Scraps or Food Waste $75 per tonne 

Mattresses $20 each 

Large Household Appliances 
- with refrigerant 

$25 each 

Large Household Appliances 
- without refrigerant 

FREE 

Passenger and Light Truck Tires $10 per tire 
$25 per tire with a rim 

Gypsum Board $290 per tonne 

Invasive Plant Species and Noxious Plant Matter $30 per tonne 

Hazardous Waste NOT ACCEPTED 

Unsecured Loads $30 per load 

SEPTAGE 
A – All Liquid Waste delivered via meter at the WWTP 
except as identified in “B” and “C” below. 

$30.00/m3 

B – Septage delivered from residential septic tanks within 
the RMOW. 

$2.75/m3 

C – Aerated holding tanks within the RMOW as approved 
under the RMOW Bylaw No. 551, Septage from RMOW 
transfer station and Whistler Compost Plant. 

$1.50//m3 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 

CREDIT CARD PAYMENT SERVICE FEE BYLAW NO. 2259, 2019 

A BYLAW TO ESTABLISH A FEE FOR RECOVERY OF CREDIT CARD FEES IN THE RESORT 

MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  

 
WHEREAS the Resort Municipality of Whistler incurs credit card merchant fees on payments made 
by credit card; 

AND WHEREAS under Section 194 of the Community Charter, a Council may impose fees with 

respect to all or part of a service of the municipality, the use of municipal property, or the exercise of 

authority to regulate, prohibit or impose requirements; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting assembled, 

enacts as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 

2259, 2019”.  

SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

2. Except as set out in section 3, when a credit card or a mobile device is used to pay for fees 

and charges payable to the Resort Municipality of Whistler in both card-present and card-not-

present environments, a service charge of 2.2 per cent of the final transaction amount, net of 

all discounts and rebates, shall be assessed and charged to the payor in addition to the final 

transaction amount.  

3. The service charge imposed under section 2 does not apply to the following exempt fees or 

charges: 

a) Recreation program registrations and services 

b) Transit products  

c) Library products and services 

d) Dog license applications, renewals and impound fees 

e) Bylaw and RCMP violation tickets and fines 

f) Pay parking 

g) RCMP fees and services 

h) Transfer Station charges paid directly at site 

4. The service charges assessed and charged under this Bylaw are non-refundable. 

5. This Bylaw is effective January 8, 2020. 
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Credit Card Payment Service Fee Bylaw No. 2259, 2019 
Page 2 

 
 

SEVERANCE 

6. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Bylaw is for any reason held to 

be invalid by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect 

the validity of the remaining portions of this Bylaw. 

 
GIVEN FIRST, SECOND and THIRD READINGS this_____ day of _________, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2020. 

 
 
 

___________________________              ________________________                             
J. Crompton               Alba Banman 
Mayor              Municipal Clerk 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy 
of the “Credit Card Service Fee Bylaw No. 
2259, 2019.” 
 
 
___________________________ 
Alba Banman 
Municipal Clerk 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019–2023 AMENDMENT BYLAW NO. 2265, 2019 
 

  A BYLAW TO AMEND “FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 – 2023 BYLAW NO. 2225, 2019” 
 

 
WHEREAS the Council must have a financial plan pursuant to Section 165 of the Community 
Charter; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council deems it necessary and appropriate to amend the five-year financial 
plan for the years 2019 to 2023; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler in open meeting 
assembled, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019”. 

 
2. Schedules “A” and “B” of the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 Bylaw No. 2225, 2019” 

are replaced by Schedules “A” and “B” attached to and forming part of this Bylaw.  
 

 
GIVEN FIRST, SECOND, and THIRD READINGS this _______ day of _________, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED by Council this ____ day of _____________, 2020. 
 
 
 
 
             
Jack Crompton, Alba Banman, 
Mayor Acting Municipal Clerk 
 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of 
“Five-Year Financial Plan 2019-2023 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2265, 2019”. 
 
 
 
      
Alba Banman, 
Municipal Clerk 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE A
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
REVENUE

General Fund
Property Taxes 39,180,627    40,062,191    40,963,590    41,885,271    42,827,690    
Other Property Tax 1,008,200      1,030,885      1,054,079      1,077,796      1,102,047      
Government Grants 688,906         700,000         705,000         710,000         715,000         
Fees and Charges 11,943,016    12,181,876    12,425,514    12,674,024    12,927,505    
Investment Income 2,273,900      2,383,900      2,493,900      2,603,900      2,713,900      
RMI Grant 6,940,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      
MRDT 11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    11,300,000    
Works and Service Charges 606,107         600,000         600,000         600,000         600,000         
Water Fund
Parcel Taxes 3,966,915      4,046,253      4,127,178      4,209,722      4,293,916      
Fees and Charges 3,017,812      3,078,168      3,139,732      3,202,526      3,266,577      
Works and Service Charges 47,500           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Sewer Fund
Parcel Taxes 4,189,416      4,273,204      4,358,668      4,445,842      4,534,759      
Fees and Charges 3,873,417      3,950,885      4,029,903      4,110,501      4,192,711      
Works and Service Charges 198,770         200,000         200,000         200,000         200,000         
Solid Waste Fund
Fees and Charges 5,898,154      6,016,117      6,136,439      6,259,168      6,384,352      
Government Grants 481,000         480,000         485,000         490,000         495,000         

95,613,740    97,253,480    98,969,005    100,718,751  102,503,455  

EXPENDITURE 1,639,740             1,715,524             1,749,746             1,784,705             

General Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 53,396,486    55,425,553    57,531,724    59,717,929    61,987,210    
Debt Interest & Principal 239,299         239,299         239,299         239,299         239,299         
Residents & Partners 7,844,150      7,813,650      7,773,650      7,843,650      7,693,650      
Contingency 647,172         658,331         680,954         704,401         728,702         
Water Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 1,894,138      1,922,550      1,951,388      1,980,659      2,010,369      
Debt Interest & Principal - - - - - 
Sewer Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 2,813,851      2,856,059      2,898,900      2,942,383      2,986,519      
Debt Interest & Principal 1,370,453      1,370,453      1,370,453      1,210,453      1,210,453      
Solid Waste Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 5,545,774      5,628,961      5,713,395      5,799,096      5,886,082      
Debt Interest & Principal 472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         

74,223,578    76,387,110    78,632,018    80,910,125    83,214,540    
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE A Cont'd
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

TRANSFERS TO (FROM )
OTHER FUNDS / RESERVES

Interest Paid to Reserves 2,000,000      2,146,090      2,245,044      2,342,468      2,442,957      
Recreation Works Charges Reserve 305,350         300,000         300,000         300,000         300,000         
Transportation Works Charges Reserve 260,257         250,000         250,000         250,000         250,000         
Employee Housing Charges Reserve -                 45,000           45,000           45,000           45,000           
RMI Reserve 2,747,590      2,475,000      2,250,000      1,950,000      1,050,000      
2% MRDT Reserve 1,617,656      650,000         315,000         185,000-         82,000-           
General Capital Reserve 4,716,967      4,787,722      4,859,537      4,932,430      5,006,417      
Parking Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Parkland and ESA Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 992,582         1,240,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      
General Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
General Operating Reserve 1,454,860      1,575,000      1,575,000      1,575,000      1,575,000      
Water Works Charges Reserve 47,500           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Capital Reserve 3,180,586      3,228,295      3,276,719      3,325,870      3,375,758      
Water Operating Reserve 573,375         581,976         590,706         599,566         608,560         
Water Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Sewer Works Charges Reserve 198,770         200,000         200,000         200,000         200,000         
Sewer Capital Reserve 2,016,569      2,046,818      2,077,520      2,108,683      2,140,313      
Sewer Operating Reserve 448,568         448,568         448,568         448,568         448,568         
Sewer Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 861,890         874,818         887,941         901,260         914,779         
Solid Waste Operating Reserve (32,359)          (32,917)          (34,048)          (35,220)          (36,435)          
Solid Waste Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 
21,390,162    20,866,370    20,336,987    19,808,625    19,288,916    

REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURE
 AND TRANSFERS 0 0 0 0 0
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE B
CONSOLIDATED PROJECT SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING

General Fund
Government Grants 1,903,110      232,000         250,000         92,500           - 
Contribution from Developers - - - - - 
Equipment disposal proceeds - - - - - 
WHA construction loan - (5,000,000) - - - 
Other Contributions 200,000         - - - - 
WCSS loan payments 50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Fund
Government Grants 558,659         - - - - 
Other Contributions - - - - - 
Sewer Fund
Government Grants - - - - - 
Solid Waste Fund
Government Grants 390,000         - - - - 

3,101,769      (4,718,000)     300,000         142,500         50,000           

EXPENDITURE
General Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 2,483,375      1,353,198      624,067         734,751         434,476         
Infrastructure Maintenance 14,988,055    12,133,200    6,641,300      4,989,600      3,694,200      
Capital Expenditure 11,011,089    3,388,060      2,009,520      2,990,228      2,591,054      
WCSS loan - - - - - 
Water Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 893,500         957,500         1,698,500      1,794,500      390,500         
Infrastructure Maintenance 4,604,000      2,515,000      1,405,000      3,025,000      580,000         
Capital Expenditure 5,000             120,000         - - - 
Sewer Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 785,000         597,000         827,000         817,000         617,000         
Infrastructure Maintenance 5,874,000      3,695,000      4,675,000      3,210,000      2,210,000      
Capital Expenditure 570,000         3,140,000      520,000         - - 
Solid Waste Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 105,000         40,000           40,000           40,000           - 
Infrastructure Maintenance 455,891         447,428         422,428         332,428         322,428         
Capital Expenditure 630,000         150,000         50,000           - - 
All Funds
Depreciation 12,346,893    12,746,893    13,146,893    13,546,893    13,946,893    

54,751,803    41,283,280    32,059,708    31,480,400    24,786,551    
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2265, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE B Cont'd
CONSOLIDATED PROJECT SUMMARY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
TRANSFERS (TO) FROM 
OTHER FUNDS (RESERVES)

RMI Reserve 5,953,280      4,599,480      1,789,480      495,480         369,080         
2% MRDT Reserve 1,072,282      701,000         626,000         626,000         620,300         
General Capital Reserve 9,636,550      4,328,544      1,500,278      969,779         883,574         
Recreation Works Charges 1,528,321      600,000         400,000         600,000         -                     
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 3,264,813      1,454,916      880,000         2,341,245      1,925,089      
Library Reserve 62,000           35,000           60,000           35,000           45,000           
General Operating Reserve 2,492,163      1,851,016      1,621,625      1,664,569      1,461,679      

Transportation Works Charges 3,240,000      3,072,500      2,147,500      1,890,000      1,415,000      
Water Capital Reserve 4,765,341      3,413,125      2,935,000      4,540,000      780,000         
Water Operating Reserve 358,500         192,500         183,500         279,500         190,500         
Sewer Capital Reserve 6,264,000      6,821,875      5,180,000      3,210,000      2,210,000      
Sewer Operating Reserve 785,000         597,000         827,000         817,000         617,000         
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 695,891         597,428         472,428         332,428         322,428         
Solid Waste Operating Reserve 105,000         40,000           40,000           40,000           -                     

40,223,141    28,304,386    18,662,815    17,841,007    10,839,658    

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON CASH ITEMS AND CHANGES TO NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
Depreciation 12,346,893    12,746,893    13,146,893    13,546,893    13,946,893    
WCSS loan (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          
WHA construction loan -                     5,000,000      -                     -                     -                     
WDC Loan (870,000)        -                     -                     -                     -                     

11,426,893    17,696,893    13,096,893    13,496,893    13,896,893    

REVENUE AND TRANSFERS 
LESS EXPENDITURE -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2020-2024 BYLAW NO. 2258, 2019 
 

A BYLAW TO ADOPT A FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN FOR 2020-2024 

 
WHEREAS the Council must have a financial plan pursuant to Section 165 of the 
Community Charter; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council deems it necessary and appropriate to adopt a five-year 
financial plan for the years 2020 to 2024; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler 
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-
2024 Bylaw No. 2258, 2019”. 

 
2. That Council adopt the Five-Year Financial Plan for the years 2020-2024 

inclusive, for each year of the plan, as set out in Schedules A, B and C attached 
hereto and forming a part of this Bylaw as follows: 

 
Schedule A – Consolidated Operating Summary 
Schedule B – Consolidated Project Summary 
Schedule C – Supplementary Information 
 

 
GIVEN FIRST, SECOND, and THIRD READINGS this __ day of _______, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this __ day of _______, 2020. 
 
 
 
             
Jack Crompton, Alba Banman, 
Mayor Municipal Clerk 
 
 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy 
of “Five-Year Financial Plan 2020-2024 
Bylaw No. 2258, 2019”. 
 
 
      
Alba Banman, 
Municipal Clerk 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2020 - 2024 SCHEDULE A
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
REVENUE

General Fund
Property Taxes 40,279,453    41,789,932    43,357,055    44,982,945    46,669,805    
Other Property Tax 1,038,450      1,061,815      1,085,706      1,110,134      1,135,112      
Government Grants 704,742         705,000         710,000         715,000         715,000         
Fees and Charges 12,545,859    12,796,776    13,052,712    13,313,766    13,580,041    
Investment Income 2,430,590      2,500,590      2,610,590      2,760,590      2,930,590      
RMI Grant 7,500,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      6,900,000      
MRDT 10,000,000    10,000,000    10,275,000    10,634,625    10,868,587    
Works and Service Charges 452,000         475,000         475,000         475,000         475,000         
Water Fund
Parcel Taxes 4,046,253      4,127,178      4,209,722      4,293,916      4,379,794      
Fees and Charges 3,077,667      3,139,220      3,202,005      3,266,045      3,331,366      
Works and Service Charges 50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Sewer Fund
Parcel Taxes 4,269,708      4,355,102      4,442,204      4,531,048      4,621,669      
Fees and Charges 3,973,508      4,052,978      4,134,038      4,216,718      4,301,053      
Works and Service Charges 160,000         175,000         175,000         175,000         175,000         
Solid Waste Fund
Fees and Charges 5,933,108      6,051,770      6,172,806      6,296,262      6,422,187      
Government Grants 554,096         550,000         500,000         525,000         550,000         

97,015,434    98,730,363    101,351,836  104,246,049  107,105,204  

EXPENDITURE
General Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 54,880,686    56,966,152    59,130,866    61,377,839    63,710,197    
Debt Interest & Principal 237,817         237,817         237,817         237,817         237,817         
Residents & Partners 8,191,600      8,191,600      8,416,869      8,711,459      8,903,112      
Contingency 565,728         602,310         623,345         645,148         667,747         
Water Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 1,992,331      2,032,177      2,072,821      2,114,277      2,156,563      
Debt Interest & Principal -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Sewer Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 2,546,392      2,597,320      2,649,266      2,702,252      2,756,297      
Debt Interest & Principal 1,038,986      1,038,986      878,986         878,986         878,986         
Solid Waste Fund
Payroll and Goods & Services 5,248,939      5,327,673      5,407,588      5,488,702      5,571,033      
Debt Interest & Principal 472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         472,255         

75,174,734    77,466,290    79,889,813    82,628,735    85,354,005    
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE A Cont'd
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SUMMARY

2020 2021 2022 2023 2023

TRANSFERS TO (FROM )
OTHER FUNDS / RESERVES

Interest Paid to Reserves 2,075,000      2,251,065      2,348,489      2,484,978      2,637,978      
Recreation Works Charges Reserve 250,000         245,000         260,000         260,000         260,000         
Transportation Works Charges Reserve 200,000         175,000         200,000         210,000         220,000         
Employee Housing Charges Reserve 2,000             5,000             5,000             5,000             5,000             
RMI Reserve 3,270,412      2,250,000      1,950,000      1,050,000      1,050,000      
MRDT Reserve (133,095)        315,000         285,000         410,720         (82,000)          
General Capital Reserve 5,637,031      5,947,068      6,274,156      6,619,235      6,983,293      
Parking Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Parkland and ESA Reserve -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 1,028,214      1,077,476      1,028,612      1,138,723      1,129,852      
General Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
General Operating Reserve 1,261,430      1,111,430      1,118,450      1,339,503      1,339,503      
Water Works Charges Reserve 50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Capital Reserve 3,653,349      3,408,125      3,459,247      3,511,136      3,563,803      
Water Operating Reserve 71,714           72,789           73,881           74,989           76,114           
Water Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Sewer Works Charges Reserve 160,000         175,000         175,000         175,000         175,000         
Sewer Capital Reserve 2,525,923      2,410,500      2,446,658      2,483,357      2,520,608      
Sewer Operating Reserve 603,195         603,195         603,195         603,195         603,195         
Sewer Operating Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 1,213,814      1,197,540      1,215,503      1,233,736      1,252,242      
Solid Waste Operating Reserve (28,286)          (30,115)          (31,167)          (32,257)          (33,387)          
Solid Waste Surplus (Deficit) -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

 
21,840,700    21,264,072    21,462,023    21,617,314    21,751,199    

REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURE
 AND TRANSFERS 0 0 0 0 0
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE B
CONSOLIDATED PROJECT SUMMARY

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING

General Fund
Government Grants 1,121,500      300,000         92,500           -                     -                     
Contribution from Developers -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Equipment disposal proceeds -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
WHA construction loan (5,000,000)     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Other Contributions 200,000         -                     -                     -                     -                     
WCSS loan payments 50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           50,000           
Water Fund
Government Grants -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Other Contributions -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Sewer Fund
Government Grants -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Solid Waste Fund
Government Grants 335,000         -                     -                     -                     -                     

(3,293,500)     350,000         142,500         50,000           50,000           

EXPENDITURE
General Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 1,810,020      683,200         525,200         140,000         55,000           
Infrastructure Maintenance 15,611,404    9,584,406      7,121,256      6,198,356      4,253,507      
Capital Expenditure 10,584,775    3,685,145      3,558,137      2,657,615      1,979,600      
WCSS loan -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Water Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 1,137,500      1,822,500      1,857,500      1,812,500      457,500         
Infrastructure Maintenance 3,190,000      2,960,000      2,385,000      8,830,000      620,000         
Capital Expenditure 186,350         113,850         1,000,000      1,000,000      -                     
Sewer Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 762,000         842,000         832,000         582,000         582,000         
Infrastructure Maintenance 5,629,500      10,022,500    3,321,000      2,480,000      2,815,000      
Capital Expenditure 678,650         576,150         -                     -                     -                     
Solid Waste Fund
Non-capital Expenditure 110,000         110,000         110,000         110,000         110,000         
Infrastructure Maintenance 480,000         325,000         350,000         575,000         185,000         
Capital Expenditure 1,130,000      10,000           10,000           10,000           10,000           
All Funds
Depreciation 13,249,083    13,649,083    14,049,083    14,449,083    14,849,083    

54,559,282    44,383,834    35,119,176    38,844,554    25,916,690    
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2019 - 2023 SCHEDULE B Cont'd
CONSOLIDATED PROJECT SUMMARY

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TRANSFERS (TO) FROM 
OTHER FUNDS (RESERVES)

RMI Reserve 10,190,963    2,459,250      764,500         464,500         249,500         
MRDT Reserve 865,050         643,000         608,900         581,800         575,500         
General Capital Reserve 6,056,170      4,385,951      2,651,641      3,081,273      1,904,092      
Recreation Works Charges 366,100         600,000         400,000         600,000         -                     
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 3,206,945      880,000         2,341,246      1,925,090      1,350,000      
Library Reserve 64,000           60,000           50,000           45,000           -                     
General Operating Reserve 2,273,969      1,642,046      1,388,300      1,025,800      961,500         

Transportation Works Charges 3,361,500      3,282,500      2,907,500      1,272,500      1,247,500      
Water Capital Reserve 4,156,350      4,588,850      4,900,000      11,390,000    830,000         
Water Operating Reserve 357,500         307,500         342,500         252,500         247,500         
Sewer Capital Reserve 6,308,150      10,598,650    3,321,000      2,480,000      2,815,000      
Sewer Operating Reserve 762,000         842,000         832,000         582,000         582,000         
Solid Waste Capital Reserve 1,575,000      35,000           360,000         585,000         195,000         
Solid Waste Operating Reserve 110,000         110,000         110,000         110,000         110,000         

39,653,699    30,434,751    20,977,593    24,395,471    11,067,606    

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON CASH ITEMS AND CHANGES TO NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
Depreciation 13,249,083    13,649,083    14,049,083    14,449,083    14,849,083    
WCSS loan (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (50,000)          (49,999)          
WHA construction loan 5,000,000      -                     -                     -                     -                     

18,199,083    13,599,083    13,999,083    14,399,083    14,799,084    

REVENUE AND TRANSFERS 
LESS EXPENDITURE -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2020 - 2024 SCHEDULE C
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Proportion of total proceeds proposed to be raised from each funding source in 2020

Funding Source
% of Total 
Revenue Dollar value

Property Taxes 41.85% 41,317,903           
Parcel Taxes 8.42% 8,315,961             
Fees and Charges 26.53% 26,192,142           
Investment income 2.46% 2,430,590             
Debt 0.00% -                        
Government Grants 2.75% 2,715,338             
Transfer taxes 17.73% 17,500,000           
Other 0.25% 250,000                

Total 100% 98,721,934           

The municipality will continue to pursue revenue diversification to minimize the overall
percentage of revenue raised from property taxes wherever possible. The objective is to
maintain a reasonable tax burden by maximizing other revenue sources, lowering the cost
of municipal services and shifting the burden to user fees and charges where feasible. 

Proposed distribution of property tax revenue in 2020

Property Class

% of Total 
Property 
Taxation

Dollar value, 
completed roll

Class 1 - Residential 67.20% 27,765,631           
Class 2 - Utilities 1.45% 599,110                
Class 5 - Light industry 0.15% 61,977                  
Class 6 - Business other 29.70% 12,271,417           
Class 8 - Recreational 1.50% 619,769                

Total 100% 41,317,903           

The municipality will continue to set tax rates to ensure tax stability by maintaining a
consistent proportionate relationship between classes. The proposed distribution shown
above is consistent with the prior year. In order to maintain the current share of taxation
between property classes, minor adjustments are made to the tax ratios to account for
market based assessment variation between the classes. This policy provides a balanced tax
impact among property classes.
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER  BYLAW 2258, 2019
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 2020 - 2024 SCHEDULE C Cont'd

PERMISSIVE EXEMPTIONS
As permitted by the Community Charter, council has granted exemptions from municipal
property taxes for the following general purposes:

   *  Land and improvements surrounding a statutorily exempt building for public worship.  
   *  Properties owned or held by a not-for-profit organization whose purpose is to contribute
       to the well-being of the community with the provision of cultural, social, educational or
       recreational services.

Permissive exemptions for municipal property taxes in 2020 are estimated to be $517,512
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THE RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 

BUSINESS LICENCE AND REGULATION BYLAW NO. 2253, 2019 

A BYLAW TO PROVIDE FOR THE GRANTING OF BUSINESS LICENCES, TO FIX AND 
IMPOSE LICENCE FEES AND TO REGULATE CERTAIN BUSINESSES IN THE RESORT 

MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 

WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it expedient to provide for 
business licensing and to regulate the operation of businesses in the Resort Municipality; 

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler wishes to protect its 
reputation as a world class destination and resort, and prevent nuisances and misleading 
business practices in the Resort Municipality; 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

I DEFINITIONS 

1. In this bylaw: 

“ATM” means an automatic teller machine or the business of providing an automatic 
teller machine; 

“activity tour or promotion business” means the marketing or providing of recreational 
activities; 

“bank” includes a bank, credit union, trust company or other similar institution that, 
among other things, accepts deposits, invests money, or lends money; 

 “body shop business” means the business of painting or doing bodywork on vehicles; 

“business” means “business” as defined in the Community Charter; 
 

“bylaw enforcement officer” means a person appointed from time to time by Council as a 
Bylaw Enforcement Officer, Parking Enforcement Officer or a person appointed for the 
purpose of enforcing bylaws in the Resort Municipality, or a Royal Canadian Mounted 
Police officer;  

“Council” means the Council of the Resort Municipality; 

“direct sales” means marketing goods or services to people in their homes, workplaces, 
or in public places, whether door to door, over the phone, on foot, or from a vehicle; 

“escort agency” means the business of providing or furnishing an escort or partner on an 
intermittent basis for a social occasion or function; 

“fractional interest” means a one-quarter or less interest in a parcel, which the owner 
holds as a tenant in common or in the form of ownership points; 
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“garage business” means the business of repairing vehicles, but does not include 
painting or doing bodywork on vehicles; 

 “hotel” has the same meaning as in the Tourist Accommodation Regulation Bylaw; 

“hotel business” has the same meaning as in the Tourist Accommodation Regulation 
Bylaw; 

“licence” means a valid business licence issued by the Resort Municipality; 

“licence inspector” means the Supervisor of Bylaw Services, the Manager of Protective 
Services or any other person appointed from time to time by Council for the purpose of 
carrying out the provisions of this bylaw; 

“liquor primary licensed establishment” means a premises at a fixed address and 
requires a liquor primary licence pursuant to the Liquor Control and Licensing Act; 

“market” means sell, offer for sale, promote, canvass, solicit, rent, advertise, book, 
arrange or facilitate rental, and includes handing out free samples or commercial flyers, 
or placing, posting or erecting advertisements physically or online, but does not include 
the mere provision of a neutral space or location for such marketing in newspapers, 
bulletin boards or online; 

“occupant load” means the number of persons permitted in a building or area of a 
building pursuant to all applicable municipal, building and fire related bylaws and 
enactments in effect from time-to-time; 

“person” includes any individual, firm, corporation or formal or informal partnership 
carrying on a business; 

"premises" means a legal parcel, and may include more than one parcel where the 
parcels have a single civic address;  

“private outdoor area” means a privately owned or leased outdoor patio area; 

“public place” includes a road, highway, park, pedestrian walkway, plaza, or public 
parking lot, and includes all outdoor areas leased, controlled or operated by Whistler 
Blackcomb or the Whistler Village Land Company; 

“publication box” means a rack or box containing published materials for distribution for 
free or by payment; 

“publishing business” means the business of printing or publishing books, newspapers, 
magazines, flyers, leaflets, including the publication of materials over the Internet; 

“registered society” means a not-for-profit society registered and in good standing with 
the Registrar of Companies under the Societies Act; 

“Resort Municipality” means the corporation of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, or its 
geographic area; 
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“restaurant with liquor service” means premises at a fixed address where prepared food, 
beverages, or both are served to the public for a fee and requires a food primary licence 
pursuant to the Liquor Control and Licensing Act but does not include a liquor primary 
licensed establishment; 

“restaurant without liquor service” means premises at a fixed address where prepared 
food, beverages excluding liquor, or both are served to the public for a fee, but does not 
include a liquor primary licensed establishment or a restaurant with liquor service;  

 “ski lift operation” means a business providing chair lifts, towropes, gondolas and similar 
services for ascending a mountain; 

“special event” has the same meaning as in Special Event Bylaw No. 2171, 2019; 

“strata development” means a building, group of buildings, or a part of a building, in a 
strata development governed by a strata corporation under the Strata Property Act; 

“taxi business” means the provision of a taxi, limousine or similar vehicle with a driver for 
a fee; 

“time share business” means the marketing of time share interests or ownership points 
in property, and, for the purpose of this bylaw, is a distinct business from the actual 
operation of a hotel or tourist accommodation property that is used in whole or in part by 
customers/clients of the time share business; 

“time share premises” has the same meaning as in the Tourist Accommodation 
Regulation Bylaw; 

“tourist accommodation business” has the same meaning as in the Tourist 
Accommodation Regulation Bylaw; 

“tourist accommodation property” has the same meaning as in the Tourist 
Accommodation Regulation Bylaw;  

“Tourist Accommodation Regulation Bylaw” means Resort Municipality of Whistler 
Tourist Accommodation Regulation Bylaw No. 2142, 2017; 

“transportation network services business” means the business of connecting drivers of 
passenger directed vehicles with passengers who hail and pay for the services through 
the use of an online platform, where such drivers pick up passengers within the Resort 
Municipality;   

“Zoning Bylaw” means Resort Municipality of Whistler Zoning and Parking Bylaw No. 
303, 2015. 

2. Reference to another bylaw or enactment in this bylaw is a reference to that bylaw 
or enactment as it may be amended, replaced or in effect from time to time. 
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BUSINESS LICENCES 

Requirements 

3. No person may carry on any business in the Resort Municipality without a valid and 
subsisting licence for that class of business.  

4. A person must not carry on any business in the Resort Municipality except at the 
premises identified in a valid and subsisting licence for that business. 

5. Every person who operates a business at more than one premises must apply for 
and maintain a separate licence in respect of each separate premises. 

6. Every person who operates more than one business or class of business at a 
single premises must apply for and maintain a separate licence in respect of each 
class of business at that premises.   

7. Every holder of a licence must keep a copy of the licence posted in a conspicuous 
place in the premises, vehicle, place or structure in respect of which the business 
is carried out or undertaken and for which the licence is issued. 

8. Every holder of a licence for a tourist accommodation business shall post their 
licence number in a conspicuous place on any marketing for the business. 

9. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this bylaw, the holder of a licence for a 
transportation network services business may provide such services throughout 
the Resort Municipality, and need not post its licence. 

10. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this bylaw, the following activities do not 
require a licence: 

(a) fundraising activities carried on by a registered society, provided that the entire 
proceeds of the activity are provided to that registered society or another 
registered society; 

(b) an educational course or program provided by a community or continuing 
education facility, or by a school operated pursuant to the School Act, including 
fundraising activities to support such programs; or 

(c) a garage or yard sale. 

11. The issuance of a licence shall not be deemed to be a representation by the Resort 
Municipality to the licence holder or to anyone else that the business complies with 
all applicable bylaws or other enactments. The licence holder shall ensure 
compliance with all bylaws and other enactments. 
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Licence Applications 

12. Every person applying for a new licence must, at the time of making the 
application, pay to the Resort Municipality the New Licence Administration Fee 
specified in Schedule “A” in addition to the annual fee specified for that business in 
Schedule “A” and comply with s. 13. 

13. Every application for a new licence under this bylaw:  

(a) must be made on the form provided by the licence inspector for that purpose; 
and 

(b) may be required by the licence inspector to contain the following information 
when applicable: 

(i) the name, address and phone number of the applicant and business 
owner; 

(ii) the class of business as listed in Schedule “A” to this bylaw; 

(iii) a brief description of the nature of the business; 

(iv) a description of the business premises, including the legal description and 
civic address; 

(v) the square footage of the business premises, including a copy of a plan of 
the commercial space when requested; 

(vi) proof of ownership, a lease or other arrangement permitting the business 
to use the premises for the period of the licence; 

(vii) proof of any certification, licence, permit, approval, qualification, or plan 
that may be required by a federal, provincial or local authority with respect 
to the business, including a solid waste management plan, if required, 
pursuant to the Resort Municipality of Whistler Solid Waste Bylaw No. 
2139, 2017;  

(viii) reasonable proof of insurance if insurance is required under this bylaw or 
any other bylaw or enactment; 

(ix) the type of liquor licence, including any endorsements, issued to the 
business under the Liquor Control and Licensing Act; 

(x) proof of a permit issued to the business under the Food Premises 
Regulation under the Public Health Act;  

(xi) where a licence fee is based on occupant load or another unit of business 
capacity, the occupant load or other description of the business capacity; 
and 
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(xii) any additional information the licence inspector reasonably requests in 
order to assist in determining whether the applicant may be issued a 
licence. 

14. Every person applying to renew a licence must pay to the Resort Municipality the 
annual fee specified for that business in Schedule “A” and any information the 
licence inspector reasonably requests in order to assist in determining whether the 
licence may be renewed on or before January 31 each calendar year.   

15. Where a business does not clearly fall into a listed class in Schedule “A”, the 
licence inspector may process the licence application on the basis of the class of 
business most similar to the applicant’s business. 

16. No person shall make any material misrepresentations on the licence application. 

17. All licences issued under this bylaw shall apply only to the person to whom it was 
issued and no other person shall have the right to use such licence. 

Licence Periods 

18. Licences issued under this bylaw are valid for the period commencing January 1 
and expiring December 31 of each year unless cancelled under this bylaw. 

19. Notwithstanding s. 18, a licence for a special event shall be for no more than 6 
consecutive weeks or 42 non-continuous days in a calendar year and shall 
explicitly state its term of validity. 

20. Notwithstanding s. 18, a hotel business licence for a hotel that is subject to the 
Strata Property Act, except a hotel business licence for time share premises, shall 
expire on the earlier of December 31 of each year and the date on which a hotel 
business licence is issued to a new operator for the hotel business pursuant to a 
business licence application accompanied by a resolution passed by a ¾ vote 
under the Strata Property Act authorizing the applicant to operate the hotel 
business. 

Licence Changes 

21. Every person intending to make any of the following changes to a business for 
which the person holds a licence: 

(a) a change to a mailing address of the licence holder for the business; 

(b) a change to the name of the business; or 

(c) a change to a term or condition on which the licence was issued; 

must complete and submit to the licence inspector a change in licence form, and pay to 
the Resort Municipality the licence change fee stated in Schedule “A”. 
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Licence Inspector’s Powers and Duties 

22. Upon being satisfied that a licence application, renewal, or change meets the 
requirements for issuance, renewal, or change of a licence in this bylaw, the 
licence inspector may issue, renew or change a licence. 

23. No licence shall be granted to a person for a business unless the licence inspector 
is satisfied on the information available that: 

(a) the zoning of the business premises permits the business activity;  

(b) the owner or operator of the business complies with this bylaw and all other 
bylaws and enactments that are applicable to the business and its premises; and 

(c) all licence fees, and any outstanding fees or fines owed to the Resort 
Municipality in relation to the business, or any other business operated by the 
same applicant, have been paid. 

24. Subject to section 16 of the Community Charter, the licence inspector or a bylaw 
enforcement officer may enter business premises at a reasonable time to inspect 
and determine whether the regulations and requirements of this bylaw or a licence 
are being met. 

25. At any time, the licence inspector may require a licence holder to provide proof of 
any certification, licence, permit, approval, qualification or plan that may be 
required by this bylaw, or by a federal, provincial or local authority with respect to 
the business.   

26. The licence inspector may impose terms and conditions with respect to a licence in 
relation to: 

(a) the duration of the licence;  

(b) the hours of operation of the business; 

(c) the maximum number of occupants allowed at the premises; or 

(d) any other terms or conditions related to compliance with this bylaw or another 
applicable bylaw or other enactment. 

27. A licence issued under this bylaw to a business is subject to every term and 
condition applicable to that business stated in the licence and this bylaw. 

28. The licence inspector may refuse, suspend, or cancel a licence where the licence 
inspector is satisfied that: 

(a) the licence holder has failed to ensure compliance with a provision of this bylaw 
or a term or condition of the licence applicable to the business; or 

(b) for other reasonable cause pursuant to the Community Charter.  
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29. The licence inspector may impose conditions on a licence in relation to the refusal, 
suspension or cancellation of the licence. 

30. An applicant or licence holder who wishes Council to reconsider the licence 
inspector’s decision to refuse, suspend, or cancel a licence must, within ten 
business days of the date of the refusal, suspension or cancellation, deliver to the 
Municipal Clerk of the Resort Municipality a written request stating the grounds 
upon which the request is based. 

31. The Municipal Clerk must refer a request made under s. 30 to a regular or special 
Council meeting, and notify the applicant or licence holder of the time and place at 
which Council will reconsider the decision of the licence inspector. 

GENERAL BUSINESS REGULATIONS 

32. No licence holder shall contravene, or permit or allow the contravention of, any 
term of this bylaw in relation to their business. 

33. No licence holder shall contravene, or permit or allow the contravention of, any 
term or condition of their licence. 

34. Every person who owns or operates a business must comply with all bylaws and 
enactments applicable to that business as a term and condition of their licence. 

35. No person who owns or operates a business may cause, allow or permit that 
business to cause a nuisance to other business owners, residents, or members of 
the public. 

36. No person shall market goods or services, or carry on any business, in a public 
place without a licence for the business together with: 

(a)     any other applicable permit or approval issued by the Resort Municipality, or  

(b)     a lease from the Whistler Village Land Company, 

authorizing the activity at the times and locations indicated. 

37. No person shall conduct business in a private outdoor area unless the business is 
also licenced to operate in an adjacent indoor premises.  

SPECIFIC BUSINESS REGULATIONS 

Time Shares  

38. As a condition of a licence issued in respect of a time share business, every time 
share business shall display a sign or signs in a conspicuous place in the premises 
in respect of which the business is carried out and for which the licence is issued 
that state: “This business premises is licenced to market TIME SHARES by the 
Resort Municipality of Whistler.”  
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39. The signs referred to in s. 38 must comply with Sign Bylaw No. 558, 1987 and 
have the word “TIME SHARES” printed in capital letters of not less than 150 
millimeters in height, in a colour that contrasts with the background, and be visible 
to anyone approaching each entrance to the premises in which the time share 
business is located. Where a time share business is conducted in conjunction with 
another class of business in a single premises, signs must be posted so that they 
are visible from both outside the premises and in the part of the premises where 
the time share business is conducted. 

40. No person shall carry on a time share business in the same premises as any other 
business, with the exception of an activity tour or promotion business. 

41. No person shall carry on a time share business outside of the premises for which it 
has been licenced. 

42. No person shall market time share interests, fractional interests or ownership 
points in property while that person is in a public place, or within the common 
property of a strata development. 

Dog Sled Operators and Outdoor Kennels 

43. Every person licenced to carry on a business that involves the keeping of dogs 
outdoors must: 

(a) ensure that each dog is secured with a tangle free chain at least 5 feet in length, 
or kept in an enclosure at least 75 square feet in area when inside the kennel; 

(b) ensure that each dog has the ability to sit on top of their individual dog shelter 
while chained as required; 

(c) provide a separate shelter for each dog that: 

(i) is made of wood, plastic or similar material;  

(ii) provides sufficient space to allow each dog the ability to turn about freely 
and easily, stand, sit, stretch and lie in a normal position; and 

(iii) provides sufficient insulation for each dog and prevents moisture from 
accumulating; 

(d) change the bedding in the dog shelters regularly to ensure it is clean and dry; 

(e) ensure that all dog shelters are dug out as necessary to maintain position on the 
surface of snow accumulations; 

(f) maintain a compound enclosed by fencing at least six feet high to contain the 
animals; 

(g) ensure that fencing is dug out as necessary to maintain height relative to the 
surface of snow accumulations; 
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(h) install flood lighting at the site of the enclosure to assist in evening operations 
and incident intervention; 

(i) ensure daily cleanup and sanitization of the kennel compound including both 
food waste and animal feces;  

(j) dispose of all animal feces generated by the business through a municipally 
licenced waste disposal provider and provide a copy of the contract between the 
operator and the waste disposal company to the licence inspector upon request; 

(k) provide separate pens for female dogs in heat and female dogs with litters; 

(l) have a dog licence for each dog from the Resort Municipality and ensure that all 
dogs have identification tags or tattoos; 

(m) provide to the Resort Municipality, at the time of business licence issuance, the 
name and telephone number of a contact person who can be contacted 24 hours 
a day in the event of an emergency at the business premises or a complaint 
about the animals, and update this information whenever there is a change in 
personnel;  

(n) allow the licence inspector, bylaw enforcement officer or, if the licence inspector 
deems it necessary, an officer of the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 
Animals to inspect the business at reasonable times; and 

(o) cease all commercial dog sledding or outdoor kennel operations until any 
violation of the foregoing regulations is corrected to the satisfaction of the licence 
inspector. 

Food and Beverage Businesses 

44. No person who operates or markets a liquor primary licensed establishment or a 
restaurant with liquor service shall: 

(a) advertise or solicit in relation to that business; 

(b) permit or cause any other person to advertise or solicit in relation to that 
business, 

in any public place where persons under the age of 19 may be present.  

Direct Sales 

45. No person shall attend at any residence for the purpose of selling, soliciting or 
taking orders for goods, materials, publications or services of any kind unless a 
previous appointment for such attendance has been made with a person who is 
expected to be at the residence at the time. 

  

Page 515 of 542



BUSINESS LICENCE AND REGULATION BYLAW NO. 2253, 2019 

Page 11 
 
 

 

Vehicle Service and Repair 

46. Garage businesses and body shop businesses must be licenced separately, and 
must not be conducted in the same premises. 

Printing and Publishing 

47. Every person carrying on the business of providing publication boxes shall, at the 
time the person applies for or renews a business licence, provide a list of all 
publication boxes the person owns or operates in the Resort Municipality, the 
location of each publication box and a description of the materials distributed by 
the publication box.  

48. As a condition of a licence issued for a business that provides publication boxes, 
the licence holder must keep all publication boxes in good repair and immediately 
remove any graffiti. 

49. As a condition of a licence issued for a publishing business, every business that 
publishes and distributes maps of the Resort Municipality not endorsed by the 
Resort Municipality must print on the page that contains the map in at least 14-
point font the following: “This map is not an official map of Whistler and is not 
endorsed by the Resort Municipality of Whistler”.  

50. As a condition of all licences, every person who permits a publication box to be 
located on its business premises must not permit more than four publication boxes 
to be located on the premises.  

51. Section 50 does not apply to publication boxes that only distribute newspapers that 
are published at least on a monthly basis.  

OFFENCES  

52. A person who: 

(a) carries on a business without holding a valid licence for that business; 

(b) fails to display a valid licence as required by this bylaw; 

(c) fails to provide any documentation or information as required by this bylaw; 

(d) carries on or remains open for business after receiving notice that the licence for 
that business has been suspended or cancelled;  

(e) breaches any term or condition of their a licence; or 

(f) violates any provision of this bylaw 

commits an offence of this bylaw, and is liable on conviction to a fine or penalty of up to 
$10,000 for each offence. 
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GENERAL 

53. If any portion of this bylaw is held to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
it shall be severed from the bylaw and the remaining portions shall remain in full 
force and effect as if the bylaw had been enacted without the invalid portion. 

54. Schedules “A” attached hereto and form part of this bylaw. 

55. This bylaw repeals and replaces “Business Licence Bylaw No. 567, 1987”, 
“Business Regulation Bylaw No. 739, 1989”, “Vehicles for Hire Regulation Bylaw 
No. 1494, 2002”, and all amending bylaws. 

56. This bylaw may be cited as “Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2253, 
2019”. 

GIVEN FIRST AND SECOND READINGS this 5th day of November, 2019. 

NOTICE given under sections 59(2)(a) and (3) of the Community Charter on the 7th and 14th 
days of November, 2019.  

GIVEN THIRD READING this 3rd day of December, 2019. 

ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019. 

 

___________________________   _____________________________             
Mayor, J. Crompton               Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of 
the “Business Licence and Regulation) No. 
2253, 2019”. 

_____________________________________ 

Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 

 
  

Page 517 of 542



BUSINESS LICENCE AND REGULATION BYLAW NO. 2253, 2019 

Page 13 
 
 

 

Schedule “A” 

BUSINESS LICENCE FEES 

The following fees must be paid in accordance with this bylaw: 

1. New licence administration fee - $25.00. 

2. Change of licence fee - $10.00. 

3. Annual licence fee is $190.00 unless otherwise set out below, to a maximum annual fee 
of $2000.00: 

Business Classification Minimum Fee (Plus 
Unit Fee if 
applicable) 

Unit Fee 

Automatic Teller Machine Company $100.00 $50.00/ATM 

Bank $350.00  

Dog Sled or Outdoor Kennel Operators $500.00  

Escort Agency $500.00  

Liquor Primary Licensed Establishment $50.00  $5.00/person based on 
occupant load 

Restaurant with Liquor Service $50.00 $2.00/person based on 
occupant load 

Restaurant without Liquor Service $200.00  

Taxi Business $200.00  

Transportation Network Services $200.00  

Publication Box Provider (does not include 
publication boxes that only distribute 
newspapers) 

$200.00 $25.00/box 

Ski Lift Operation $200.00 $85.00/lift 

Special Event $100.00 per event $25.00/vendor, service 
provider or exhibitor 

Campground $190.00 $5.00/site 

Hotel Business $190.00 $10.00/guest unit 

Tourist Accommodation Business (other 
than Campground and Hotel Business) 

$190.00 $25.00/tourist 
accommodation  
property 

Time Share Business $200.00  

Registered Society No fee  
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 RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

BYLAW NOTICE ENFORCEMENT AMENDMENT BYLAW (BUSINESS LICENCE AND 
REGULATION) NO. 2254, 2019 

 
A BYLAW TO AMEND “BYLAW NOTICE ENFORCEMENT BYLAW NO. 2174, 2018”. 

 

 
WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler has adopted “Bylaw Notice Enforcement 
Bylaw No. 2174, 2018”;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it expedient to authorize the 
use of Bylaw Notice for the enforcement of certain bylaws, to designate expressions that may be used 
for certain bylaw offences and to set certain fine amounts; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it necessary and expedient 
to amend the “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018”; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting assembled, 
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw 
(Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2254, 2019”. 

 
2. “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018” is amended by: 

(a) adding the table attached as Schedule “A” to this Bylaw to the tables listed in Schedule “A” 
of “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018”. 

(b) repealing the tables in Schedule “A” of “Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 2174, 2018 
titled as the Business License Bylaw No. 567, 1987 and Business Regulation Bylaw 739, 
1989. 

3. Schedule “A” attached to this Bylaw forms part of this Bylaw. 

GIVEN FIRST AND SECOND READINGS this 5th day of November, 2019. 
 
GIVEN THIRD READING this 3rd day of December, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019. 
 
 
 
___________________________                           ________________________                                                        
Mayor, J. Crompton              Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of the 
“Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw 
(Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2254, 2019”. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
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Bylaw Notice Enforcement Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2254, 2019 

Schedule “A” 

Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw No. 2254, 2019 

DESIGNATED EXPRESSION SECTION(S) Discounted 
Penalty 

Penalty Compliance 
Agreement 
Available (50% 
of Penalty) 

Carry on business without a licence 3 $300 $500 No 

Carry on business at a premises not 
identified in licence  

4 $100 $150 No 

Licence not posted in a conspicuous 
place in the premises, vehicle, place or 
structure  

7 $100 $150 No 

Licence number not posted in a 
conspicuous place on any marketing for 
the business 

8 $250 $500 No 

Contravene, or permit or allow the 
contravention of, any term or condition 
of licence 

33 $200 $300 No 

Cause, allow or permit business to cause 
a nuisance  

35 $150 $200 No 

Market goods or services, or carry on 
business, in a public place without a 
licence and applicable permit or 
approval 

36 (a) $300 $350 No 

Market goods or services, or carry on 
business, in a public place without a 
licence and lease 

36 (b) $300 $350 No 

Conduct business in a private outdoor 
area  

37 $300 $350 No 

Carry on a time share business in same 
premises as any other business 

40 $500 $500 No 

Carry on a time share business outside 
of premises for which it has been 
licenced 

41 $500 $500 No 
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Advertise or solicit in relation to a 
business in a public place where 
persons under the age of 19 may be 
present. 

44  $500 $500 No 

Fail to provide documentation or 
information  

52 (c) $250 $500 No 

Carry on or remain open for business 
after receiving notice that licence has 
been suspended or cancelled 

52 (d) $400 $500 No 
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RESORT MUNICIPALITY OF WHISTLER 
 

MUNICIPAL TICKET INFORMATION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION AMENDMENT BYLAW 
(BUSINESS AND LICENCE REGULATION BYLAW) No. 2255, 2019 

 
A BYLAW TO AMEND “MUNICIPAL TICKET INFORMATION SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION BYLAW 

NO. 1719, 2005” 

 
WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler has adopted “Municipal Ticket Information 
System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005”;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it expedient to authorize the 
use of Bylaw Notice for the enforcement of certain bylaws, to designate expressions that may be used 
for certain bylaw offences and to set certain fine amounts; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler deems it necessary and expedient 
to amend the “Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005”; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Resort Municipality of Whistler, in open meeting assembled, 
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Municipal Ticket Information System 
Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) No. 2255, 2019”. 

 
2. “Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005” is amended by: 

 
(a) rescinding the table attached as Schedule B3 and B12 “A” to of “Municipal Ticket Information 
System Implementation Bylaw No. 1719, 2005” and replacing B3 with the table attached as 
Schedule B3 to this bylaw. 

3. Schedule “A” attached to this Bylaw forms part of this Bylaw. 

GIVEN FIRST and SECOND READINGS this 5th day of November, 2019. 
 
GIVEN THIRD READING this 3rd day of December, 2019. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2019. 
 
 
 
___________________________                           ________________________                                                        
Mayor, J. Crompton              Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that this is a true copy of the 
“Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation 
Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) 
No. 2255, 2019”. 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Municipal Clerk, A. Banman 
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Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and Regulation) No. 
2255, 2019 

Schedule B3 

Municipal Ticket Information System Implementation Amendment Bylaw (Business Licence and 
Regulation) No. 2255, 2019 

Business Licence and Regulation Bylaw 2253, 2019 

DESIGNATED EXPRESSION SECTION(S) Penalty 

Carry on business without a licence 3 $500 

Carry on business at a premises not identified in licence  4 $500 

Licence not posted in a conspicuous place in the premises, 
vehicle, place or structure  

7 $500 

Licence number not posted in a conspicuous place on any 
marketing for the business 

8 $1000 

Contravene, or permit or allow the contravention of, any term 
or condition of licence 

33 $500 

Cause, allow or permit business to cause a nuisance  
35 $500 

Market goods or services, or carry on business, in a public 
place without a licence and applicable permit or approval 

36 (a) $500 

Market goods or services, or carry on business, in a public 
place without a licence and lease 

36 (b) $500 

Conduct business in a private outdoor area  37 $500 

Carry on a time share business in same premises as any 
other business 

40 $500 

Carry on a time share business outside of premises for which 
it has been licenced 

41 $500 

Advertise or solicit in relation to a business in a public place 
where persons under the age of 19 may be present. 

44  $500 

Fail to provide documentation or information  52 (c) $500 

Carry on or remain open for business after receiving notice 
that licence has been suspended or cancelled 

52 (d) $500 
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From: Mayor <Mayor@saanich.ca> 

Date: December 6, 2019 at 1:21:24 PM PST 

To: Jack Crompton <jcrompton@whistler.ca> 

Subject: Follow up to 2019-Nov-28 Letter to Premier from Mayor Haynes 

  

Good Afternoon Mayors,  

  

Further to my correspondence of November 28 addressed to Premier Horgan regarding 

modernization of the Motor Vehicle Act, would you kindly advise whether you and your Council 

are in support of the requested changes. If so, would you consider sending a letter to the 

Premier? 

  

Thank you,  

Fred Haynes 

  
Fred Haynes 
Mayor 
 

District of Saanich 

770 Vernon Ave. 
Victoria BC  V8X 2W7 

 
 

t. 250-475-5510  
f. 250-475-5440 

mayor@saanich.ca 

www.saanich.ca 

 
This e-mail and any attachments are for the sole use of the intended recipient and must not be distributed or disclosed to anyone else. The content 

of this e-mail and any attachments may be confidential, privileged and/or subject to the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. If 

you have received this message in error, please delete it and contact the sender. 

 
 

Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail. 
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The Corporation of the District of Saanich I Mayor's Office 

770 Vernon Avenue Victoria BC VSX 2W7 IT 250-475-5510 IF 250-475-5440 I www.saanich.ca 

November 28, 2019 

via email : premier@gov.bc.ca 

The Honourable John Horgan, M.L.A. 
Premier of British Columbia 
PO Box 9422 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria, BC V8W 9V1 

Dear Premier Horgan: 

RE: Modernizing the Motor Vehicle Act 

We compliment you that British Columbia is recognized as a leader on so many levels. 
Consequently, Saanich Council received with disappointment your Deputy Director, South Coast 
Region's letter of November 5, 2019 (attached). We believe continued inaction to update the 
Motor Vehicle Act is concerning and contradicts a number of Provincial plans, studies and 
publications. We question why outdated statutory speed limits are retained while we continue to 
see unacceptable fatalities, collisions, and serious injury rates on our roads, far higher than 
many other progressive countries. 

For the past three years local governments have been waiting , hoping, for change following the 
Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General 's January 2016 publication of Moving to Vision 
Zero: Road Safety Strategy Update and Showcase of Innovation in British Columbia. And then 
the March 2016 publication from the Provincial Health Officer, Where the Rubber Meets the 
Road: Reducing the Impact of Motor Vehicle Crashes on Health and Well-being in British 
Columbia. Understandably, there was a period of silence as these documents circulated through 
government agencies and local municipalities followed by the Provincial Election in early 2017. 

In the past couple of years we've seen two more plans, Move Commute Connect from Clean BC 
in December 2018 and most recently the BC Active Transportation Design Guide. Taken 
together, we have four excellent planning documents and it is time for action. Specifically, 
significant updates to the Motor Vehicle Act to support, protect and encourage healthy 
transportation choices and much safer roads. 

The current legislative reality of enacting municipal bylaws to change the speed limit on every 
block of every street is an administrative burden , but not one that can't be overcome. Rather, it is 
the financial burden and visual clutter of having to install the tens of thousands of signs 
province-wide that is at issue. More importantly, the current piecemeal nature in which speed 
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limits are being lowered lacks consistency, effectiveness and safety. More cost-effective, 
consistent and safer solutions rest with changes that can be made through the Motor Vehicle Act. 

We are looking for changes to your laws governing our roads to help end the epidemic of road 
crash fatalities, serious injuries, collisions, and near misses. We believe this is an opportunity for 
leadership from our Honourable Premier in directing action similar to the nation-leading impaired 
driving laws enacted in 2011 which were followed by an immediate and sustained drop in fatalities 
and serious injuries. 

The broad and far reaching support for this change across British Columbia is shown by endorsed 
resolutions at UBCM in 1999, 2003, 2006, 2009, 2011 , 2015, and 2019. As fellow politicians we 
understand that some issues are so large they transcend multi-election cycles and party lines. This 
is evident by the repeated discussions at UBCM. Road safety is not a political issue that can be 
continuously delayed and deferred, with endless studies and reports that wither with each change 
of government. We must do better. We can do better. 

On behalf of the District of Saanich , and in the spirit of your leadership for all communities in British 
Columbia, we respectfully ask that you act swiftly and make the changes to the Motor Vehicle Act 
needed to improve road safety in our wonderful province. 

With hope, 

cc: 
Saanich Council 
The Honourable Claire Trevana, MLA, Minister of Transportation & Infrastructure 
MLA s of Greater Victoria 
Mayors of British Columbia 
President of the Union of British Columbia Municipalities 

2 
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His Worship 
Mayor Fred Haynes 
District of Saanich 
770 Vernon Ave. 
Victoria, BC V8X 2W7 

Dear Mayor Haynes, 

Re: UBCM 2019 Follow Up - MoTI Staff Meetings 

Thank you for taking the time to meet with me at the recent Union of British Columbia 
Municipalities (UBCM) Convention in Vancouver on September 24th, 2019. 

I appreciated the opportunity to discuss your concerns on lowering default speed limits. 

Though the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure does not plan on amending the 
MVA to redefining the current speed limit, the ministry will continue to engage with 
District of Saanich to ensure road safety for all users are supported . For more 
information, please refer to the B7 UBCM Resolution 2019 and the ministry's response 
found at the UBCM website. 

If you have any further questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact our VID 
District Manager, Michael Pearson directly by telephone at or via e-mail 
at 

Thank you again for taking the time to meet with me. 

Sincerely, 

Janelle Staite, P.Eng 
Deputy Director, South Coast Region 

Ministry of Highways 
Transportation and South Coast Region 
Infrastructure 

Mailing Address: 
310-1500 Woolridge Street Phone: 604-527-2111 Web Address: 

Coquitlam, BC V3K 088 www.gov.bc.ca/tran 
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Date: November 28, 2019 
Resort Municipality of Whistler 
Via corporate@whistler.ca 
Attn: Mayor and Council 
 
Re: Invitations from Vancouver and Victoria to collaborate on Accountability for Climate 

Change 

 
Thank you for your leadership in supporting moves towards Accountability for Climate 
Change.  The stories you have told in your letters, to the global fossil fuel companies and the 
Provincial government, have contributed to the global conversation by bringing in your local 
perspectives. We know that the Carbon Majors are starting to hear your messages because the 
way that Saudi Aramco, Shell, and other global companies are talking about climate change and 
their business models is shifting. While these corporations are not yet walking the walk, they are 
taking the first steps to notify their shareholders of liability risks associated with their products 
and to distance themselves from coalitions that promote climate denial. They need to move 
further to align their business decisions with the Paris Accord.  
 
It’s important to keep the pressure on. 
 
On June 27th 2019, Vancouver City Council passed a motion instructing Mayor Kennedy 
Stewart to reach out to local governments across Canada to investigate possible joint legal 
strategies to hold fossil fuel companies accountable for climate costs. There are obvious 
advantages to municipalities working together on this issue. 
 
As well, at the recent UBCM Convention, the City of Victoria announced that Joseph Arvay, one 
of Canada’s top litigators, is drafting a legal opinion about the potential for a class action lawsuit 
by BC communities against fossil fuel companies, seeking compensation for climate costs. We 
understand that Mr. Arvay will be making the opinion available to interested municipalities on a 
confidential basis.  
 
We are writing today to encourage you to explore the legal options related to climate costs for 
your own local governments. It is significant that many BC local governments have already 
written letters to fossil fuel companies pointing out the moral responsibility of those companies 
for local climate costs. However, recovering climate costs from fossil fuel companies and 
transforming their business practices may require stronger action.   
 
We ask that you reach out directly to Victoria’s Mayor and Council 
(mayorandcouncil@victoria.ca) and to the Vancouver Mayor’s office 
(Kennedy.Stewart@vancouver.ca), and the two councillors who moved this motion 
(Jean.Swanson@vancouver.ca and Christine.boyle@vancouver.ca ) to discuss options and 
opportunities for collaboration. Legal strategies offer pathways to a fairer allocation of climate 
costs like infrastructure upgrades, and can have an impact on global corporate responsibility. 
Litigation is one legal strategy (although not the only one), and we’ve enclosed a backgrounder 
for local governments on what a class action lawsuit by BC local governments might look like.  
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Understanding the pros and cons of available legal strategies does not commit you to a 
particular next step, but allows you to be better informed.  
 
The fights about tobacco, asbestos and opioids have shown that when powerful 
companies believe that they can make a lot of money while leaving consumers and 
taxpayers to pay for the damages associated with the use of their products, the resulting 
business decisions harm us all. Fossil fuel companies have known since the 1960s that 
their products would contaminate the global atmosphere, causing temperatures and sea 
levels to rise, increased drought and extreme weather, etc. Rather than working to 
address climate change, the companies worked to delay action - and they will continue 
to prioritize developing their fossil fuel reserves if they can expect to make still more 
profits without paying any of the costs. 
 
We know that your climate action and leadership is not limited to corporate climate 
accountability, and want to commend you for your work in reducing your own 
greenhouse gas footprint.  We know that if every level of government followed the 
leadership that you are showing, we would be better off.  
 
We are writing to extend our support for your council taking these actions, and our 
interest in working with you to explore legal strategies to get real climate action, and to 
amplify and celebrate your climate leadership in all activities. 
 

Sincerely: 
 
 

 
Anna Barford       Andrew Gage 
Community Organizer     Staff Lawyer 
Georgia Strait Alliance    West Coast Environmental Law 

 
 
CC Mayor Crompton (jcrompton@whistler.ca) 
 
Encl 
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SUING FOSSIL FUEL GIANTS 
AN INTRODUCTION FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

Andrew Gage, Staff Counsel 

In January 2017, over 50 BC-based environmental groups asked the province’s local governments to 

consider a class action lawsuit to recover a share of their climate-related costs from global fossil fuel 

companies. Since then the State of Rhode Island, New York City, San Francisco and a dozen other local 

governments in the U.S. have launched such lawsuits, and in BC there is growing interest in ways to pay 

for rising costs of climate change and to press fossil fuel companies to pay a fair share of those costs.  

 

Why do climate lawsuits matter to our 

communities and our planet? 

BC communities face millions, and collectively, 

billions, of dollars of expenditures to prepare 

for and recover from events made worse by 

climate change (wildfires, flooding, coastal 

erosion, drought, etc.). Canada is warming twice 

as fast as the global average, and in 2018 

Canadian governments paid an estimated $5.7 

billion to rebuild public infrastructure harmed 

by extreme weather,1 much of it attributable to 

climate change.  

Currently taxpayers pay all of these costs. At the 

local level, elected officials who want to 

maintain existing levels of services will need to 

find ways to pay for mounting climate costs. 

Provincial and federal funding is uncertain, and 

raising local taxes is challenging.  

Fossil fuel giants should pitch in to address 

climate costs  

Fossil fuel companies — Chevron, ExxonMobil 

and other global corporations — share 

responsibility for causing climate change, as do 

all of us who use their products. Unlike 
                                                           
1  Insurance Bureau of Canada. “Severe Weather Causes 

$1.9B in Insured Damage in 2018” (Jan. 16, 2019).  
       For every $1 paid out in insurance, IBC estimates that 

Canadian governments pay out $3 to recover public 
infrastructure. $1.9B in insured losses means approx 
$5.7 billion in taxpayer costs. 

taxpayers, however, the fossil fuel companies 

are escaping responsibility for climate costs. 

Climate litigation can hold fossil fuel companies 

legally accountable for a fair share of the bill.  

Demanding that fossil fuel companies take 

responsibility for harm caused by their products 

reduces the burden on taxpayers. It also helps 

fossil fuel companies, their investors and 

governments value the costs and benefits of oil, 

gas and coal more realistically by including 

some of the climate costs of fossil fuel products 

on the corporate balance sheet. Corporate 

behaviour and investment is already shifting as 

a result of climate litigation, with companies 

investing more in renewable energy and 

disclosing risks related to fossil fuels. 

Like climate change, climate litigation has a 

global impact 

Climate litigation targets global fossil fuel 

companies for their global operations, giving 

local governments the power to demand 

accountability beyond Canada’s borders. 

Canadian law on international disputes allows 

BC municipalities to sue global companies in 

Canadian courts because harm is experienced in 

BC.2  

                                                           
2  Gage, A. and Wewerinke, M. Taking Climate Justice 

into our own Hands. (Vancouver: West Coast 
Environmental Law, 2015). 
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SUING FOSSIL FUEL GIANTS: AN INTRODUCTION FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

2 …  

What might a class action lawsuit look like?  

The specifics would be up to the local governments and their lawyers. However, based on our research, 

and with input from senior litigation specialists, West Coast has the following general recommendations:  

A class action 

A class action would reduce the costs of multiple lawsuits by allowing plaintiffs to work 

together to settle key questions of fossil fuel company responsibility for climate change. 

BC’s class action rules protect parties from having to pay the other side’s legal fees if 

they lose. 

Brought by local 

governments for 

climate adaptation 

costs 

Legally, to protect their citizens, local governments must build infrastructure now to 

withstand future climate patterns, based on the best available science. A court is likely 

to accept the link between current costs and climate change, giving the municipalities 

the right to sue to recover the costs.  

In nuisance 
Nuisance is unreasonable interference with property, including municipal infrastructure 

(private nuisance) or with our common rights and interests in a healthy global 

atmosphere (public nuisance). 

Against fossil fuel 

companies 

Just five companies (Chevron, Exxon Mobil, Saudi Aramco, British Petroleum and Shell) 

are responsible for approximately 14% of historic greenhouse gas emissions.3 A lawsuit 

could claim a contribution from each company based on their respective percentage as 

well as the efforts of companies to mislead the public and delay action on climate 

change.  

Big Tobacco, Asbestos, and Big Pharma all learned that if you sell products that you know will cause 

massive harm, sooner or later you will be sued.4 The same goes for the fossil fuel industry.  

How can we manage the costs of litigation?  

Class actions provide for flexibility in funding. Options to manage costs include: 

 sharing the costs, based on each community’s ability to pay and desire to play an active role in the 

litigation; 

 crowdfunding from members of the public; 

 funding from private foundations or philanthropists; and 

 hiring lawyers and experts willing to work at a reduced rate, or on a contingency basis. 

The first stage of a class action lawsuit is to ask a judge to certify that the case should be allowed to 

proceed as a class action. Successful certification may raise the profile of the case and increase options 

for funding (including using any settlements to fund the litigation against remaining companies).  

Parties in class action lawsuits in BC are not generally required to pay defendants’ legal costs.

                                                           
3  R. Heede. Tracing anthropogenic carbon dioxide and methane emissions to fossil fuel and cement producers, 1854-2010, 

Climatic Change [Vol. 122: 1-2, January 2014], pp. 229-241. 
4  M. Olszynski et al. From Smokes to Smokestacks: Lessons from Tobacco for the Future of Climate Change Liability. 

Georgetown Environmental Law Review [Vol 30:1] 1. 
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… 3 

Why sue fossil fuel companies? 

There’s no way around it: solving climate 

change means dealing with our collective fossil 

fuel dependency. Plentiful and relatively cheap 

energy from fossil fuels has benefitted modern 

society, but we’re now realizing that there were 

enormous deferred costs to our communities.  

In a society relying on fossil fuels, we’re all 

responsible for climate change. That means that 

both consumers AND producers need to take 

responsibility. Fossil fuel companies, along with 

consumers, share responsibility for climate 

change. 

Right now taxpayers carry the entire burden of 
climate costs caused by fossil fuels, while fossil 
fuel producers continue to make a lot of money 
from selling them. Asking companies to bear 
some of those costs is not about blaming the 
industry or denying individual responsibility – 
it’s about acknowledging our shared 
responsibility.  

Chevron, Exxon Mobil and other fossil fuel 
companies knew in the 1960s that their 
products would cause climate change and 
devastating impacts to communities around the 
world. Still, they chose to: 

 undermine technology in solar, wind and 
low-emission vehicles (among others) that 
could have offered consumers less-
polluting choices; 

 fund and participate in misinformation 
campaigns designed to mislead the public 
(consumers) on climate science; 

 lobby against laws and international 
agreements intended to fight climate 
change.5 

 

                                                           
5  CIEL. Smoke and Fumes: The Legal and Evidentiary 

Basis for Holding Big Oil Accountable for the Climate 
Crisis (November 2017), last accessed 10 April 2019. 

How long will climate litigation take? 

On average class action lawsuits in Canada take 

three to four years, but complex litigation 

against fossil fuel companies could take 

significantly longer. However, once a class 

action is filed it would have immediate impacts.  

Facing climate lawsuits in the U.S. and possible 

litigation elsewhere, oil giants like Chevron6 and 

Saudi Aramco7 have already warned their 

investors to factor this type of litigation into 

their investment decisions. As well, oil giants 

have demonstrated an increased interest in 

climate action since being sued:  

 ExxonMobil endorsed a proposal for a U.S. 

carbon tax starting at $40/tonne that 

would also protect oil companies against 

U.S. litigation8 – a cynical move, but it 

shows how seriously the company takes 

the risks of litigation.  

 Shell increased investments in renewable 

energy to $2 billion/year shortly after being 

sued in the U.S., and has plans to increase 

that to $4 billion/year;9 

 Shell, and to a lesser extent Chevron and 

ExxonMobil, have recently withdrawn from 

industry associations that oppose climate 

action.10  

  

                                                           
6  ThinkProgress. “Chevron is first oil major to warn 

investors of risks from climate change lawsuits”  
(Mar. 2, 2017).  

7  Climate Home News. “Saudi Aramco says climate 
lawsuits ‘could result in substantial costs’”  
(Apr. 2, 2019). 

8  Vox. “Exxon is lobbying for a carbon tax. There is, 
obviously, a catch.” (Oct. 18, 2018). 

9  The Guardian. “Shell says it wants to double green 
energy investment” (Dec. 26, 2018).  

10  Reuters. “Citing climate differences, Shell walks away 
from U.S. refining lobby” (Apr. 2, 2019).  
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4 … 

Why litigate, instead of carbon pricing? 

A global price on carbon for the actual costs of 

burning fossil fuels would be ideal. Such a price 

would shift investment decisively to 

renewables, while providing revenue to 

communities harmed by climate change. A 

global price would not allow companies to 

move around to avoid it.  

But global pricing systems – for example, the 

International Oil Spill Compensation Funds – 

have often emerged as the result of national 

efforts to secure liability (through courts or 

legislation) against international polluters.11  

Without the possibility of litigation, fossil fuel 

producing countries have in the past opposed 

carbon pricing proposals, leaving it to individual 

countries to take action. In Canada, a carbon 

price (unlike a lawsuit under Canadian law) 

applies only to Canadian emissions, affecting 

only a small portion of global GHG emissions.  

In the absence of strong global action to 

regulate greenhouse gases, litigation is a way 

for communities to build momentum for 

corporate and government climate action.  

How do climate accountability letters and 

legislation relate to a class action lawsuit?  

Many BC communities are sending climate 

accountability letters to fossil fuel companies 

demanding compensation, and calling on the 

provincial government to enact a law to clarify 

the legal responsibility of these companies. 

Along with litigation, climate accountability 

letters and legislation are important tools in the 

toolbox for holding fossil fuel companies 

accountable for harm caused by their 

products.12  

                                                           
11  P.D. Lowry. The Shipowner and Oil Pollution Liability. 

McGill Law Journal (1972) Vol 18(4) 577. 
12  Gage, A. Climate Accountability Letters: An 

Introduction for Local Governments. (West Coast 
Environmental Law, 2017).  

Climate accountability letters are an accessible 

way for a community to call attention to the 

moral and legal responsibility of fossil fuel 

companies for local climate costs. They help 

shift corporate and public dialogue about who 

should pay for climate costs, and demonstrate 

to courts, legislators and corporations that 

there is public interest in seeing fossil fuel 

companies pay a fair share. They do not commit 

a local government to taking other legal action.  

Climate lawsuits can, and should, be brought 

under existing legal rules – but fossil fuel 

companies and their corporate lawyers are 

going to aggressively argue that those rules 

shouldn’t apply to them. A Liability for Climate-

related Harms Act could answer fundamental 

questions and shorten years of litigation and 

appeals. Similar to the Tobacco Damages 

Recovery Act from the 1990s, and the more 

recent Opioid Damages and Health Care 

Recovery Act, BC could enact legislation that 

would clarify liability around climate costs.13 

Conclusion 

A lawsuit by BC’s local governments against 
global fossil fuel companies for climate costs 
will ensure that governments, corporations and 
investors start to address the true costs of fossil 
fuels in their financial decisions. Knowing that 
they may need to pay for the harm caused by 
their products gives these companies a strong 
incentive to invest their considerable expertise 
and resources in building a sustainable future. 
At the same time climate litigation helps ensure 
our communities have the resources needed to 
protect themselves from climate change.  

For more information, contact Staff Lawyer 
Andrew Gage at agage@wcel.org.  

                                                           
13  Gage, A. and Wewerinke, M. Taking Climate Justice 

into our own Hands (West Coast Environmental Law, 
2015). 
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From: Lindsey Ataya  
Sent: Tuesday, December 3, 2019 9:26 AM 
To: Council 
Subject: Cheakamus Crossing pedestrian safety  

  

Hello, 

 

I am writing to voice a shared concern among Cheakamus Crossing residents surrounding vehicle speed 

and pedestrian safety. 

 

We are a traffic calmed neighbourhood with a 30 km/hr sign at the entrance (and each strata has its own 

posted speed limits as well I believe). Other than this initial signage when entering the neighbourhood, 

there is no indication of the speed limit throughout municipal roads. Although Bayley Park runs along the 

length of the entire neighbourhood, there is no playground zone signage. 

 

There is a problem with people driving too fast (definitely over 30 km/hr) throughout the whole 

neighbourhood, but it is of particular concern along the strip of Legacy Way between the daycare and 

hostel, where parents are loading/unloading their children, often having to park on the opposite side of 

the street because of limited parking. This area also includes several crosswalks with direct access to 

Bayley Park. Although these crosswalks are well-marked, some are partially obstructed by landscaping, 

and drivers are failing to stop for pedestrians. 

 

There are so many children living in our neighbourhood as well as children that have reason to visit 

cheakamus crossing due to the daycare, gymnastics center, park, playground, BMX track and soccer fields. 

Residents are concerned about the safety of these children.  

 

Although the speed limit is already posted at 30 km/hr, I do believe that more signage is necessary to 

remind drivers of the daycare and park nearby. Keeping in mind as well that with the hostel and Athlete’s 

Centre we get many drivers that are not familiar with the neighbourhood. If these drivers happen to miss 

that first sign coming into the neighbourhood, they have no way of knowing the speed limit as they drive 

through. They are also less likely to know that there is a park and daycare along Legacy Way.   

 

I’ve noticed that there is a school zone sign in the area around Whistler Children’s Centre in Whistler Cay, 

and don’t see any reason Mountain Minis shouldn’t fall under the same regulations. Raised crosswalks in 

high-pedestrian traffic areas would also be beneficial to force drivers to slow down as they approach.  

 

There is reason to be concerned that pedestrian safety will become an increasing concern as the 

population in Cheakamus Crossing rises with new development. I think the following requests are 

reasonable and necessary to ensure pedestrian safety in our growing neighbourhood: 

 

• 30 km/hr signage throughout the neighbourhood — Legacy Way, Cloudburst Drive, Mount Fee Road. 

• School zone signs on Legacy Way in the area surrounding Mountain Minis daycare 

• Playground zone signs on Legacy Way for the length of Bayley Park (this could also be extended to Jane 

Lakes Road) 

• Raised crosswalk on Legacy Way at the corner of Mountain Minis Daycare and the Common Park. This 

crosswalk in particular would also benefit from a button/flashing light similar to the one found at the main 

crosswalk in Function Junction. Obstructive landscaping should also be removed in the area of this 

crosswalk 

Page 538 of 542



• Raised crosswalk and/or flashing light at the crosswalk on Legacy Way at Madely Road 

 

I am available to walk through the neighbourhood with a member of council and point out areas of 

concern if that would be helpful. I am sure there are other residents who could provide input as well, 

based on their own observations. 

 

Thank you so much for your consideration, I look forward to our concerns being addressed. 

 

Lindsey Ataya 

 
Lindsey Ataya | Graphic Designer 

--------------------------------------------------- 

Lindsey Ataya Creative 

 |  

--------------------------------------------------- 
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December 10, 2019 
 
Mayor and Council  
Resort Municipality of Whistler 
Regarding: 5298 Alta Lake Road Rezoning Application RZ1157 
 
 
“RZ1157 proposes to rezone the lands from TA17 (Tourist Accommodation 
Seventeen) to a new zone that would allow for development of 15 employee 
restricted townhomes, 22 tourist accommodation townhomes, an amenity 
building, and a Municipal park containing the existing cabin and barn.” 
   
I am not against this proposal, although I question the density.   
  
I hope that staff negotiate diligently to keep the scale/density of this project as 
low as possible. This is a beautiful lakefront property that should not be 
overdeveloped. 
 
What I really question though, is the Tourist Accommodation zoning. As a 
municipality we worked, and continue to work diligently to keep nightly rentals 
out of residential neighbourhoods. There is no need for TA zoning in this area; far 
from the village and/or mountain lift access. 
  
Whistler was designed to have most of the TA zoned properties within walking 
distance to the village and the mountain base areas in order to keep 
neighbourhoods quiet, peaceful and family-friendly.   Illegal nightly rentals can be 
a disruption to homeowners with party noise, extra traffic, laundry, catering 
trucks taxis and buses invading their neighbourhoods. 
  
 
I know the Jorden Lane homes are all TA zoned but these homes, along with the 
Kadenwood homes, were TA zoned to fulfill a need. There was a demand for TA 
zoned homes so that groups of families/friends could come to Whistler and stay 
together. Giving Kadenwood and Jorden Lane TA zoning helped to take the illegal  
single family home nightly rentals out of our existing neighbourhoods.  
  
There is not a demand for TA zoned Townhouses. As a matter of fact, the 
opposite is true. Village and Benchland Townhouses and Condo Hotels are not 
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fully occupied. The low occupancy level for existing TA beds is an on-going 
concern for Tourism Whistler’s accommodation sector. 
Why do these developers not only get increased density, but TA zoning as well? 

I know this property has TA zoning as it stands now, but it is going through a 
rezoning process, so TA zoning doesn’t have to ‘run’ with the development. The 
current TA zoning is for a small Lodge and cabins – not anywhere near the density 
of 22 Market Townhouses and 15 Employee restricted Townhouses. 
  
TA zoning will increase traffic over and above residential zoning. The Alta Lake 
Road, Highway 99 intersection is already a problem. The Prism Lands market and 
employee housing development at 1501 Alta Lake Road will also add additional 
stress to that badly congested intersection. 
 
You have to ask yourself if you would like to live in a Townhouse development 
with potential disruption from a nightly rental townhouse right next door. It could 
be a nice place to live – but not with TA Zoning. 
 
Please consider removing the Tourist Accommodation Zoning from this 
development. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Stephanie Sloan 
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